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THE CONSUMER CHAMPION 
AT THE HEART OF THE HOME

“2016 has been a very successful year for ZPG as 
we remain focused on being the consumer champion at 

the heart of the home. We continued to lead innovation in the 
digital property and home services comparison markets and 

the Group is now more diversified and stronger than ever, 
delivering record Revenue and Adjusted EBITDA.”

Alex Chesterman OBE
Founder & CEO
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We help consumers to understand the market and make smarter home‑related 
decisions and help related businesses to operate more effectively. 

The Group benefits from its multi-brand, multi-channel approach and each of our 
brands has a distinct market position with an unrivalled proposition. Our websites 

and mobile apps attract over 50 million visits per month. 

A ONE-STOP SHOP FOR 
PROPERTY CONSUMERS
Chloe and Adam from east 
London, have been using 
Zoopla’s range of free tools and 
services for the past four years 
to keep abreast of a fast-moving 
London property market.

HELPING CONSUMERS 
SAVE MONEY
Victoria, a 28-year old building 
society worker from Norwich has 
already saved £199 on her annual 
energy bills by switching through 
uSwitch. Having just switched a 
second time, she’s now set to 
save another £215.

ADDING VALUE TO OUR 
COMPARISON PARTNERS
As a new energy provider in a 
competitive and volatile market, 
Bristol Energy uses the uSwitch 
Insight portal to keep up to date 
with real-time changes to prices 
and tariffs. 

READ MORE ON PAGE 03 READ MORE ON PAGE 12 READ MORE ON PAGE 20 READ MORE ON PAGE 35

ADDING VALUE TO OUR 
PROPERTY PARTNERS
Peter Keylock, Managing Director 
of the Jeffries Group, describes 
ZPG’s MoveIT as a ‘game-changer’ 
in his quest to put technology at 
the centre of his business. 
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1  Adjusted EBITDA is defined as operating profit after adding back depreciation 
and amortisation, share-based payments and exceptional items.

2  Adjusted basic EPS is defined as profit for the year after adding back amortisation 
of intangibles arising on acquisitions and exceptional items, as adjusted for tax, 
divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue for the period.

3  When reviewing performance the Directors use a number of adjusted measures, including 
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted basic EPS, as they believe these give a more relevant 
indicator of the Group’s underlying performance. See page 89 and 91 for more information.

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

•   Revenue increase of 84% to £197.7 million and 
Adjusted EBITDA increase of 58% to £77.1 million

• Acquisition of Property Software Group 
creates UK’s only end-to-end solution for 
property professionals

• Continued UK Agency partner growth up 5% 
(ex-Property Software Group) and listings 
inventory up 10% 

• Total number of unique Property partners 
including Property Software Group at 23,101 
at the end of the Period 

• Outperformance in Comparison Services 
division with record levels of switching activity 
across every vertical

• Strong traffic with over 600 million visits to the 
Group’s websites and mobile apps, of which 
68% via mobile

• Over 23 million leads generated during the 
period for Property partners including 350,000 
property appraisal leads 

• Comparison leads up 22% over same period 
last year to 30.3 million, helping consumers 
save over £320 million

• Invested in and partnered with a number 
of leading and innovative sector relevant 
tech start-ups 

• Developed market-leading new products for 
consumers and partners such as Running Costs 
and MoveIT

• Relocated into our new Group headquarters 
bringing all our London-based teams together 
under one roof

• Proposed final dividend of 3.7 pence per share, 
bringing total dividend for the Period to 
5.2 pence per share

Positioned to deliver  
on our long-term strategy

Adjusted EBITDA1, 3 £m

£77.1m
+58%

Adjusted basic EPS2, 3 p

12.7p
+51%

16 12.7

15 8.4

14 6.5

Revenue £m

£197.7m
+84%

Profit for the year £m

£36.7m
+44%

HIGHLIGHTS

16 197.7

15 107.6

14 80.2

16 77.1

15 48.7

14 39.6

16 36.7

15 25.4

14 21.1
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90%
OF PROPERTY 

SEARCHES START 
ONLINE

45m+
VISITS PER MONTH

A one-stop shop for 
Property consumers
Chloe, 31, and Adam, 33, from East London, are self-confessed “major fans” of the Zoopla 
website. When she and new husband Adam decided to take their second step on the 
property ladder, Chloe was already a seasoned user of Zoopla’s range of free tools 
and services from her first time around.

“I’ve been using Zoopla’s ‘ClaimMyHome’ tool 
since 2012 when we bought our current property 
– a two-bedroom maisonette in Wanstead. 
The tool has allowed me to keep up-to-date 
with its value, which comes in really handy in 
London where property prices change so fast. 
We’d also made a lot of home improvements 
which we were able to factor into the tool to 
help refine the value of our property too.”

When it came to looking for a new home, 
Chloe found Zoopla’s SmartMaps tool invaluable. 

“Property types and prices in the capital 
can literally change from street to street, 
so Zoopla’s SmartMaps tool has been really 
useful as I can draw and pin-point the exact 
areas I want to focus my search on.”

Zoopla’s Property Alert service, which 
Chloe has been using ‘just to be nosey’ for 
the  past five years, also made the search 
easier – as did the app which she browses on 
her smartphone during her daily commute. 
“Zoopla’s range of tools meant I was a lot 
more confident about the search for our 
next property,” she said.

THE CONSUMER – PROPERTY SERVICES
CHLOE & ADAM, SECOND STEPPERS

Property types and prices in 
the capital can literally change 
from street to street, so Zoopla’s 
SmartMaps tool has been really 
useful as I can draw and pin-point 
the exact areas I want to focus 
my search on.
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AT A GLANCE

In 2008, the Zoopla website transformed the property portal landscape with the 
introduction of a highly differentiated proposition, providing data and delivering 
transparency to empower consumers to make smarter property decisions. 

At the same time uSwitch has transformed the home services comparison landscape, 
helping consumers understand the market and save money off their household bills.

Significant progress towards our mission

0.4m 2m 5m 10m 16m 35m

2007 2009 20112008 2010 2012

Zoopla  
founded

Acquired Digital  
Property Group

#2 
Property portal 

(by unique visits)

Launched Automated 
Valuation Model 

(AVM)

Launched 
ZooplaPro

Best Property Portal 
(Western Europe)

VISITS PER 
MONTH

uSwitch is the UK’s leading 
comparison website for home 
services switching, helping 
consumers to find the best deal 
and save money on their gas, 
electricity, broadband, TV, phone 
and personal finance products.

Zoopla is the UK’s most 
comprehensive property website, 
helping consumers to research 
the market and find their next 
home by combining hundreds 
of thousands of property 
listings with market data 
and local information.

PrimeLocation is one of the UK’s 
leading property websites, helping 
house-hunters in the middle and 
upper tiers of the market explore 
and find their dream home from 
the top estate and letting agents.

Property Software Group is the 
UK’s largest supplier of software 
and workflow solutions to the 
property industry, with a portfolio 
of brands including Alto, Jupix, 
CFP, Vebra, Core, Encore, 
MyPropertyFile and MoveIT.
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35m 43m 44.7m 50.1m

201620142013 2015

Best Brand 
(Sunday Times 

Tech Track)

IPO on the London 
Stock Exchange

Acquired Property 
Software Group

Acquired 
uSwitch

Zoopla’s automated valuation model providing instant 
‘valuation estimates’ for every home in the country has 
become a national obsession in the UK. And our many 
other consumer-friendly tools from ‘Listings history’ 
to ‘Local info’ have continued to lead innovation and 
transparency in the market. This unique combination 
of market-leading research and search tools has made 
Zoopla an essential resource for consumers throughout 
their property journey. 

As part of our mission to help consumers throughout the 
entire property lifecycle ZPG acquired uSwitch, the UK’s 
number one home services comparison website, in 2015. 
This acquisition marked the start of a multi-year product 
journey to integrate a host of new services across the property 
platform, empowering consumers to make even better 
informed decisions when finding, moving or managing 
their home and further differentiating ZPG’s consumer 
proposition. Our ‘Running Costs’ tool on the Zoopla website 
is an example of this integration, designed to give consumers 
a view on the total occupancy costs for any property. 

As a standalone platform, uSwitch continues to lead the 
home services comparison market saving consumers 
hundreds of millions of pounds each year and helping 
them find the best services to meet their needs. With a 
strong market position in energy and communications 
switching, uSwitch has made significant progress over 
the past year in new areas including credit card and 
bank account switching.

Most recently ZPG has acquired Property Software Group, 
the UK’s leading supplier of software and workflow tools 
to the property industry. This acquisition is a significant 
step towards ZPG becoming the most effective partner 
for UK property professionals and enables ZPG to offer 
a one-stop shop solution to help them market their 
inventory, manage their business and maximise their 
revenue opportunities. 

Our vision offers a  
unique opportunity

1
INDUSTRY-LEADING 
TEAM with proven track record 
of innovation and execution

2
MARKET-LEADING 
BRANDS with strong 
awareness and engagement

3
STRUCTURAL MARKET 
GROWTH creating significant 
upside opportunities

4
SUCCESSFUL M&A 
STRATEGY supports strong 
organic growth

5
ENHANCED REVENUE 
DIVERSITY with  
multi-channel strategy

6
EXCITING CROSS-SELL 
POTENTIAL with product/ 
data synergies

7
STRONG MARGIN 
LEVERAGE with excellent 
cash generation

8
OUTSTANDING RETURNS 
balanced with investment 
in growth
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Our Property Services division continued to perform well, 
with UK Agency partner growth in every month of the 
year alongside increased inventory and solid traffic. 
The Comparison Services division has outperformed 
expectations with record switching volumes, resulting 
from our market-leading collective switch, energy supplier 
price cuts and a highly competitive environment for 
broadband deals. We launched a number of new 
features for both consumers and professionals across 
our platforms, including a new ‘Running Costs’ tool 
and our award-winning AdReach retargeting product. 
We also successfully acquired Property Software Group 
in April, funded by a £50 million extension to our existing 
revolving credit facility. The Group remains well funded 
and continues to be highly cash generative.

In short, the Group’s results for the year have been 
outstanding and, as outlined during the Group’s first 
Capital Markets Day in September, ZPG remains well 
placed for further long-term growth. 

Financial performance
Total revenue increased by 84% to £197.7 million 
(2015: £107.6 million), Adjusted EBITDA increased by 
58% to £77.1 million (2015: £48.7 million) and adjusted 
basic earnings per share (EPS), which excludes exceptional 
items and amortisation of acquired intangibles, was up 
51% to 12.7 pence per share (2015: 8.4 pence per share). 
These figures include five months of trading for Property 
Software Group. The Group has continued to generate 
high levels of cash and as at 30 September 2016 the Group’s 
net debt position was £146.3 million (2015: £93.2 million). 

I am pleased to announce the Group’s results for the year ended 
30 September 2016. We have had another exciting and productive year 
in which we have seen our revenue and profits continue to grow considerably. 

We continue to work 
towards our mission 
of providing the most 
useful resources for 
consumers when finding, 
moving or managing 
their home and being 
the most effective 
partner for related 
businesses. We look 
forward to continuing 
to deliver on that 
mission in the 
coming year.

HIGHLIGHTS
• The Group remains well funded and continues 

to be highly cash generative 

• In April we successfully acquired Property 
Software Group

• We launched a number of new features 
for both consumers and professionals

• Appointed Andy Botha as Chief Financial Officer

Another exciting 
and productive year
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Acquisition
In April, we announced the successful 
completion of the acquisition of Property 
Software Group. Established in 2007, Property 
Software Group is the UK’s market-leading 
provider of software and workflow solutions 
to property professionals and is used in over 
8,000 agency branches. 

This acquisition is core to the Group’s strategy 
to deliver the most effective services and best 
value to our Property partners, enabling the 
enlarged Group to offer the UK property 
industry’s first end-to-end solution, including 
software, digital marketing and market insight 
tools along with new revenue opportunities. 

Dividend
The Group’s policy is to pay between 35% 
and 45% of profit after tax before share-based 
payments and exceptional items as dividends 
to shareholders. The Directors have proposed 
a final dividend of 3.7 pence per share 
to be paid in respect of the year ended 
30 September 2016. Subject to shareholder 
approval at the 2017 Annual General Meeting 
(“AGM”), this will be paid on 9 February 2017 
to all shareholders on the share register 
on 16 December 2016. An interim dividend 
of 1.5 pence per share was paid in June 2016. 
Therefore, the total dividend for the year will 
be 5.2 pence per share.

The Board
In April 2016, the Board appointed 
Andy Botha as Chief Financial Officer to 
replace Stephen Morana. Andy brings with 
him a wealth of relevant experience and 
demonstrable success in leading technology 
businesses during periods of high growth. 
Having been a valuable member of the 
Board, David Dutton stepped down in 
June 2016 due to retirement. David was 
replaced by Kevin Beatty, who joined 
the Board as a Non-Executive Director in 
July 2016 and brings with him vast experience 
from over 20 years’ within Daily Mail and 
General Trust plc Group. Kevin was formerly 
a Director of ZPG Limited, the Group’s 
previous parent company prior to IPO. 
Kevin acts as an observer on the Nomination 
Committee and Stephen Daintith acts as an 
observer on the Remuneration Committee 
as replacements for David. On behalf of the 
Board, I would like to thank both Stephen 
Morana and David Dutton for their hard work 
and significant contributions to the Group.

The Board is strong and well balanced, with 
diversity of background, skill and experience 
to enable it to direct and lead the strategic 
direction of the Group, and to face the challenges 
of the year ahead. The Board now comprises 
10 Directors and biographies of all members 
appear on pages 42 and 43.

Share capital
The number of shares held by institutional 
shareholders has increased from 55.9% to 
64.3% over the past 12 months as the Group 
continues to focus its investor relations activities 
on building a register of respected institutions. 
DMGZ Limited still remains the largest single 
shareholder in the Company with a holding 
of 31.3%. Alex Chesterman, Founder & Chief 
Executive Officer holds 2.0%.

The Company announced the purchase of 
188,340 of its own shares earlier this year to 
satisfy the exercise of warrants in accordance 
with the authorisation granted to the Company 
by shareholders at last year’s AGM. These 
shares are held in Treasury and will be 
released when they are required to satisfy 
warrant exercises.

Annual General Meeting
The Company’s next AGM will be held on 
Thursday 2 February 2017. In the same way 
as all of our previous general meetings, the 
resolutions at the AGM will be conducted 
on a poll as we believe that this method is 
the  most inclusive, enabling the views of 
the widest number of shareholders to be 
taken into consideration. The AGM is a great 
opportunity to meet the Board and I would 
like to encourage our shareholders to attend. 
I will be at the AGM, along with the other 
members of the Board, and look forward 
to seeing some of you there.

Conclusion
We continue to work towards our mission 
of providing the most useful resource 
for consumers when finding, moving or 
managing their home and being the most 
effective partner for related businesses. We 
look forward to continuing to deliver on that 
mission in the coming year. On behalf of the 
Board, I would like to thank everyone in the 
Group for their contribution and commitment 
over this past year. 

Mike Evans
Chairman

16 50%

Total shareholder return %

50%

1 2014 dividends represent dividends 
declared after the Group listing on 
the London Stock Exchange.

Measured using the 30-day average closing 
share price for the 30 days preceding 
1 October 2015 and 30 September 2016.

16 5.2

15 3.5

14 1.11

Total dividend p

5.2p
+49%
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STATEMENT AND BUSINESS REVIEW

We have grown our huge and highly engaged consumer audience, with over 
600 million visits to our websites and apps in 2016, delivering incredible value 
to our partners by generating over 53 million leads for them during the year.

We are incredibly excited by 
the scale of the opportunity 
to help both consumers and 
partners throughout the 
property lifecycle.

HIGHLIGHTS
• Revenue increase of 84% to £197.7 million 

and Adjusted EBITDA increase of 58% to 
£77.1 million

• Acquisition of Property Software Group 
creates UK’s only end-to-end solution for 
property professionals

• Continued UK Agency partner growth up 
5% (ex-Property Software Group) and 
listings inventory up 10% 

• Total number of unique Property partners 
including Property Software Group at 
23,101 at the end of the Period 

• Outperformance in Comparison Services 
division with record levels of switching 
activity across every vertical

• Strong traffic with over 600 million visits 
to the Group’s websites and mobile apps, 
of which 68% via mobile

• Over 23 million leads generated during 
the period for Property partners including 
350,000 property appraisal leads 

• Comparison leads up 22% over same period 
last year to 30 million, helping consumers 
save over £320 million

• Invested in and partnered with a number 
of leading and innovative sector relevant 
tech start-ups 

• Developed market-leading new products 
for consumers and partners such as 
Running Costs and MoveIT

• Relocated into our new Group headquarters 
bringing all our London-based teams 
together under one roof

• Proposed final dividend of 3.7 pence 
per share, bringing total dividend for 
the Period to 5.2 pence per share

2016 has been a 
strong year for the Group
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2016 has been another very successful year 
for ZPG as we remain focused on being the 
consumer champion at the heart of the home. 
We continued to lead innovation in the digital 
property and comparison markets and the 
Group is now stronger and more diversified 
than ever, delivering revenue and Adjusted 
EBITDA of £197.7 million and £77.1 million 
respectively during the Period.

Executing on our strategy & vision
At the time of both the uSwitch and Property 
Software Group acquisitions we talked about 
being on a multi-year journey to create the 
best fully-integrated products in the market by 
refining and enhancing the experience for both 
our consumers and partners. Doing so allows 
us to maximise the opportunity we have to 
fulfil our mission of providing the most useful 
resources for consumers when finding, moving 
or managing their home and being the most 
effective partner for related businesses.

This year we continued to invest in marketing 
our brands and developing our products. We 
created a series of new national advertising 
campaigns for each of our consumer brands 
– Zoopla, uSwitch and PrimeLocation – 
resulting in record levels of brand awareness. 
We launched our innovative ‘Running Costs’ 
tool on the Zoopla website, giving consumers 
an idea of the total occupancy costs for any 
property including likely mortgage or rental 
payments, energy costs, water bills, insurance 
and council tax charges. We saw strong 
take-up of the Group’s award-winning 
AdReach product, which helps partners 
engage directly with their target audience and 
win more business.

We have grown our huge and highly engaged 
consumer audience, with over 600 million 
visits to our websites and apps during the 
Period, delivering incredible value to our 
partners by generating over 53 million leads 
for them during the year. And we have seen 
strong mobile growth, having relaunched both 
the Zoopla and uSwitch apps, with 68% of our 
traffic during the year coming via a mobile 
device as consumers engaged with our 
platforms at home, at work and on the move.

The Group also made investments and 
developed exclusive strategic partnerships 
with some of the UK’s most–promising 
and innovative technology start-ups – 
PropertyDetective, Landbay and Trussle – 
to further differentiate and enhance our 
consumer and partner propositions. As a 
result, we have now launched individual 
‘Property Reports’ for every home in the UK, 
a unique feature where prospective buyers 
can get a ‘Mortgage in Principle’ in under 
5 minutes and a new ‘Invest’ channel where 
anyone can now invest from as little as £100 
into the UK residential property market.

Acquisition of Property Software Group
In April, we acquired Property Software Group, 
the UK’s market-leading provider of software 
and workflow solutions to property professionals, 
used in over 8,000 offices. This acquisition is 
a core part of ZPG’s mission and enables the 
Group to now provide the UK property 
industry’s first end-to-end solution including 
software and CRM, digital marketing and 
market insight tools as well as further revenue 
opportunities for our Property partners. It is 
a key step for the Group and ensures that 
we remain the most-valued partner for 
UK property professionals to help them 
market their inventory, manage their 
business and maximise their revenues. 

Capital Markets Day
We held our first Capital Markets Day in 
September, which allowed us to provide 
deeper insight into our vision and strategy 
and the scale of the opportunity that exists 
throughout the property journey. As part 
of the day, we unveiled our updated key 
performance indicators (KPIs) to reflect 
the evolution of the business following our 
recent acquisitions and our bundled property 
proposition. Full KPIs under the updated 
methodology for the Group including pro 
forma comparators for the same period last 
year can be found at the end of this release. 

RUNNING COSTS 
The Group developed market leading new products for consumers
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STATEMENT AND BUSINESS REVIEW CONTINUED

Property Services
Revenues in our Property Services division 
were £86.7 million for the year, including 
£7.3 million of revenue from five months of 
trading from Property Software Group. Our 
audience remains highly engaged with over 
45 million visits per month to our property 
platform, up 2% year-on-year (YoY), delivering 
over 23 million leads to our Property partners 
over the Period.

On a like for like basis the total number 
of unique Property partners increased by 
6% over the past year to 23,101. We saw the 
number of UK Agency partners advertising 
on our portals grow during every month 
of financial year 2016, ending the Period up 
5% at 13,373 in addition to 2,610 New Homes 
developments, 1,074 Overseas agents, 
415 Commercial agents and 5,003 software 
only partners. The remaining 626 arise as a 
result of aligning the calculation method for 
hybrids with our peers. Our inventory grew 
10% to over 927,000 listings at the end 
of the Period.

On a like for like basis including Property 
Software Group, combined ARPP was £328, 
up 1% on the same Period last year. Excluding 
Property Software Group, ARPA increased 
across every vertical as the Group’s Property 
partners continued to advertise their brands 
and market their inventory on our platform. 
UK Agency ARPA grew by 2% to £365, reflecting 
the Group’s pragmatic approach to pricing 
during the Period. ARPA in New Homes grew 
by 13% to £377, as demand from New Homes 
Developers for the Group’s targeted email 
campaigns continued. Overseas and Commercial 
ARPA grew by 1% to £150 and 21% to £129 
respectively as we focused on growing the 
number of partners and inventory.

As outlined at the Capital Markets Day, the 
Group will report its total number of unique 
Property partners and Average Revenue Per 
Partner (ARPP) from financial year 2017 
onwards. For reference under the updated 
KPI structure, the Group had a total of 23,101 
unique Property partners and blended ARPP 
was £328 as at the end of the Period, 
reflecting the mix effect from five months of 
ownership of Property Software Group.

OUR ONGOING INVESTMENT IN BRAND 

Comparison Services
Our Comparison Services division outperformed 
expectations this year with consumer adoption 
of comparison websites continuing to grow as 
the benefits of switching become increasingly 
clear. We experienced record levels of switching 
across every vertical with revenues in the division 
at £111.0 million, up 38% compared to the same 
twelve-month period last year, whilst helping 
consumers switch and save over £320 million off 
their energy bills alone.

As outlined in our half year results, the 
Comparison Services division had an 
exceptionally strong first six months with record 
switching volumes in both the Energy and 
Communications verticals as a result of our 
market-leading collective switch, energy supplier 
price cuts and a highly-competitive environment 
for broadband deals. We have seen these 
tailwinds continue in the second half driving 
further outperformance as outlined below.

The performance in the Energy vertical was 
exceptionally strong during the Period, driven by 
competitive supplier pricing, our market-leading 
collective and exclusive deals and continued 
regulatory support for comparison websites. In 
June 2016, the CMA concluded its energy market 
investigation setting out a wide range of reforms 
to modernise the market which specifically 
enable comparison websites to play a more 
active role in helping consumers to find the best 
deals and to save money off their household bills. 

The Communications vertical also performed 
strongly, driven by highly competitive deals 
and consumer demand to switch to the best 
broadband and TV packages. We continued 
to develop our Financial Services offering with 
good progress in areas such as credit cards 
and banking as a result of the Group’s targeted 
approach to launching into new verticals. 

The number of Comparison Services leads 
generated during the year increased to over 
30 million, up 22% compared to the same 
twelve-month period last year. The increase in 
ARPL to £3.67, compared to £3.23 for the same 
twelve-month period last year, was driven by the 
significant outperformance in the Energy vertical. 
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Looking Ahead
Since the end of the Period, the Group has 
announced further progress in differentiating 
its proposition for both consumers and 
partners with the acquisition of Technicweb, 
one of the UK’s leading cloud-based estate 
agency website design and hosting businesses 
as well as an investment in and an exclusive 
strategic partnership with Neos, a leading 
smart home-insurance provider.

We are incredibly excited by the scale of the 
opportunity to help both consumers and 
partners throughout the property lifecycle 
and will continue to invest, integrate and 
innovate in product development and 
audience engagement to make the most of 
this opportunity across the different divisions 
of our business.

Finally, we will continue to work hard to 
attract and retain the passion and talent we 
have within the business as we grow. We have 
grown to over 735 team members and have 
now moved all our London-based staff into 
one Group headquarters, providing them with 
a world-class working environment. I would 
like to welcome Andy Botha and Mark Goddard 
and the whole Property Software Group 
team to ZPG. I would also like to thank the 
Executive Management team and their 
respective team members for their ongoing 
hard work, dedication and commitment to 
our mission

Alex Chesterman OBE
Founder & CEO

What was the rationale behind the acquisition 
of Property Software Group?

ZPG provides best-in-class property marketing solutions and 
Property Software Group provides best-in-class property 
software and workflow solutions, making this the perfect 
combination for UK property professionals. The combined 
Group will now offer a one-stop-shop for agents for their 
software and CRM solutions, digital marketing and market 
insight tools and create further revenue opportunities for them. 

What is MoveIT and how does it work?

MoveIT helps agents to maximise their revenue streams 
using local trusted relationships. Agents have attempted 
to do this manually but this tool is built into the workflow to 
provide prompts and ensure that agents are maximising 
their referral revenue in a structured and easy way.

What impact has Brexit had on the Comparison division?

Very little so far, but concerns about the economy are not 
negative for comparison websites and uncertainty can drive 
switching volumes. We’re more dependent on supplier 
competition, which increases in tougher times.

What is driving the strong performance 
in the Comparison division?

Consumer adoption of comparison websites is growing as they 
are becoming increasingly aware of the benefits of switching. 
There are also far more consumers now on fixed-term deals, 
which drives switching at the end of the term. Finally, continued 
competition between suppliers keeps the switching market healthy.

Q

A

Q

A

Q

A

Q

A

A CONSTANT JOURNEY OF GROWTH 
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Helping consumers 
save money
Victoria, a 28-year old building society customer 
consultant with a two-bedroom flat in Norwich, is an 
energy-switching convert. She made her first switch 
from Eon to Scottish Power this time last year saving 
£199 on the cost of her annual energy bill. 

Surprised at how simple the process was, Victoria has 
recently switched back to Eon’s latest fixed rate tariff, 
which is set to land her a further £215 in savings for the 
year ahead.

“I’ll admit I wasn’t looking forward to sorting out a new 
energy provider,” she says. “I thought it would involve 
entire evenings scouting out the best deals and making 
phone calls to my existing provider and the new one. 
The reality, however, is that it couldn’t have been easier.

“I compared deals on uSwitch, chose the best and filled in 
a few simple details online. A few days later I received a 
letter from the new provider setting out when the switch 
would happen. For very minimal effort and absolutely 
no disruption, I’m already £400 better off and looking 
forward to saving again.”

Victoria’s switching discovery spurred her on to seek out 
better deals on her broadband and mobile too. Not only 
did she shave £7 and £4 a month respectively off the 
cost of these bills through uSwitch, she landed better 
packages and even incentives for joining.

£320m+
AMOUNT CONSUMERS 

SAVED OFF THEIR ENERGY 
BILLS VIA USWITCH

THE CONSUMER – COMPARISON SERVICES
VICTORIA, SERIAL SWITCHER

For very minimal 
effort and absolutely 
no disruption, I’m 
already £400 better 
off and looking 
forward to saving 
again.
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BUSINESS MODEL

Enabling us to 
create enhanced value
Our mission remains to provide the most useful resources for consumers 
when finding, moving or managing their home and to be the most 
effective partner for related businesses.

INFORMATION
Consumers use the Group’s 
products and tools, such 
as Running Costs and the 
Broadband Speed Checker.

INVENTORY
Partners market, manage and 
maximise the exposure of their 
inventory, such as property listings 
and energy tariffs, across the 
Group’s websites and platforms. 

TRAFFIC
Consumers engage with 
the Group’s products at work, 
at home and on the move 
with 68% of visits via 
mobile devices.

LEADS
Partners receive enquiries 
and switching requests from 
interested consumers wanting to 
use their products and services. 

We create value by investing in marketing our brands and growing our audience and by 
developing the best products and platforms for our consumers and partners to engage with. 

Consumers increasingly use and rely on our platforms in search of real-time information about 
the property and comparison markets. 

Similarly, property professionals and home services suppliers increasingly rely on our platforms 
to reach a transaction-ready audience and market their products and services. We enjoy 
powerful network effects where the scale and engagement of our consumer audience 
reinforces the value of our brands and platforms to our partners. 

Growth driven by investment in 
people, product and technology

Value created through revenue growth 
and increased marketing efficiency

INVENTORYINFORMATION

LEADSTRAFFIC
CONSUMERS PARTNERS
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Delivering on our 
key strategic objectives
In order to deliver on its mission the Group is focused 
on four key strategic objectives.
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STRATEGIC PROGRESS:

CONTINUOUS INNOVATION OF 
THE CONSUMER EXPERIENCE
As the consumer champion at the 
heart of the home, we constantly 
improve our user journeys to empower 
consumers to make the smartest 
decisions when finding, moving and 
managing their home.

Our strategic progress in 2016
• Launched new innovative 

Running Costs tool 

• Strategic partnerships and 
investments announced with the 
UK’s most promising PropTech 
start-ups

• Expanded financial services 
comparison offering 

• Enhanced local area information

Our performance in 2016
• Record traffic of over 50 million 

visits per month 

• Saved consumers over £320 million 
off their energy bills alone

MOST EFFECTIVE SERVICE 
AND BEST PARTNER VALUE
We offer a one-stop shop for 
professionals. Our products and 
services help home related professionals 
market their inventory, manage 
their business and maximise their 
revenue opportunities. 

Our strategic progress in 2016
• Acquisition of Property 

Software Group 

• ZooplaPro integrated into Property 
Software Group’s software platform

• New revenue opportunities for 
partners via MoveIT, including 
integration of uSwitch energy 

• Further development of uSwitch’s 
energy insights tool

Our performance in 2016
• Record appraisal leads 

and comparison leads

• Extensive market coverage 
of property professionals 
and home services providers 

MAXIMISE PRODUCT/DATA 
OPPORTUNITIES AND 
GROUP SYNERGIES
Our multi-brand, multi-channel approach 
presents a unique opportunity to  
create integrated products and address 
consumer and partner needs throughout 
the entire property lifecycle.

Our strategic progress in 2016
• Consolidation of technology 

infrastructure 

• Alignment of HR, finance and 
legal functions across the Group

• Knowledge sharing across 
both divisions

• Moved into a new office bringing 
both divisions together under one 
roof for the first time

Our performance in 2016
• Significant revenue & Adjusted 

EBITDA growth of 84% and 
58% respectively 

• Adjusted basic EPS growth of 51%

ATTRACTING WORLD-CLASS 
TALENT TO THE ZPG TEAM
We attract, retain and develop the best 
talent by leading innovation across the 
industry, offering market-leading benefits 
combined with ongoing learning and 
professional development. 

Our strategic progress in 2016
• Aligned rewards and benefits 

across the Group

• Technology employee 
brand development

• Launched a flexible toolkit of 
resources to meet the needs 
of agile working 

• Learning and Development 
programme formalised across 
the Group

Our performance in 2016
• Employee Net Promoter Score (NPS) 

chosen as key performance metric

• Increased take-up of Learning 
& Development
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OUR MARKETS

Adapting to the market
Property portals and comparison websites have 
transformed the way consumers and professionals interact. 

Consumers benefit from being able to access near 
whole of market data with real‑time alerts to remain 
up to date and make better informed decisions. 

Championing consumers throughout the entire 
property lifecycle

Every participant in the market is always in one of the three 
stages of the property lifecycle – either finding, moving or 
managing their home. Our vision to be the consumer champion 
at the heart of the home creates a unique opportunity to assist 
each and every one of the 28 million households in the UK 
throughout their property journey, by providing them with the 
most relevant data, insight and services available from our home 
related partners. 

PARTNERS

Professionals benefit from being able to efficiently 
reach an engaged and transaction‑ready audience 
to run their businesses more effectively and generate 
more revenues. 

Enabling home related professionals to deliver the 
best service

In order to deliver the best experience for the consumer, 
home related professionals also need help when marketing their 
products and services, managing their business and maximising 
their revenue opportunities.

Significant cross-sell opportunities 

Revenue 
opportunity

£3bn+

FIND £600m+

MOVE £1bn+

MANAGE £1.4bn+

CONSUMERS
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Consumer 
need

Over 90% of all property searches 
start online with consumers becoming 
increasingly mobile savvy and 
data hungry.

Over 3 million property transactions take 
place in the UK each year and the moving 
event is often cited as one of the most 
stressful events in life with complicated 
housing chains.

The majority of the households in 
the UK are managing and maintaining 
their homes with multiple supplier 
relationships per household.

ZPG solution  u Running costs & home 
services comparison

 u Move planner & Move centre  u ManageMyHome & 
Home savings clubs

FIND MOVE MANAGE

Partner 
challenge

Professionals’ margins are under pressure 
from new market entrants such as hybrid 
agents and start-up home services suppliers 
which are offering increasingly flexible 
pricing models and attractive deals.

It is crucial that professionals’ brands are 
front and centre when consumers are 
looking to evaluate their home services 
and enter the next stage of the property 
lifecycle using a property portal or 
comparison website.

Research shows that consumers are 
eight times more likely to switch their 
energy and broadband provider during 
the move stage than any other stage.

ZPG solution  u Property Software Group brands  u Zoopla, PrimeLocation, AdReach  u uSwitch, MoveIT

MANAGE MARKET MAXIMISE
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OUR MARKETS CONTINUED

The majority of ZPG’s Property Services revenues are generated from its Property partners: 
agents and new homes developers. The Property Services market drivers can be classified 
as follows:

• Property advertising spend: £450m+ 
There is significant headroom in the online 
property portal market, as property 
professionals currently direct just 55% 
of their marketing spend online despite 
over 90% of property searches starting 
online. In addition, the overall amount 
spent on marketing is expected to grow  
as the volume of UK residential transactions 
continues to recover towards pre-crisis 
levels – volumes are currently running 
around 30% below the long-term 
historic average.

• Property software spend: £100m+ 
The property software market is 
structurally growing as a result of the 
industry migration from desktop to 
cloud-based software (SaaS) products.

• Additional product spend: £100m+ 
In addition to core marketing and software 
products and services, we are able to offer 
additional products such as custom-built 
websites and paid search tools to 
our partners.

The majority of ZPG’s Comparison Services revenues are generated from its Comparison 
partners: energy suppliers, communications providers and financial services companies. 
Consumer engagement and the penetration of comparison website switching varies across 
each of the three main verticals:

• Energy: £100m+  
Despite a potential average saving of 
over £300 per annum per household, over 
half of UK households have still not taken 
advantage of the opportunity to switch 
and save. The Energy vertical benefits from 
a supportive regulatory environment and the 
adoption of fixed-term contracts is creating 
a formal prompt for repeat switching.

• Communications: £100m+ 
Communications includes broadband, 
TV, home phone and mobile and 
encourages increased switching. 

 Switching volumes are boosted by the 
rollout of new technologies such as 
super-fast broadband and the latest 
mobile handsets.

• Financial Services: £650m+  
Financial Services can be divided into 
two broad areas: banking (credit cards, 
loans, mortgages, current accounts 
and credit reports) and insurance (motor, 
home, life and health insurance). Switching 
rates vary by product but the category 
includes car insurance, the most mature 
switching vertical in the UK.

Operating in markets with significant 
structural growth drivers
The property lifecycle is constantly evolving and the adoption of new technology is transforming 
the way consumers and professionals interact, driving structural growth across both the property 
and comparison end markets. 

c.9%

£850m+

c.14%

£650m+

PROPERTY 
SERVICES

COMPARISON 
SERVICES
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Revenue £m

£86.7m
+9%

50%+
PARTNER PRODUCT 
CROSS-SELL OPPORTUNITY

30%+
UPSIDE IN PROPERTY 
TRANSACTION VOLUMES

60%+
BLENDED ARPP 
GROWTH POTENTIAL

Revenue1 £m

£111.0m
+38%

25pp+
UPSIDE TO ANNUAL 
ENERGY SWITCHING RATE

26pp+
UPSIDE TO ANNUAL 
COMMUNICATIONS 
SWITCHING RATE

50%+
UPSIDE IN  
PCW ADOPTION

Total market 
opportunity
By helping consumers through the online property 
lifecycle by finding, moving and managing their home, 
the Group has a total market opportunity of £3bn+.

But we’re playing for 
a much bigger prize

In addition to its two principal revenue-generating divisions, 
ZPG has a nascent position in Professional Services and Data 
Services which it seeks to build out as part of its vision to 
enhance consumer experience and increase partner value. 

1  Figures for 2014 and 2015 are provided on a proforma basis in order to give a 
meaningful comparative.

<1%

£1.5bn

PROFESSIONAL 
AND DATA SERVICES

c.5%

£3bn+

16 86.7

15 79.9

14 80.2

16 111.0

15 80.2

14 68.3
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Adding value to our 
Property partners
Sales and lettings agency, The Jeffries Group – which operates nine 
branches across Portsmouth and Hampshire – has been putting 
technology at the centre of its business for the last 20 years. 
Managing Director, Peter Keylock describes ZPG-owned Property 
Software Group and MoveIT as ‘game-changers’ in the process.

“As an agent, Jupix – the property management software – has 
enabled us to offer our customers a unique service and literally 
change the way we do business. So, when we learned about ZPG 
acquiring Jupix’s parent company, Property Software Group we totally 
understood the rationale.

“The introduction of the MoveIT interface on Property Software Group 
also means we can offer our home movers a whole package – a 
comparison-based quoting facility for everything from solicitors to 
energy switching. This has made for some really happy customers, 
which has been evident in the glowing testimonials they leave us.

There are financial rewards too, says Peter. “MoveIT generates a decent 
income for us. This month, we’ve banked £9,000 in conveyancing 
referrals at a reasonable referral fee level. At the same time, Jupix 
allows us to make big savings and means we can provide genuine 
help and support to our customers – it’s a win-win.”

PARTNER – PROPERTY SERVICES
PETER KEYLOCK, MANAGING DIRECTOR, JEFFRIES GROUP

£9,000+
ONE MONTH’S REVENUE 

FROM MOVEIT

23m 
LEADS GENERATED FOR 
PROPERTY PARTNERS 

DURING THE YEAR

The introduction of 
the MoveIT interface on 
Property Software Group 
also means we can offer 
our home movers a whole 
package – a comparison-
based quoting facility for 
everything from solicitors 
to energy switching.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

GROUP KPIs

Performance
Revenue increased by 84% driven 
by strong performance across both 
divisions and the inclusion of 12 months 
of trading in the Comparison Services 
division and five months of trading 
from the Property Software Group.

Link to strategy

Performance
Adjusted basic EPS, which strips out 
the impact of exceptional items and 
amortisation of intangible assets 
arising on acquisitions, increased 
by 51% to 12.7 pence. Statutory basic 
EPS also grew by 44% to 8.9 pence. 

Link to strategy

Performance
Adjusted EBITDA increased by 58% 
whilst Group margins reduced to 39% 
due to the mix effect from incorporating 
a full year’s trading from the Comparison 
Services division and five months of 
trading from Property Software Group.

Link to strategy

Performance
Strong traffic with over 600 million 
visits to the Group’s websites and 
mobile apps, of which over 68% 
were via mobile devices. 
 

Link to strategy

Performance
The Group turned revenue growth 
into profit growth with a 44% increase 
in statutory profit to £36.7 million.  
 
 

Link to strategy

Performance
Number of full-time equivalent 
employees increased to 735 as a 
result of the Group’s investment 
in talent and acquisitions. 
 

Link to strategy

Revenue1 £m

£197.7m
+84%

16 197.7

15 107.6

14 80.2

Adjusted basic EPS3 p

12.7p
+51%

16 12.7

15 8.4

14 6.5

Group visits4 m

606m
+9%

16 606

15 554

14 514

Adjusted EBITDA2 £m

£77.1m
+58%

16 77.1

15 48.7

14 39.6

Profit for the year £m

£36.7m
+44%

16 36.7

15 25.4

14 21.1

FTEs5

735
+59%

16 735

15 438

14 234

Link to strategy

ZPG team

Consumer experience

Partner value

Group synergies
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS CONTINUED

PROPERTY SERVICES KPIs

COMPARISON SERVICES KPIs

Adjusted EBITDA7 £m

£38.5m
-6%

16 111.0

15 27.7

16 38.6

15 7.8

Adjusted EBITDA11 £m

£38.6m
+395%

Performance
The Comparison Services division generated 
£38.6 million of Adjusted EBITDA, at an increased 
margin of 35%, as a result of the outperformance 
in the higher margin Energy vertical.

Link to strategy

Revenue10 £m

£111.0m
+301%

Performance
The Comparison Services division outperformed 
expectations this year with consumer adoption of 
comparison websites continuing to grow as the 
benefits of switching become increasingly clear. 

Link to strategy

Performance
Property Services Adjusted EBITDA decreased slightly 
to £38.5 million, reflecting the Group’s additional 
strategic investment in product and marketing in 
H2 2016.

Link to strategy

16 38.5

15 40.9

14 39.6

Revenue6 £m

£86.7m
+9%

16 86.7

15 79.9

14 80.2

Performance
Revenues in our Property Services division were 
£86.7 million for the year and our audience remains 
highly engaged with over 45 million visits per month 
to our property platform.

Link to strategy

Link to strategy

ZPG team

Consumer experience

Partner value

Group synergies
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Average revenue per advertiser9 £

£350
+2%

16 3.67

15 3.23

14 3.72

Number of Property partners8 

17,472
+6%

Average revenue per lead13 £

£3.67
+14%

Performance
The increase in ARPL to £3.67, compared to 
£3.23 for the same period in the prior year, was 
driven by the significant outperformance in the 
Energy vertical. 

Link to strategy

16 17,472

15 16,441

14 19,663

Performance
The total number of Property partners advertising 
with the Group increased by 6% over the past year to 
17,472 at the end of the year, with UK Agency partners 
up 5% Year on year to 13,373.

Link to strategy

16 30.3

15 24.8

14 18.3

Number of leads12 m

30.3m
+22%

Performance
The number of Comparison Services leads generated 
during the year increased by 22% to 30.3 million, 
compared to the same period in the prior year. 

Link to strategy

Performance
ARPA increased across every vertical as the Group’s 
Property partners continued to advertise their brands 
and market their inventory on our platform. 

Link to strategy

16 350

15 342

14 312

Measure
1 Revenue comprises revenue generated from the Property 

Services division and the Comparison Services division. 

2 Adjusted EBITDA is defined as operating profit after 
adding back depreciation and amortisation, share-based 
payments and exceptional items. 

3 Adjusted basic EPS is calculated as Profit for the year 
excluding exceptional items and the amortisation of 
intangible assets arising on acquisitions, adjusted for tax 
and divided by the weighted average number of shares 
in issue for the year. 

4 Visits comprise individual sessions on the Group’s websites 
or mobile applications by users for the year as measured 
by Google Analytics.

5 FTEs is defined as the average number of full time 
equivalent employees across the Group. 

6 Property Services revenue represents revenue generated 
from the Property Services division, which includes UK 
Agency revenue, New Homes revenue and Other revenue 
(Overseas, Commercial, advertising and data services) 
and five months trading from Property Software Group.

7 Property Services Adjusted EBITDA represents Adjusted 
EBITDA, as defined above, for the Group’s Property 
Services division.

8 Property partners represent the total number of UK estate 
and lettings agency branches, new home developers, 
overseas and commercial agency branches paying 
subscription fees to advertise their listings on the 
Group’s property portals at the end of the year.

9 ARPA (Average Revenue Per Advertiser) represents 
revenue from property portal advertising services from 
the Group’s Property partners in a given month divided 
by the total number of Property partners during the 
month, measured as a monthly average over the year. 

10 Comparison Services revenue represents revenue generated 
from the Group’s Comparison Services division, which 
includes Energy revenue, Communications revenue and 
Other revenue (financial services switching, boiler cover, 
business energy and data insight). 

11 Comparison Services Adjusted EBITDA represents 
Adjusted EBITDA, as defined above, for the Group’s 
Comparison Services division.

12 The Group measures Comparison Services leads at the 
point when a consumer completes an application form 
hosted on the Group’s website or at the point in time 
when the customer leaves the Group’s website having 
clicked through to a third party website.

13 ARPL (Average Revenue Per Lead) is the revenue from 
energy switching, communications switching, financial 
services switching, boiler cover, business energy and 
data insight divided by the total number of Comparison 
Services leads during the month, measured as a monthly 
average over the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND KEY RISKS

Our approach to risk management
The Board recognises the need and importance 
of identifying and actively managing existing 
and potential risks to allow the business to 
deliver successfully against its strategic goals. 
As such, the Board is accountable for ensuring 
a robust assessment of all the risks, both 
financial and non-financial, facing the Group 
as well as continually reviewing the overall 
process for identifying and assessing business 
risks and managing their impact on the Group. 

The Group operates a sound risk management 
approach to manage and mitigate risks and 
the Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, 
also keeps under constant review the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control 
and risk management systems and processes. 

To comply with the UK Corporate Governance 
Code, the Audit Committee considers and 
updates its risk management procedures at 
each Audit Committee meeting throughout 
the year. It receives and analyses regular 
assurance reports from Management on 

matters related to risk and control and 
reviews the timeliness and effectiveness 
of corrective action taken by Management.

The Group operates three functionally based 
risk committees which are responsible for 
formally identifying and assessing their 
risks. The Executive Management Team meets 
formally at least once a year for a Group-wide 
risk workshop, taking a combined view of the 
risks identified at a functional level, measuring 
identified risks against a clearly defined set of 
criteria, and considering the potential impact 
to the Group and their likelihood of occurring. 

The top risks, based on likelihood and impact, 
form the basis of our overall Group risk profile. 
These risks are shared with the Audit Committee 
and the Board for review and challenge, before 
being approved and then subject to Board 
review over the course of the year to drive 
ongoing improvement across the Group.

The risk structure is reinforced by the Group’s 
continuous process to design and embed 
sufficient internal controls across all areas of 
the business as we grow and evolve. This is 
supported through the work of internal audit 
reports, the Group’s dedicated compliance 
team and the engagement of third parties 
as appropriate to assess specific risk areas 
(see also page 50). The Group also considers 
the findings and recommendations of its 
external auditor throughout the year to 
design and implement effective financial 
and non-financial controls.

During the year the Directors also assess the 
long-term viability of the Group in the context 
of its principal risks and their potential impact 
on the business. The inclusion of a viability 
statement in the Annual Report is a requirement 
of the UK Corporate Governance Code, and is 
designed to encourage the Board to focus on 
the long term. The statement can be found 
on page 29.

The Group operates three functionally based risk committees which 
are responsible for formally identifying and assessing their risks. 

The Group operates a sound 
risk management approach

Risk management framework

THE BOARD/AUDIT COMMITTEE

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM

PRODUCT AND 
TECHNOLOGY RISK 

COMMITTEE

COMMERCIAL AND 
MARKETING RISK 

COMMITTEE

FINANCE, HR AND LEGAL 
RISK COMMITTEE

INTERNAL 
CONTROLS, 

COMPLIANCE 
AND INTERNAL 
AUDIT ACTIVITIES

EXTERNAL 
AUDIT
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1. Setting the strategy
The strategy for the Group is set out on pages 14 to 15. The strategy is 
reviewed regularly and is communicated to the Executive Management 
Team and other key team members at frequent intervals, helping to drive 
the Group’s budgeting, forecasting, KPIs and strategic decision-making 
including the assessment of risk.

2. Identifying and assessing 
During the year Management held workshops with each of the functional 
risk committees and key members of staff to consider the ongoing 
risks to the business and the Group’s strategy. Each participant 
presented their risks classified under the following headings:

• Strategic

• Reputational

• Financial

• Governance and regulatory

• People

• Operational

Each of the risks identified are recorded on the relevant committee’s 
risk register and are then assessed by the committee to establish root 
cause, likelihood of occurring and the potential impact on the Group.

Risk management process
The Group has a robust risk management methodology and process 
which is set out below:

Setting 
the strategy

Identifying  
and assessing

EvaluatingDesign and 
implementation 
of mitigations

Monitoring and  
reassessing

3. Evaluating
All of the risks identified by the functional risk committees are then 
considered by the Executive Management Team and other key team 
members at a Group risk workshop, which occurs at least annually. 
The Group’s most recent risk workshop was held in September 2016. 
Each of the risks are discussed in turn and then the likelihood of the 
risk occurring and the magnitude of any potential impact are rated on 
a scale of 1–5. Once each risk has been evaluated, the most significant 
risks are incorporated into the Group’s risk register, which is reported 
to the Audit Committee. The principal risks arising from the 
September 2016 workshop are provided on pages 26 to 28.

4.  Design and implementation of mitigations
Each risk on the Group’s risk register is assigned to a member of the 
Group’s Executive Management Team, who is thereafter responsible 
for developing and maintaining internal controls to reduce the Group’s 
risk exposure. This process is supported by the Group’s finance, compliance 
and legal teams, the recommendations of the external auditor and the 
Group’s own internal audit reviews.

5. Monitoring and reassessing 
Management holds meetings regularly throughout the year with each 
of the risk owners and the functional risk committees to provide an 
update on the status of the risks identified, any additional risks and 
the implementation and effectiveness of associated controls. This update 
is provided to the Audit Committee at each Audit Committee meeting.

Our principal risks
The results of the Group’s annual risk workshop are included on the 
following pages, showing the risks which are considered to have the 
most significant potential impact on the Group together with the 
respective mitigating activities in place to address them. The risk 
appetite of the Group is considered in light of these principal risks 
and their impact on the Group’s ability to meet its strategic objectives. 
The Board considers the risk appetite of the Group in the context of 
the regulatory environment, its culture, the sectors in which it 
operates and its four strategic pillars, which are set out below:

• continuous innovation of the consumer experience;

• most effective service and best partner value;

• maximising product/data opportunities and Group synergies; and

• attracting world-class talent to the ZPG team.

The risk factors described are not an exhaustive list or an explanation 
of all risks. Additional risks and uncertainties relating to the Group, 
including those that are not currently known to the Group or that the 
Group currently deems immaterial, may individually or cumulatively 
also have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results 
of operations and/or financial condition.

1

2

34

5
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Risk management and key Risks CONTINUED

KEY RISK AND DESCRIPTION IMPACT MANAGEMENT AND MITIGATION

CHANGING ONLINE 
LANDSCAPE AND 
CONSUMER TRENDS
The Group participates in 
fast-moving marketplaces which 
are subject to rapid technological 
developments and changes in 
consumer trends which may 
impact the Group’s ability to offer 
the best products and services 
to its partners and consumers. 

 Risk increased

The way in which consumers interact 
with businesses is evolving rapidly. 

There is a risk that consumer engagement and 
traffic may decline if the Group does not keep 
up with evolving consumer trends.

Furthermore, the Group’s partners are constantly 
developing their business models and the way in 
which they interact with consumers directly. 
Failure of the Group to adapt to meet the needs 
of its partners could lead to a fall in the number 
of partners and revenues.

The Group is also subject to changes in policies set 
by search engine providers. Failure to keep pace 
with these changes may lead to the Group’s 
websites receiving less exposure to consumers 
and result in a fall in visitor numbers.

 u Increasing user engagement levels by continuing a 
consumer-centric approach to product development.

 u Regular open dialogue with our partners to ensure 
that we continually develop our products to meet 
their needs. 

 u Continual optimisation of all our websites and 
products across all platforms and devices.

 u Maintaining organisational flexibility, allowing 
fast responses to new business opportunities 
or threats.

 u Monitoring and regularly reviewing search engine 
optimisation and digital marketing spend.

COMPETITIVE 
ENVIRONMENT
The Group operates in 
marketplaces which are highly 
competitive. The actions of the 
Group’s competitors can have 
a direct impact on the Group.

 No change

If competitors can provide, or are perceived 
to provide, an enhanced partner or consumer 
service then there is a risk to the Group’s 
forecasted traffic, partner numbers, revenue  
and other KPIs. 

The Group invests significantly in marketing 
to build brand awareness and drive traffic  
to its websites. Increased digital marketing 
expenditure by competitors, or general price 
increases, may cause the Group to incur 
additional marketing spend to ensure that 
it can continue to compete effectively.

There is the risk of competitors entering or 
targeting the Group’s primary revenue markets 
and reducing the Group’s relative market share. 
In addition, there is a risk that the Group may not 
be able to achieve significant traction in its 
nascent revenue channels due to the size, scale 
or market share of existing players in the market. 

 u Ensuring partners understand the value 
proposition of advertising on the Group’s websites 
and the unique benefits of its recent acquisitions.

 u Offering attractive and competitive pricing 
packages to partners.

 u Continuing to develop and extend the Group’s 
innovative product offering and improve the value 
provided for partners.

 u Developing and maintaining a number of strong 
consumer brands through marketing.

 u Continuous optimisation of our websites, software  
and the consumer and partner experience to 
create a barrier to entry.

 u Diversifying risk through multiple revenue streams.

Risk heat map
1  Changing online landscape 

and consumer trends

2 Competitive environment

3 Regulatory environment

4  Reputational and 
brand damage

5 IT systems and cyber-security

6 Retention and recruitment

7 Macroeconomic conditions

8 Debt covenants and funding

9 Integration of acquisitions

Im
pa

ct

Likelihood

1

234
5

6

79

8
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KEY RISK AND DESCRIPTION IMPACT MANAGEMENT AND MITIGATION

REGULATORY 
ENVIRONMENT
The Group operates in a number 
of regulated environments. 
Certain revenue streams within 
the Comparison Services division 
are regulated by the FCA. The 
Comparison Services division 
also voluntarily complies with 
the Ofgem Confidence Code 
and is involved in regular 
communication with Ofcom. 

 Risk increased

There is a risk that changes to the regulatory 
environment could force the Group to revise 
its strategy, operations or business model. 

Changes in regulation may also impact the 
Group’s profitability via increased compliance 
costs or a fall in revenues as a result of 
subsequent changes in consumer or 
partner behaviour.

Non-compliance with regulations set by a 
regulatory body, including data protection 
regulations, may also have both reputational 
and financial implications.

 u Maintaining regular open and constructive 
dialogue with all significant regulatory bodies.

 u Implementing processes to ensure compliance 
with all mandatory reporting obligations.

 u Employing a dedicated Regulation 
and Compliance Manager. 

 u Regular monitoring of regulatory risks 
by the Board, the Audit Committee, the 
legal function and throughout the business.

REPUTATIONAL AND 
BRAND DAMAGE
The Group operates a number of 
identifiable and respected brands 
which could be damaged by 
factors such as unethical or 
unlawful activity, poor customer 
service or negative press.

 Risk increased

Damage to any of the Group’s brands could 
lead to a fall in consumer confidence, reducing 
traffic and leads for the Group’s partners 
and in turn impacting the Group’s revenue. 

There is also a risk that the Group’s partners 
may choose to terminate their existing 
relationship with the Group as a result of any 
reputational damage, which would directly 
impact the Group’s revenues.

 u Embedding a culture of transparency, social 
awareness and ethical behaviour throughout 
the Group.

 u Regularly reviewing the Group’s risks and reviewing 
and developing internal controls to mitigate the 
risk of error or fraud.

 u Executing the Group’s strategy, which has both 
consumers and the Group’s partners at its core. 

 u Employing a dedicated public relations team. 

 u Continually investing in the Group’s brands.

IT SYSTEMS AND 
CYBER‑SECURITY
A number of the Group’s IT 
systems are interdependent and a 
failure in one system or a security 
breach may disrupt the efficiency 
and functioning of the Group’s 
operations. The Group may also 
be subject to cyber-attacks.

The Group holds consumer and 
partner data which could be 
susceptible to loss or theft.

 No change

Any failure of the Group’s IT infrastructure 
through error or attack could impair the operation 
of the Group’s websites, the processing and 
storage of data and the day-to-day management 
of the Group’s business.

In addition, any theft or misuse of data held 
within the Group’s databases could have 
both reputational and financial implications 
for the Group.

 u Regularly testing the security of the IT systems 
and platforms, including penetration testing and 
testing of Distributed Denial of Service (DDoS) 
attack procedures.

 u Maintaining separate platforms for the Property 
Services and Comparison Services businesses.

 u Restricting access to data, systems and code and 
ensuring all systems are secure and up to date. 

 u Providing training for staff on data protection  
and compliance and operating a Group-wide  
data policy.

RETENTION AND 
RECRUITMENT
Success depends on the 
continued service and 
performance of the Group’s 
Executive Management Team and 
other key employees. Skilled 
development, technical, 
operating, sales and marketing 
personnel are also essential for 
the business to meet its strategic 
goals.

 Risk decreased

Competition for qualified talent is intense and 
an inability to attract highly skilled employees 
could adversely impact the Group’s operations, 
financial condition or prospects.

Similarly, an inability to motivate, develop and 
retain key team members could adversely 
impact the Group’s operations, financial 
condition or prospects.

The Group has a track record of growth 
through acquisition – integration of these 
diverse businesses could increase the risk 
of staff churn.

 u Building a strong employee brand in the recruitment 
market and building strong talent pipelines.

 u Operating a structured approach to recruitment 
using specialist teams to ensure timely recruitment 
of high quality employees.

 u Investing in succession planning and improving 
learning and development, giving opportunities 
for employees to upgrade skills.

 u Investment in a new head office and 
team environment.

 u Providing competitive reward and compensation 
packages to all staff, comprising a blend of short 
and long-term incentives for managers.

 u Instilling the culture of the Group to build 
and maintain staff loyalty.

Link to strategy

ZPG teamConsumer experience Partner value Group synergies
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Risk management and key Risks CONTINUED

KEY RISK AND DESCRIPTION IMPACT MANAGEMENT AND MITIGATION

MACROECONOMIC 
CONDITIONS
The Group derives all its material 
revenues from markets within 
the UK. The Group is therefore 
dependent on the macroeconomic 
conditions in the UK and macro 
factors within each of its 
key markets.

See separate section below on the 
result of the UK’s EU referendum.

 Risk increased

Changes in the UK economy could lead 
to changes in average property prices, the 
number of mortgage approvals and the volume 
of transactions in the UK housing market. 
Subsequently the marketing budgets of the 
Group’s partners could decrease, which could 
reduce demand for the Group’s services. 

The Group is also exposed to changes in 
consumer and partner behaviour and pricing 
driven by fluctuations within the energy, 
broadband and mobile markets, which could 
impact demand for the Group’s services.

 u Regularly reviewing market conditions and indicators.

 u Building consumer and partner brand loyalty.

 u Maintaining a flexible cost base that can respond 
to changing conditions.

 u Diversifying risk by maintaining a balance between 
different revenue streams, including diversification 
through the acquisition of uSwitch and Property 
Software Group, in order to provide protection 
against volatility within our different markets.

 u Developing revenue streams in other related/
adjacent markets.

 u Communicating the effectiveness of digital media 
versus alternative mediums such as print. 

 u Promoting the benefit and potential savings 
for consumers of home services switching.

DEBT COVENANTS 
AND FUNDING
The Group holds external debt 
and therefore must ensure 
compliance with its covenant 
ratios. The Group also needs to 
ensure that it has the funding 
required to deliver on its strategy 
and future growth plans and that 
it manages its debt and cash 
balances effectively.

 Risk decreased

Failure of the Group to comply with its existing 
debt covenants may lead to a default on the 
Group’s borrowings and a requirement for the 
Group to repay any amounts outstanding or 
to renegotiate the terms of its facility.

The level of debt within the business and the 
covenants in place may also restrict the amount 
of funds available for future growth, including 
future M&A activity. 

 u Negotiating sufficient headroom within the 
Group’s existing facility, including renegotiation  
on the acquisition of Property Software Group.

 u Consideration of current debt covenants embedded 
into budgeting and forecasting processes.

 u Regularly monitoring compliance with current 
debt covenants and available headroom.

 u Proactive cash management. 

 u Consideration of additional or alternative 
funding should significant opportunities 
for growth be identified.

INTEGRATION OF 
ACQUISITIONS
The Group is highly acquisitive, 
including the acquisition of 
uSwitch in 2015 and Property 
Software Group in 2016.

The integration of new businesses 
presents inherent operational, 
strategic and cultural challenges.

 Risk decreased

Failure to realise the Group’s strategy to become 
the “consumer champion at the heart of the 
home” and in building an integrated and 
optimised consumer product offering may 
adversely affect the consumer experience 
with a resulting impact on the Group’s 
future revenues.

Similarly, failure to integrate the Group’s 
partner offering, particularly considering  
the acquisition of Property Software Group, 
and leverage the Group’s unique position  
could lead to a failure to generate synergies 
and future revenues.

The challenges surrounding integrating different 
cultures and working practices could also 
impact team retention and performance.

 u Executing the integration strategy and plan 
developed on acquisition.

 u Oversight of the enlarged Group by the Executive 
Management Team to ensure harmonisation 
of strategy and objectives across the Group.

 u Experienced Executive Management Team 
dealing with acquisitions.

 u Clear communication of the Group vision 
and strategy to align the team.

 u Harmonisation of benefits and practices 
across the Group.

 u Relocation of all London-based staff to a single 
location to encourage greater integration.

 u Communicating the benefits of acquisitions 
to both partners and consumers. 

 u Forming functional teams across the Group 
where possible.

Link to strategy

ZPG teamConsumer experience Partner value Group synergies
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Viability statement
As detailed above, the Directors have 
conducted a robust assessment of the 
principal risks facing the Group and believe 
that the Group is well placed to successfully 
manage these risks. Therefore, in accordance 
with the 2014 revisions to the UK Corporate 
Governance Code, the Directors confirm that 
they have a reasonable expectation that the 
Group will continue in operation and meet 
its liabilities as they fall due for the next three 
years. The Directors continue to believe that 
a three year viability period is appropriate 
to ensure that forecasting is reasonable and 
that the Group can conduct a reasonable 
identification and assessment of its principal 
risks. The following factors, which were identified 
in the prior year, continue to be relevant:

• the Group operates within the online 
digital marketing space, a sector which 
is subject to rapid technological, consumer 
and market changes;

• the Group is a relatively young enterprise, 
which was founded in 2007 and listed 
in June 2014; and 

• the Group has changed rapidly over its 
relatively short lifetime and has engaged 
in several significant acquisitions.

In arriving at their conclusion the Directors 
considered the Group’s forecast financial 
performance and cash flows over the three year 
viability period. The forecast has then been 
subject to sensitivity analysis. A variety of 
scenarios were considered which reflect the 

estimated impact of the principal risks identified 
above, including challenges to revenue and 
costs across both Property Services and 
Comparison Services; the financial impact of 
a cyber-attack and the resulting reputational 
damage; and macroeconomic factors, including 
the potential impact of the UK’s EU referendum. 
The analysis considered the Group’s ability to 
meet its operational and financial obligations 
throughout the period, including compliance 
with the Group’s existing debt covenants. 
Based on the analysis performed, the Directors 
confirm that they have a reasonable 
expectation that the Group will continue in 
operation and meet its liabilities as they fall 
due for the next three years.

The result of the UK’s EU referendum 
has increased the level of macroeconomic 
uncertainty and could increase the likelihood 
of the impacts outlined under ‘macroeconomic 
conditions’ above. 

During the year, the Group considered the 
impact of this result on the business and its 
potential implications. The Directors believe 
that the Group’s multi-channel, multi-brand 
strategy creates a diverse revenue base which 
means it is well placed to minimise any 
negative impacts. In particular:

• the Property Services division is largely 
subscription based and is therefore less 
susceptible to short-term shocks or 
variations in the property market 
or wider economy;

• a large proportion of our Property partners 
are engaged in both sales and lettings, 
which reduces the risk of any downturn in 
the property market on their businesses;

• an economic downturn increases the 
propensity for consumers to search 
our Comparison Services platform for 
the best deals to save money on their 
household expenses;

• the Group has minimal exposure to foreign 
exchange, although a weaker Pound may 
lead to higher price inflation in areas such 
as energy bills, which may benefit our 
Comparison Services division; and

• the Group has external debt with a 
variable interest rate and therefore any 
decrease in interest rates should reduce 
the Group’s finance costs.

THE EU REFERENDUM
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue increased by 84% to £197.7 million and 
Adjusted EBITDA increased by 58% to £77.1 million 
compared to the same period last year. The increase 
was partly a result of the inclusion of twelve months 
of trading in the Comparison Services division and 
five months of trading from Property Software Group, 
which we acquired in April 2016. The Comparison 
Services division performed ahead of expectations 
with record switching levels across every vertical and 
the Property Services division performed in line with 
expectations, with continued growth in the number 
of UK Agency partners over the Period. 

Statutory profit for the year and statutory basic EPS 
also increased significantly by 44% to £36.7 million 
and 44% to 8.9 pence, respectively. When reviewing 
performance the Directors use a number of adjusted 
measures, including Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted 
basic EPS, as they believe these give a more relevant 
indicator of the Group’s underlying performance. 
These measures are reconciled in the Summary 
Income Statement below. 

During the Period, the Group secured a £50 million 
extension to its revolving credit facility, which was 
used to help fund the acquisition of Property Software 
Group. As at 30 September 2016, the Group had net 
debt of £146.3 million and substantial headroom 
against its covenants.

The Group maintains a target dividend pay-out ratio 
of 35-45% of profits excluding share-based payments 
and exceptional items and the Directors have proposed 
a final dividend of 3.7 pence per share. This, together 
with the interim dividend of 1.5 pence per share, 
brings the total dividend to 5.2 pence per share 
for the Period.

The Comparison Services 
division performed ahead 
of expectations with record 
switching levels across every 
vertical and the Property 
Services division performed 
in line with expectations, with 
continued growth in the number 
of UK Agency partners over 
the Period.

HIGHLIGHTS
• Revenue increased by 84% to £197.7 million

• Adjusted EBITDA increased by 58% 
to £77.1 million

• Statutory profit for the year increased 
by 44% to £36.7 million

• Total dividend to 5.2 pence per share 
for the Period

• Comparison Services division performed 
ahead of expectations with record switching 
levels across every vertical

A record year of Revenue 
and Adjusted EBITDA
We have experienced another strong period of growth for the Group as it 
delivered record revenues up 84% to £197.7 million and Adjusted EBITDA 
up 58% to £77.1 million.
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Summary income statement

£m 2016 2015
 Year on year 

%

Revenue 197.7 107.6 84

Operating costs (120.6) (58.9) 105

Adjusted EBITDA 77.1 48.7 58

Share-based payments (4.8) (1.9) 153

Depreciation (1.7) (0.4) 325

Amortisation of other intangibles (2.0) (1.6) 25

Amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions (7.5) (2.0) 275

Exceptional items (11.4) (8.2) 39

Operating profit 49.7 34.6 44

Net finance costs (3.5) (1.0) 250

Profit before tax 46.2 33.6 38

Income tax expense (9.5) (8.2) 16

Profit for the year 36.7 25.4 44

Amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions 7.5 2.0 275

Exceptional items 11.4 8.2 39

Adjustment for tax (3.2) (0.8) 300

Adjusted profit for the year 52.4 34.8 51

Adjusted earnings per share:

Adjusted basic earnings per share (pence per share) 12.7 8.4 51

Adjusted diluted earnings per share (pence per share) 12.5 8.3 51

Revenue

£m 2016 20152

 Year on year 
%

Property Services:

UK Agency1 64.3 58.3 10

New Homes 11.7 11.0 6

Other 10.7 10.6 2

Property Services Revenue 86.7 79.9 9

Comparison Services:

Energy 52.7 11.6 354

Communications 44.1 13.3 232

Other 14.2 2.8 407

Comparison Services Revenue 111.0 27.7 301

Group Revenue 197.7 107.6 84

1 UK Agency includes five months of trading from Property Software Group.

2 2015 Comparison Services Revenue represents four months trading from uSwitch (acquired on 1 June 2015).

Average monthly visits #

50.4m
+3%

16 50.4

15 49.1

14 47.5

Visits comprise individual sessions on 
the Group’s websites or apps by users 
for the Property Services division and the 
Comparison Services division for the full 
year as measured by Google Analytics.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

Revenue continued
The Property Services division generated £86.7 million of revenue, 
up 9% on the same period last year. UK Agency revenue, which 
includes £7.3 million of revenue from five months of trading from 
Property Software Group, was up 10% at £64.3 million. Excluding 
Property Software Group, UK Agency revenue generated £57.0 million 
of revenue (2015: £58.3 million) against tough comparators from the same 
period last year, when the Group experienced significant UK Agency churn 
related to Agents’ Mutual part way through the period. After adjusting for 
both the contribution from Property Software Group and for revenue 
generated from agents who churned part way through 2015, underlying 
UK Agency revenue was up c.5%. New Homes revenue increased 6%, 
driven by demand for targeted email campaigns with Other revenue, 
which includes revenue from advertising, marketing services, data 
sales, overseas and commercial property, continuing to perform in 
line with expectations. 

The Comparison Services division generated £111.0 million of 
revenue and performed ahead of expectations across every vertical. 
As a reminder, the prior year comparator includes four months of 
Comparison Services trading as the business was acquired part 
way through 2015.

Operating costs 
Operating costs increased by 105% to £120.6 million, largely attributable 
to the incorporation of twelve months of trading from the Comparison 
Services division and five months of trading from Property Software Group. 

Property Services costs were £48.2 million, comprising Staff costs 
of £22.6 million and Other Costs of £25.6 million. The increase in both 
Staff and Other costs arose from the incorporation of five months of costs 
from Property Software Group and our ongoing investment in people, 
technology and marketing. In the second half of the year, the Group 
strategically stepped up its investment in above-the-line brand building 
activities, which resulted in Zoopla achieving a record level of national 
awareness and becoming the leading UK property portal with prompted 
brand awareness of 90%. (Source: Harris Interactive, September 2016).

Comparison Services costs were £72.4 million, comprising Staff costs 
of £12.6 million and Other costs of £59.8 million. The Group invests in 
helping consumers find the best deals by constantly optimising consumer 
experience, which in turn drives conversion and generates greater exposure 
for our Comparison partners. On a like-for-like basis, Other costs trended 
upwards in line with revenue growth as a result of Group’s strength in 
performance-based marketing. The Group also increased its above-the-line 
marketing of the uSwitch brand to help educate consumers about the 
benefits of switching and to further grow our brand awareness. 

Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA increased by 58% from £48.7 million to £77.1 million 
compared to the prior year. Property Services Adjusted EBITDA 
decreased slightly to £38.5 million reflecting the Group’s additional 
strategic investment in marketing in H2 2016 and tough comparators 
against the same period last year as outlined above. Property Services 
delivered a margin of 44% for the Period, lower than the previous year 
due to the mix effect of incorporating five months of Property Software 
Group. The Comparison Services division generated £38.6 million of 
Adjusted EBITDA, at an increased margin of 35%, as a result of the 
exceptionally strong performance in the Energy vertical. Group margins 
reduced to 39% due to the mix effect from incorporating a full year’s 
trading from the Comparison Services division and five months of 
trading from Property Software Group.

Share-based payments
The share-based payments charge increased from £1.9 million to 
£4.8 million as a result of providing for financial year 2016 grants 
under the Group’s LTIP and deferred bonus schemes and the first year 
of the VCP scheme for the CEO. As expected this charge will increase 
in financial year 2017, in line with 2017 grants for the LTIP and deferred 
bonus schemes.

Depreciation 
Depreciation increased to £1.7 million due to a write-down of leasehold 
improvements recognised as part of the Group’s relocation to a new 
headquarters. Underlying depreciation will increase in financial year 
2017 as we see a full year of depreciation charge on costs associated 
with the Group’s new headquarters.

Amortisation
The Group splits out amortisation of intangibles arising on acquisitions 
and amortisation of other intangibles for the purposes of calculating 
Adjusted basic EPS. Amortisation of acquired intangibles increased 
to £7.5 million as a result of a full year’s amortisation charge arising 
on the acquisition of uSwitch and five months charge of amortisation 
arising on the acquisition of Property Software Group. The Group’s 
amortisation of acquired intangibles charge will increase in financial 
year 2017 to reflect the valuation of Property Software Group and 
a full year’s impact of its respective charge.

Amortisation of other intangibles increased to £2.0 million 
reflecting the Group’s capital expenditure on building integrated 
projects and products such as the ‘Running Costs’ tool as outlined 
in the Business Review.

Exceptional items
Exceptional items include costs that Management believe to 
be exceptional in nature by virtue of their size or incidence. Total 
exceptional items of £11.4 million in 2016 represent costs relating 
to the Property Software Group acquisition in addition to deferred 
costs relating to the uSwitch acquisition. 

Net finance costs
The Group incurred net finance costs of £3.5 million during the Period. 
The increased charge reflects the drawdown of debt via the Group’s 
existing revolving credit facility to help fund the acquisition of 
Property Software Group.

Revenue breakdown £m

Property ServicesComparison Services

Total  
revenue

197.7m
£86.7m£111.0m
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Income tax expense
The Group’s income tax charge was £9.5 million representing an 
effective income tax rate of 20.5%. This is higher than the average 
statutory tax rate of 20.0% due to non-deductible transaction costs 
and management deferred and contingent consideration expenses 
arising on acquisitions. This was offset by the revaluation of deferred 
tax assets and liabilities as a result of the anticipated reduction in the 
rate of corporation tax to 19% from 1 April 2017 and 17% from 1 April 2020.

Profit for the Period 
Adjusted profit for the year, calculated as profit for the year 
after adding back exceptional items and amortisation of intangible 
assets arising on acquisitions adjusted for tax, increased by 51% 
to £52.4 million. Statutory profit increased by 44% to £36.7 million. 

Earnings per share (EPS)
Adjusted basic EPS, which strips out the impact of exceptional items 
and amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions, increased 
by 51% to 12.7 pence. Statutory basic EPS grew by 44% to 8.9 pence. 

Summary statement of financial position
£m 2016 2015

Goodwill and intangibles 322.6 253.7

Available for sale financial assets 0.7 —

Property, plant and equipment 6.4 1.9

Cash and cash equivalents 3.4 19.2

Working capital1 7.4 7.9

Loans and borrowings (149.7)  (112.4)

Deferred and contingent consideration2 (30.7)  (38.1)

Provisions2 (2.7) (0.8)

Tax assets and liabilities2 (15.2) (14.2)

Net assets 142.2 117.2

The Group was in a strong financial position as at 30 September 2016 
with net assets of £142.2 million. Intangible assets increased to 
£322.6 million reflecting acquired intangibles as a result of the 
Property Software Group acquisition. The increase in property, plant 
and equipment to £6.4 million reflects the Group’s investment in 
a new headquarters as outlined in the Business Review. The Group 
recognised a liability of £30.7 million for deferred and contingent 
consideration payable as a result of the Group’s acquisitions. 

Net debt position
£m 2016 2015

Total loans and borrowings (149.7) (112.4)

Cash and cash equivalents 3.4 19.2

Net (debt)/cash (146.3) (93.2)

As at 30 September 2016 the Group had net debt of £146.3 million 
including loans and borrowings of £149.7 million. The overall increase 
in net debt can be attributed to the acquisition of Property Software 
Group in April 2016 and the payment of the deferred consideration 
relating to the uSwitch acquisition and deal-related earnout in the 
second half of 2016.

Summary statement of cash flows
£m 2016 2015

Net cash flows from operating activities 62.1 39.1

Cash flows (used in)/from investing activities:

Acquisitions and investments (88.6) (153.5)

Interest income received 0.1 0.2

Capital expenditure (6.5) (0.8)

Net cash used in investing activities (95.0) (154.1)

Proceeds on issue of debt, net of issue costs 89.4 123.3

Repayment of debt (52.5) (11.0)

Interest paid (3.0) (0.8)

Treasury shares purchased (0.4) —

Shares released from trust 0.2 0.4

Dividends paid (16.6) (8.7)

Net cash flows from financing activities 17.1 103.2

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (15.8) (11.8)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 3.4 19.2

The Group continues to be highly cash generative with net cash inflows 
from operating activities of £62.1 million during the Period. This 59% 
increase, compared to the same period last year, is largely due to the 
incorporation of twelve months of trading in the Comparison Services 
division. The Group had a net outflow of £88.6 million relating to the 
cash costs of the acquisition of Property Software Group and deferred 
consideration relating to the uSwitch acquisition.

Dividends
The Group maintains a target dividend pay-out ratio of 35-45% of 
profits excluding share-based payments and exceptional items based 
on the strong cash generation and long-term earnings potential of the 
Group. The Directors have proposed a final dividend of 3.7 pence per 
share, bringing total dividends for the Period to 5.2 pence per share. 
Subject to shareholder approval at the 2017 Annual General Meeting, 
this will be paid on 9 February 2017 to those shareholders on the 
share register as at 16 December 2016. 

1 Working capital is defined as both current and non-current, trade and other receivables 
less trade and other payables

2 Includes both current and non-current balances
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

Appendix 1: Group proforma KPIs
As outlined at ZPG’s Capital Markets Day in September, the Group has updated its key performance 
indicators (KPIs) to reflect the evolution of the business following our acquisitions and our new bundled 
property proposition. 

The table below shows how the Group will disclose its KPIs from financial year 2017 onwards. The figures 
below are for the twelve-month periods to 30 September 2016 and 30 September 2015. Each period includes 
a full year’s trading in the Comparison Services division and Property Software Group in order to give a more 
meaningful comparative. 

Group (£m) 2016 1 2015 1
Year on year

%

Property Services Revenue 96.4 94.6 2

Comparison Services Revenue 111.0 80.2 38

Revenue 207.4 174.8 19

Staff costs 39.8 35.2 13

Marketing costs 70.8 58.7 21

Other costs2 16.6 13.8 20

Total Operating costs 127.2 107.7 18

Adjusted EBITDA3 80.2 67.1 20

KPIs

Visits4 (million per month) 50.4 49.1 3

FTEs5 735 654 12

Divisional KPIs

Property Services:

Agency6 (£m) 76.0 74.4 2

New Homes (£m) 11.8 11.0 7

Other7 (£m) 8.6 9.2 -7

Property Services Revenue (£m) 96.4 94.6 2

Property Services Operating costs (£m) 54.8 49.9 10

Property Services Adjusted EBITDA (£m) 41.6 44.7 -7

Blended ARPP (average revenue per partner)8 328 325 1

Total unique number of Property partners9 (000s) 23.1 21.7 6

Comparison Services:

Energy (£m) 52.7 36.0 46

Communications (£m) 44.1 34.9 26

Other10 (£m) 14.2 9.3 53

Comparison Services Revenue (£m) 111.0 80.2 38

Comparison Services Operating costs (£m) 72.4 57.8 25

Comparison Services Adjusted EBITDA (£m) 38.6 22.4 72

ARPL (average revenue per lead)11 3.67 3.23 14

Number of Comparison Services leads12 (million) 30.3 24.8 22

1  Financial year 2015 and 2016 pro forma 
figures include the following exceptional 
events: 1) UK Agency churn in H1 2015 
which equated to £4.2 million of Revenue 
and £4.2 million of Adjusted EBITDA; and 
2) Outperformance in the Comparison 
Services division in 2016 which equated 
to c.£15 million of Revenue and c.£8 million 
of Adjusted EBITDA.

2  Other Costs represents technology, 
property and administrative costs

3  Adjusted EBITDA is defined as operating 
profit after adding back depreciation and 
amortisation, share-based payments and 
exceptional items.

4 Visits comprise individual sessions on the 
Group’s websites or mobile applications 
by users for the Period indicated as 
measured by Google Analytics.

5 FTEs is defined as the average number 
of full time equivalent employees across 
the Group.

6 Agency represents revenue generated 
from UK estate & lettings agents, 
overseas agents and commercial 
property agents.

7 Other represents revenue generated 
from advertising, marketing services, 
data sales.

8 ARPP (average revenue per partner) 
is defined as revenue generated from 
the Group’s Property partners in a given 
month divided by the total number of 
Property partners during the month, 
measured as a monthly average over 
the Period.

9 Total unique number of Property 
partners is defined as the total number 
of UK estate & lettings agency branches, 
new home developers, overseas and 
commercial agency branches paying 
subscription fees for either advertising or 
software services.

10 Other represents revenue generated 
from financial services switching, boiler 
cover, business energy and data insight.

11 ARPL (average revenue per lead) is the 
revenue generated from energy switching, 
communications switching, financial 
services switching, boiler cover, business 
energy and data insight divided by the 
total number of Comparison Services 
leads during the month, measured as 
a monthly average over the period.

12 A Comparison Services lead is measured 
at the point when a consumer completes 
an application form hosted on the Group’s 
website or at the point in time when the 
customer leaves the Group’s website having 
clicked through to a third party website.
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Adding value to our 
Comparison partners
Bristol Energy, a small national energy provider, has been using 
the uSwitch B2B Insight portal as a one-stop-shop to keep 
abreast of any real-time changes to energy price trends and 
best-buy tariffs. This is what Product Manager at Bristol Energy, 
Kester Byass had to say about it:

“As a new company working in such a volatile market, the uSwitch 
Insight Portal has been invaluable to us. It’s been particularly 
useful in enabling us to monitor competitor activity. There are so 
many suppliers operating in domestic energy now and so many 
tariffs being pulled and pushed daily, it’s great to see a summary 
of what’s happening in one place.

“The smart functionality of the tool also means it’s really easy to 
use and helps us to operate efficiently as a business. You can tell 
the development and product team have put a lot of time and 
effort into the portal.” 

PARTNER – COMPARISON SERVICES
KESTER BYASS, PRODUCT MANAGER AT BRISTOL ENERGY

30m
LEADS GENERATED 
DURING THE YEAR

As a new company working 
in such a volatile market, 
the uSwitch Insight Portal 
has been invaluable to us.
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OUR PEOPLE AND CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

People are at the heart 
of our business

Team
We are committed to investing in our people 
and providing them with opportunities to 
succeed with their career development. 
In September of this year, we moved our three 
London-based teams to a single new office 
location near Tower Bridge, providing them 
with a world-class office environment. The new 
space has given us the opportunity to create 
a purpose-built environment that brings our 
teams under one roof as well as enabling us 
the opportunity to build a creative and fun 
space that we can all call ‘home’. We now 
have a great combination of working spaces, 
meeting spaces and relaxation spaces, genuinely 
creating a ‘home away from home’ for our 
almost 500 London-based employees.

We take our colleagues’ wellbeing and 
development seriously and aim to support 
everyone so that they understand how to reach 
their full potential. We have an in-house gym 
and fitness studio with training instructors to 
ensure everyone has a fitness plan that works 
for them. We have also employed an in-house 
Group L&D Manager who has created learning 
programmes to support our diverse population 
of colleagues. We have changed our performance 
review programme and built a new performance 
tool kit ensuring we have bespoke frameworks 
that our colleagues, managers, leaders and 
sponsors can tailor to fit their specific needs 
to have ongoing and meaningful day-to-day 
feedback and career planning meetings with 
their colleagues. We offer a range of in-house 
programmes that meet both our colleagues’ 
and business needs and help us continue to 
build the talent within our teams.

The strong culture of innovation and 
transparency within the Group has helped 
us to continue to attract high calibre staff, 
maintain a strong retention rate of key 
employees and create a workforce that is 
dedicated to delivering high quality products 
and services. We are constantly investing 
in our people to ensure that this continues 
and provide constant opportunities for 
employees to upgrade and transfer their 
skills in the workplace. We love to see our 
colleagues develop and have numerous 
success stories of people who have joined 
us in one role and then developed into other 
areas of our business. 

We offer competitive salaries and benefits 
and carry out regular internal remuneration 
benchmarking across the business to ensure 
that our employees are rewarded appropriately. 
We also feel that every colleague is unique 
and one size definitely does not fit all at ZPG. 
We reflect this in our extensive range of 
employee benefits that we offer to everyone 
in our business and we listen to our employees 
to continually adopt new and innovative 
suggestions, creating packages designed 
for our employees’ needs. We genuinely want 
to provide benefits that our colleagues value, 
that encourage their involvement in the 
Group’s performance and that they find 
useful throughout the different stages of their 
lives. Some of the benefits we offer are more 
traditional such as private health insurance, 
season ticket loans or childcare vouchers 
through to Help to Buy, Move, Improve your 
home loans or perhaps celebrating your 
birthday by taking an additional day’s holiday 
on us through to shopping discounts or our 
Share Incentive Scheme (which we match by 
giving staff a free matching share for each 
share purchased).

We hold regular Group-wide meetings to 
drive communication within the Group, share 
the financial and economic factors affecting the 
performance of the Group, recognise employees 
for their performance in the workplace and 
offer a forum where employees can present 
questions to the Group’s CEO. We have a 
dedicated HR portal for employees which 
allows them to book and manage their holiday 
and view details on pay, benefits and other 

We are an exciting and fast-paced organisation, passionate about 
hiring and retaining the very best talent to help us succeed.

information which may be of concern to them 
as employees. We also conduct staff surveys 
to gauge engagement levels and motivation 
and provide an additional opportunity for 
staff to offer feedback and suggestions.

We respect human rights and the integrity 
of individuals and comply with all relevant 
laws in the way we run the business.

Charitable activity
At ZPG we feel passionately about giving 
back and have been proud supporters of 
The Prince’s Trust and Only Connect over the 
last three years. During 2016 the Group donated 
a total of £39,529 to charity (2015: £52,707) in 
addition to amounts raised by our employees. 
Under our payroll giving scheme, employees 
can donate tax efficiently to a charity directly 
through their pre-tax salary. The Group then 
matches donations up to a specific amount. 
The Group also donates up to £100 to a 
registered charity linked to an employee’s 
personal fundraising activities or up to £250 
for fundraising for one of our Group charities. 
Employees may also take one day’s paid leave 
every year to donate their time to a charity. 

Recently a team of more than 30 of our 
colleagues took part in Tough Mudder, a 
gruelling 10 mile run and obstacle course. 
They raised over £10,500 for The Prince’s 
Trust through this one event alone. 

TOUGH MUDDER
The team raised over £10,500 for The Prince’s Trust through this one event alone!



Lucy joined our Comparison Services division 
in April 2015 to cover reception as an interim 
whilst focusing on her studies outside of work. 
It quickly became apparent to the Company, 
as well as Lucy, that she was a great cultural 
fit and we wanted her to stay with us on a 
permanent basis. Lucy accepted the role and 
continued to demonstrate strong capabilities 
which resulted in just over a year later her 
being internally approached regarding an 
operational role within the Energy team – 
something Lucy had previously hinted she 
would like to get involved in. 

Currently, Lucy is enjoying her position as our 
Energy Operations Executive and is continually 
developing her skillset through support from 
her experienced team and line manager, Sarah. 
In Lucy’s review with Sarah, she expressed 
her interest in areas such as front office and

insights data, and since their discussion Lucy has 
been supported by Sarah in developing in those 
particular directions. Lucy says her confidence 
has grown since starting her career with us, and 
she is incredibly proactive in her learning. Lucy 
mentioned she’s looking forward to spending 
some time with one of our analysts shortly to 
work through Excel as she would like to be a 
little more proficient when using this tool. 

After that Lucy is looking to undertake some 
‘Masterclasses’ with some of our senior experts 
to learn how to use specific programs. Her 
advice to anyone at ZPG who wishes to develop 
their career would be to take and embrace as 
many opportunities as possible! 

When asked for her thoughts on the Company, 
Lucy replied: “Great place, great culture and 
a really fun place to work”.

Committed to 
investing in our team



38 | The consumer champion at the heart of the home

OUR PEOPLE AND CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY CONTINUED

80%

8

7

459

87%

63%

Social responsibility
The uSwitch Community Events team attends 
local events run by various organisations, 
providing information and explaining the 
options available for getting a better energy 
deal. It provides energy saving tips, answers 
questions about the energy market and runs 
presentations about our services and also 
provides a one-to-one service to community 
members. This service is complimentary and, 
during the past year, the Community Events 
team covered most of the heavily populated 
areas in England, attending 69 events. We 
have also built a strong relationship providing 
training programmes via Citizens Advice, 
educating the staff on the energy market 
and how to compare suppliers, leaving them 
fully informed and empowered to educate 
consumers on staying in control of their energy 
costs. Since January 2016 we have attended 
30 Citizens Advice training sessions. 

So far the feedback we have received regarding 
our training work and the advice we provide 
customers has been exceptional. One elderly 
customer we met at an Age UK centre in St Ives 
was unaware of the fact she could switch her 
energy supplier. We provided her with our 
Freepost envelope and our energy switching 
FAQ flyer. She later called us to say she saved 
over £480 a year. The Age UK centre in St Ives 
is a wonderful example of the valuable advice 
that we provide customers. After our first visit 
there, we were invited to visit three more times 
over a period of just four months. 

In addition to the above we also partner with 
community centres, charities, councils, housing 
associations and MPs to help promote the 
benefits of energy switching and help save 
consumers money on their energy bills.

Equal opportunities and diversity
We are committed to ensuring that there 
are equal opportunities and diversity in our 
employment policies and practices, including, 
but not limited to, recruitment, selection, 
training, promotion, pay rates, discipline 
and dismissal. We believe that recruiting, 
incentivising and retaining the best talent 
is key to our success and that this involves 
treating everyone equally regardless of their 
age, sexual orientation, parental responsibilities, 
disability, race, nationality, ethnic origin, 
membership of a trade union, religion, belief 
or gender. This includes giving full and fair 
consideration to applications for employment 
made by disabled persons and continuing 
the employment of, and arranging 
appropriate training, career development 
and the opportunity for promotion for, 
any of the Group’s employees who are, 
or become, disabled.

In the Mayor’s ‘2020 Vision’ for London he 
pledged to make the Living Wage the norm 
across the capital. Although we recognise 
this is not compulsory we are committed to 
ensuring that all our colleagues are appropriately 
remunerated and we have ensured that all 
our London staff are paid at least in line with 
the London Living Wage.

Health and safety
We are committed to maintaining a safe 
workplace for our employees and ensuring 
that staff have the appropriate training and 
working conditions to perform their work 
safely. It is therefore our policy that all of the 
Group’s facilities, products and services comply 
in all material respects with applicable laws 
and regulations governing safety and quality.

PASSIONATE
Taking pride in our 
work and vision
Our vision and passion drive the 
decisions we make, the products 
we create and the services 
we offer.

AGILE
Moving fast and 
in a focused fashion
We make quick decisions to 
innovate and stay ahead of the 
competition. We are focused 
and data driven.

OUR VALUES
Our shared values bind us together.

Gender diversity %

Male Female

Directors

10

All other 
employees

725

Executive 
Management Team

8

20%

2

1

266

13%

37%
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This Strategic report was approved by the Board 
of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

Alex Chesterman
Founder & CEO
29 November 2016

Environment and greenhouse gas emissions
We continue to support energy efficiency 
throughout our business activities and remain 
conscious of mitigating any negative impact 
we may have on the environment. 

As an online property portal and home services 
switching platform, we naturally operate without 
intensive production processes, use of packaging 
or the need to print out substantial amounts 
of paper, a practice which we will continue 
to maintain. A number of sales employees 
are provided with company cars to allow 
them to meet clients within designated 
geographies; however, the majority of 
employees are office based. 

The Group also operates a “Bike-to-Work” 
scheme, which offers our employees an 
incentive to travel to and from work in an 
environmentally friendly way and our new 
office includes secure storage for over 
50 bikes.

Since 1 October 2013, the Companies Act 2006 
(Strategic Report and Directors’ Report) 
Regulations 2013 has required all UK quoted 
companies to report on their greenhouse 
gas emissions as part of their annual 
directors’ report.

A report on our output of greenhouse gas 
emissions shows that, when compared with 
other companies of a comparable size, the 
Group’s activities produce a very low impact 
on the environment.

The Group’s scope 1 and 2 emissions for the 
year to 30 September 2016 are set out below. 
Scope 1 emissions relate to the Group’s 
fleet of vehicles, which are used by certain 
employees for business purposes. Scope 2 
emissions relate to the Group’s electricity 
and gas usage. This information is set out 
in the chart opposite. 

We have measured our greenhouse gas 
emissions using emissions factors from the 
“UK Government Conversion Factors for 
Company Reporting”. The period covered is 
that of the financial year to 30 September 2016. 
Comparatives for 2015 have been calculated 
on a consistent basis. CO

2 emissions include 
the impact of acquisitions from the date of 
acquisition. In order to provide an intensity 
ratio for our emissions disclosure, we have 
calculated our greenhouse gas emissions 
per employee. The Directors believe that the 
number of employees is the best indicator for 
a group of this size for the purposes of this 
disclosure. The number of employees used 
is the average number of full-time employees 
over the measurement period.

ENTREPRENEURIAL
Being creative and owning it
We use our initiative, make 
decisions and spend money 
like it is our own and we never 
stand still.

COLLABORATIVE
Supporting each 
other as one team
We support each other and work 
as a team to enable us all to 
achieve our goals and win.

CO2 emissions  
Tonnes CO2e

751

Emissions per employee 
Tonnes CO2e

1.3

16

16

15

15

308

0.5

443

0.8

240

0.8

343

1.1

Scope 1 Scope 2
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The Board is entirely 
committed to promoting 
and upholding the highest 
standards of corporate 
governance. 

Dear Shareholder
On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to 
present the Group’s Corporate governance 
report for the year.

This review, along with the Audit, Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee reports that 
follow, should provide you with details of the 
Board’s activities during the year, including 
how it discharged its governance duties and 
applied the principles of good corporate 
governance set out in the UK Corporate 
Governance Code (“the Governance Code”).

The Board is entirely committed to promoting 
and upholding the highest standards of corporate 
governance as it believes that this enables the 
accomplishment of the Group’s mission and 
strategy, whilst providing information and 
transparency to shareholders. 

Board changes 
During the year, we had a couple of changes 
to the Board. 

In April 2016, the Board appointed 
Andy Botha as Chief Financial Officer to 
replace Stephen Morana. Andy has a proven 
ability to execute different multi-brand, 
multi-channel business models across the 
digital and technology sectors and joined us 
from notonthehighstreet.com, where he had 
been Chief Commercial and Financial Officer. 
The Board is delighted to welcome Andy to 
the Group and he brings with him a wealth 
of relevant experience and demonstrable 
success in leading technology businesses 
during periods of high growth. I would 
also like to take this opportunity to thank 
Stephen for all of his hard work and his 
substantial contribution to the Group, 
guiding the Company through its successful 
IPO in June 2014 and being actively involved 
in its two subsequent acquisitions. 

Committed to good governance

CHAIRMAN’S INTRODUCTION TO GOVERNANCE
with Mike Evans, Non-Executive Chairman

Our Governance framework
See below for the role of the Board and its committees. 

Board

The Board comprises 10 Directors. We have two 
Executive Directors, a Non-Executive Chairman,  
four Independent Non-Executive Directors and  
three further Non-Executive Directors.

Audit 
Committee

Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Executive Management Team

The Board
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Since the Company’s IPO in June 2014, the Company has 
had a relationship agreement (“the Relationship Agreement”) 
in place with its principal shareholder’s ultimate parent 
company, Daily Mail & General Trust plc. Under the terms of 
the Relationship Agreement, Daily Mail & General Trust plc 
can appoint two Directors, providing it holds more than 
25% of the votes exercisable at general meetings of the 
Company. I am pleased to welcome Kevin Beatty, who 
Daily Mail & General Trust plc appointed to the Board in 
July 2016 to replace David Dutton following his retirement 
from both Daily Mail & General Trust plc and our Board.

I confirm that both Andy and Kevin are skilled, experienced 
and committed to their roles and have sufficient time 
available to discharge their duties effectively. As required by 
the Company’s Articles of Association, they will be offering 
themselves up for election at the next AGM. I further confirm 
that the remaining Directors continue to have appropriate 
knowledge and expertise to be effective and that they have 
all demonstrated commitment to the role. In line with the 
requirements of the Governance Code, all the remaining 
Directors will also be offering themselves for re-election 
at the next AGM.

Mike Evans
Non-Executive Chairman

Audit Committee Nomination Committee Remuneration Committee

Key responsibilities
The Audit Committee’s role is to assist 
the Board with the discharge of its 
responsibilities in relation to 
financial reporting. 
 

Membership at 30 September 2016
• Duncan Tatton-Brown (Chair)

• Sherry Coutu

• Robin Klein

• Vin Murria

 

Meetings held in 2016
3

Key responsibilities
The Nomination Committee assists 
the Board in reviewing the structure, 
size and composition of the Board. 
 
 

Membership at 30 September 2016
• Mike Evans (Chair)

• Alex Chesterman

• Duncan Tatton-Brown

• Sherry Coutu

• Robin Klein 

Meetings held in 2016
4

Key responsibilities
The Remuneration Committee 
recommends the Group’s policy 
on executive remuneration and 
determines the levels of remuneration 
for Executive Directors, the Chairman 
and Management.

Membership at 30 September 2016
• Sherry Coutu (Chair)

• Mike Evans

• Duncan Tatton-Brown

• Vin Murria

 

Meetings held in 2016
3

A ‘HOME AWAY FROM HOME’
Read more about our big move on page 36
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The Board

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

May 2014 April 2014 April 2016 May 2014 May 2014

Mike Evans
Non-Executive Chairman

Alex Chesterman OBE
Founder & Chief  
Executive Officer

Andy Botha
Chief Financial Officer

Duncan Tatton-Brown
Senior Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Sherry Coutu CBE
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Mike became Chairman of 
ZPG in 2014. He has been 
Chairman of Hargreaves 
Lansdown plc since 2009, 
which he joined as a 
non-executive director in 
2006. Mike is a qualified 
actuary with over 30 years’ 
experience in the financial 
services industry. He is also 
the Senior Independent 
Director of Chesnara plc. 
He was formerly a 
Non-Executive Director 
of esure Group plc and 
Chief Operating Officer 
at Skandia UK Limited. 
He holds a BSc in 
Mathematics from the 
University of Bristol.

Alex founded ZPG in 2007 
and remains with the Group 
as its CEO. Previously, Alex 
co-founded LOVEFiLM, 
Europe’s leading online 
DVD rental service, which 
was successfully sold to 
Amazon. Alex is recognised 
as one of the UK’s leading 
digital entrepreneurs and 
has been a winner of the 
Ernst & Young Entrepreneur 
of the Year Award as well 
as having been awarded an 
OBE for Services to Digital 
Entrepreneurship. Alex 
holds an honours degree 
in Economics from 
London University.

Andy joined ZPG in 2016 
and is currently Group 
CFO. Previously, Andy 
was Chief Commercial 
and Financial Officer 
at e-commerce website 
notonthehighstreet.com 
and, prior to that, Andy 
spent five years at Betfair 
plc, one of the UK’s most 
successful internet 
businesses, where he 
held senior commercial 
and financial roles. 
Prior to Betfair, Andy 
was UK Finance Director 
at lastminute.com. 
Andy is a qualified 
Chartered Accountant. 

Duncan became a Director 
of ZPG in 2014. He is 
currently CFO of Ocado 
Group plc, which he joined 
in 2012. Previously, Duncan 
was CFO of Fitness First plc 
and prior to that was 
Group Finance Director 
of Kingfisher plc. He has 
held senior finance positions 
at B&Q plc, Virgin 
Entertainment Group 
and Burton Group plc and 
was also a Non-Executive 
Director of Rentokil Initial plc. 
Duncan holds a master’s 
degree in Engineering from 
King’s College, Cambridge 
and is a member of the 
Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants.

Sherry became a Director of 
ZPG in 2014. She currently 
chairs The ScaleUp Institute 
and Founders4Schools and 
serves on the board of the 
London Stock Exchange plc, 
Raspberry Pi and the Finance 
Committee of the University 
of Cambridge. Previously 
she chaired Interactive 
Investor International plc 
and served as a director 
of LSEG plc, Jarvis plc and 
RM plc where she was SID. 
Sherry was awarded a 
CBE in 2013 for Services 
to Entrepreneurship and 
she holds an MBA from 
Harvard, an Msc from 
the London School of 
Economics and a BA from 
the University of British 
Columbia in Canada.

Appointment date

Experience

Committee membership
A N R RNARA N A RN A N R

A Member of the Audit Committee

N Member of the Nomination Committee

Member of the Remuneration CommitteeR

Committee Chairman
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May 2014 July 2015 May 2014 July 2016 May 2014

Robin Klein
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Vin Murria 
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Stephen Daintith
Non-Executive Director

Kevin Beatty
Non-Executive Director

Grenville Turner
Non-Executive Director

Robin became a Director 
of ZPG in 2014. He is a 
founding partner of 
LocalGlobe, Leading Seed 
Venture Capital firm and 
was previously a venture 
partner at Index Ventures. 
LocalGlobe first invested 
in Zoopla in 2007 prior to 
its launch. Robin is a serial 
entrepreneur and angel 
investor in a number of the 
UK’s leading high growth 
internet businesses. 
Companies he has backed 
at an early stage include 
LastMinute.com, Agent 
Provocateur, LOVEFiLM, 
Wonga, Secret Escapes, 
Fizzback, Tweetdeck, 
Graze, FreeAgent, 
Skimlinks and Moo.

Vin became a Director 
of ZPG in 2015. She has 
25 years’ experience 
of working with private 
equity-backed and publicly 
listed companies, focusing 
on the software sector. 
Until March 2015 Vin was 
the Chief Executive Officer 
of Advanced Software 
Group plc, an AIM-listed 
healthcare and business 
management software 
solutions company she 
founded in 2008 and 
exited to Vista Private 
Equity. Named Quoted 
Company Entrepreneur 
of the Year 2014 and 
Woman of the Year in the 
2012 Cisco Everywoman 
Technology Awards, Vin is 
a successful entrepreneur 
with a strong background 
in technology-based 
international business.

Stephen became a 
Director of ZPG in 2014. 
He is currently Finance 
Director of Daily Mail & 
General Trust plc, which he 
joined in 2011. Previously, 
Stephen was COO and 
CFO of Dow Jones, a 
subsidiary of News Corp. 
He has also held several 
CEO and CFO positions in 
various overseas markets 
for British American 
Tobacco. Stephen started 
his career as an accountant 
at Price Waterhouse and 
holds a degree from 
Leeds University.

Kevin became a Director 
of ZPG in 2016. He serves 
as CEO of DMG Media, the 
consumer media operation 
of Daily Mail & General 
Trust plc, which publishes 
the Daily Mail, The Mail on 
Sunday, Metro, Mail Online, 
Mail Plus, Metro digital 
editions and Elite Daily. 
He is a board member of 
the NMA and represents 
the UK publishing industry 
as Second Vice President 
on the Board of WAN-IFRA. 
Kevin is also a Non-Executive 
Director of the PA Group 
and the Chairman of the 
RFC, the body that funds 
the Independent Press 
Standards Organisation.

Grenville became a Director 
of ZPG in 2014. He is a 
Non-Executive Director 
of DCLG, Chairman of 
Watkin Jones plc, Chairman 
of Bellpenny Ltd and 
Chairman of Titlestone Ltd. 
Grenville is also Vice 
Chairman of the English 
National Ballet. He was 
formerly the Chief 
Executive and Chairman 
of Countrywide plc 
and Chief Executive of 
Intelligent Finance. 
He previously served as 
a Director of St James’s 
Place plc, Sainsbury’s 
Bank  plc and Rightmove 
plc. Grenville qualified 
as a Chartered Banker 
and holds an MBA from 
Cranfield Business School.

Appointment date

Experience

Committee membership
RRNA NA A N R A N R A N R
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

Promoting and upholding the highest 
standards of corporate governance

The Board confirms that it has applied all of 
the principles of the Governance Code with 
the following exception:

Provision B.1.2 of the Governance Code 
recommends that at least half of the board 
of directors of a UK listed company, excluding 
the chairman, should comprise non-executive 
directors determined by the board to be 
independent in character and judgement 
and free from relationships or circumstances 
which may affect, or could appear to affect, 
the directors’ judgement. The Board is currently 
comprised of a Non-Executive Chairman 
and nine other Directors, of whom four 
are considered to be wholly independent. 
Therefore, the Company does not currently 
fully comply with the requirements of the 
Governance Code. 

Despite this, the Board believes that there 
was an appropriate combination of Directors 
on the Board with a broad and diverse spread 
of knowledge and experience, commensurate 
with the size of the Company and such that 
no individual or small group of individuals 
dominated the Board’s decision taking. The 
Board intends to explore avenues to resolve 
this one remaining non-compliance issue in 
the next financial year. 

The Company’s auditor is required to review 
whether the above statement reflects the 
Company’s compliance with the Governance 
Code specified for its review by the Listing 
Rules and to report where the above does 
not reflect such compliance. The Company’s 
auditor has made no such report.

The role of the Board
The Board is collectively responsible for 
the long-term success of the Company and 
provides leadership to the Group. It sets 
the Group’s strategic aims and ensures the 
necessary financial and human resources are 
in place for the Group to meet its objectives. 
It is responsible for the conduct of the Group’s 
business and development and reviews the 
performance of the Executive Management 
Team. The Board is also collectively responsible 
for ensuring that a thorough system of internal 
control and risk management (including 
financial, operational and compliance controls 
and for reviewing the overall effectiveness 
of the existing systems) is in place and for 
the approval of any changes to the capital, 
corporate and/or management structure of 
the Group. The Board met seven times this 
year to discuss various matters relating to the 
business of the Company and in relation to 
the acquisition of Property Software Group.

There is a formal schedule of matters reserved 
for the Board’s approval whilst it has delegated 
other specific responsibilities to its Committees. 
The following schedule sets out key aspects 
of the affairs of the Company which the 
Board does not delegate. These have not 
changed from last year and include:

• responsibility for the overall management 
of the Group;

• approval of the Group’s business strategy 
and objectives, budgets and forecasts and 
any material changes to them;

• monitoring the delivery of the Group’s 
business strategy and objectives and 
responsibility for any necessary 
corrective action;

• oversight of operations, ensuring adequate 
systems of internal controls and risk 
management are in place, ensuring 
maintenance of accounting and other 
records and ensuring compliance with 
statutory and regulatory obligations;

• approval of any extension of the Group’s 
activities or any decision to cease to 
operate any material part of the 
Group’s business;

• approval of any changes relating to the 
Group’s capital structure and material 
changes to the Group’s management 
and control structure;

• approval of the financial statements, 
Annual Report and Accounts, material 
contracts and major projects;

• approval of the dividend policy;

• ensuring a sound system of internal 
control and risk management;

• approval of any major capital project;

• approval of communications with 
shareholders and the market;

• determining changes to structure, size 
and composition of the Board;

• determining remuneration policy for the 
Directors and Executive Management Team 
and approval of the remuneration of the 
Non-Executive Directors; and

• approval of all major policies within 
the Group, including the share dealing, 
anti-bribery and health and safety policies. 

Compliance with the UK 
Corporate Governance Code 
The Board is committed to 
promoting and upholding the 
highest standards of corporate 
governance as it believes that 
this enables the accomplishment 
of the Group’s mission and 
strategy, whilst providing 
information and transparency 
to shareholders. 

This Corporate Governance Report, which 
incorporates reports from the Audit and 
Nomination Committees on pages 48 to 53 
together with the Strategic report on pages 
02 to 39, the Directors’ remuneration report 
on pages 54 to 71 and the Directors’ report on 
pages 72 to 74, explains how the Company 
complies with the UK Corporate Governance 
Code (“the Governance Code”) and the 
Financial Conduct Authority’s Listing Rules 
and Disclosure and Transparency Rules 
throughout the year. 

For the year ended 30 September 2016, the 
Company was subject to the edition of the 
Governance Code published by the Financial 
Reporting Council in September 2014, which 
can be found at www.frc.org.uk.

A new version of the Governance Code was 
published in April 2016 and applies to financial 
years beginning on or after 17 June 2016. 
Nonetheless, the Company has applied the 
principles of the new version of the Governance 
Code from June 2016, which can be found 
at www.frc.org.uk.
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All Directors have access to the advice and 
services of the Company Secretary, who has 
responsibility for ensuring compliance with the 
Board’s procedures. The Company Secretary 
ensures that there is a good information flow 
between the Executive Management Team 
and the Non-Executive Directors. The Company 
Secretary is responsible for advising the 
Board on governance matters. Each of the 
Directors have the right to have their opposition 
to, or concerns over, any Board decision noted 
in the minutes. 

Directors may take independent professional 
advice at the Company’s expense in the 
performance of their duties and the Board 
Committees are provided with sufficient 
resources to undertake their duties.

Board composition
The Board consists of a Non-Executive 
Chairman, four independent Non-Executive 
Directors, three Non-Executive Directors and 
two Executive Directors. Short biographies 
of all members of the Board appear on 
pages 42 and 43. The Board is satisfied that, 
between the Directors, it has an effective 
and appropriate balance of independence, 
knowledge of the Company, diverse skills 
and experience, including (without limitation) 
in the areas of retailing, finance, international 
trading operations, e-commerce, digital media 
and marketing, in order to enable it to discharge 
its duties and responsibilities effectively. 

Board Committees
The Board delegates a set of defined 
responsibilities and decision-making authority 
to the Nomination, Remuneration and Audit 
Committees so that it can devote its time 
efficiently and resourcefully to any relevant 
matters reserved for the Board. 

The composition of each Committee is compliant 
with the Governance Code and each Committee 
operates with written terms of reference, all 
of which are available on the Group’s corporate 
website, www.zpg.co.uk, and isolated reports 
for each Committee are included in this 
Annual Report from pages 48 to 71.

The Role of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
There is a clear division of responsibilities at the head of the Company between the running 
of the Board and the running of the Group’s business. The Board is chaired by Mike Evans, 
who was independent on appointment in May 2014.

Mike is responsible for the effective leadership of the Board, having regard to the interests of 
all stakeholders and promoting high standards of corporate governance. On the other hand, 
Alex Chesterman, the Chief Executive Officer, is responsible for implementing the Board’s strategy, 
overseeing the day-to-day management of the Group and leading the Executive Management Team. 

The two roles are different and distinct from one another. The division of responsibilities 
between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer is clearly established to ensure that 
no single position holds unfettered powers of decision-making. These divisions have been 
established by the Board and are set out in writing, including the following: 

THE ROLE OF THE CHAIRMAN
• To run the Board effectively by 

ensuring meetings are held with 
appropriate frequency.

• To ensure the frequency and depth 
of evaluation of the performance 
of the Board and its Committees 
is in compliance with best practice.

• To chair the Nomination Committee, 
to lead the process for Board 
appointments and to identify 
and recommend candidates 
for the approval of the Board.

• To promote a culture of openness and 
debate, in particular by facilitating the 
effective contribution of Non-Executive 
Directors and ensuring constructive 
relations between Executive and 
Non-Executive Directors.

• To hold meetings with the 
Non-Executive Directors without 
Executive Directors or Senior 
Management present.

• To ensure that shareholders’ views 
are communicated to the Board as 
a whole so that all Directors develop 
an understanding of their views.

THE ROLE OF THE CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER
• To manage the Group on a day-to-day 

basis within the authority delegated 
by the Board.

• To ensure, with the Executive 
Management Team, that Board 
decisions are implemented effectively.

• To develop and propose Group 
strategy, annual plans and 
commercial objectives  
to the Board. 

The role of the Senior Independent Director
Provision A.4.1 of the Governance Code provides that the Board should appoint one of the 
Independent Non-Executive Directors to the role of Senior Independent Director (SID) to 
provide a sounding board for the Chairman and to serve as an intermediary for the other 
Directors when necessary. 

Duncan Tatton-Brown has remained as the SID of the Board and is available to shareholders 
if they have concerns which the normal channels through the Chairman, the Chief Executive 
Officer or the other Executive Directors have failed to resolve or are inappropriate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CONTINUED

Length of appointments
Non-Executive appointments to the Board are for a period of up to three years, extendable 
by no more than two additional three-year periods.

Board & Committee attendance
Date of 

appointment Board
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration

 Committee
Nomination
 Committee

Total meetings 7 3 3 4

Alex Chesterman 23 April 2014 7/7 — — 4/4

Andy Botha 18 April 2016 3/3 — — —

Stephen Morana 23 April 2014 3/4 — — —

Mike Evans 1 May 2014 7/7 — 3/3 4/4

Duncan Tatton-Brown 1 May 2014 7/7 3/3 3/3 4/4

Sherry Coutu 1 May 2014 6/7 3/3 3/3 4/4

Robin Klein 1 May 2014 7/7 3/3 — 4/4

Grenville Turner 21 May 2014 6/7 — — —

David Dutton 21 May 2014 5/5 — 2/2 1 3/3 1

Stephen Daintith 21 May 2014 7/7 2/3 1 1/1 1 —

Kevin Beatty 1 July 2016 1/2 — — 0/1 1

Vin Murria 1 July 2015 7/7 3/3 2/3 —

1 Observer.

Independence of Non-Executive Directors
The Governance Code sets out the 
circumstances that should be relevant to 
the Board in determining whether each 
Non-Executive Director is independent. 
The Board has concluded that Duncan 
Tatton-Brown, Sherry Coutu, Robin Klein 
and Vin Murria were independent Directors 
throughout the period. Mike Evans was 
independent on appointment as Chairman 
and has remained independent throughout 
the period. 

Since the IPO in June 2014, the Company has 
had a relationship agreement (“the Relationship 
Agreement”) in place with its principal 
shareholder’s ultimate parent company, 
Daily Mail & General Trust plc. The main 
purpose of the Relationship Agreement is to 
ensure that the Company and its subsidiaries 
are capable of carrying on their business 
independently of Daily Mail & General Trust plc, 
that transactions and relationships with 
Daily Mail & General Trust plc are at arm’s 
length and on normal commercial terms, and 
that the goodwill, reputation and commercial 
interests of the Group are maintained.

Under the terms of the Relationship 
Agreement, Daily Mail & General Trust plc 
can appoint two Directors, providing it holds 
more than 25% of the votes exercisable at 
general meetings of the Company, and one 
Director, providing it holds more than 10% 
of those votes.

The Relationship Agreement will remain in force 
for so long as (a) the shares of the Company 
are listed on the premium listing segment of 
the Official List and (b) Daily Mail & General 
Trust plc or any of its associates together are 
entitled to exercise or to control the exercise 
of 10% or more of the votes which are generally 
exercisable at general meetings of the Company. 
The two Directors appointed by Daily Mail & 
General Trust plc are Stephen Daintith and 
Kevin Beatty (who was appointed on 1 July 
2016 following the retirement of David Dutton 
from Daily Mail & General Trust plc and his 
resignation from the Board).

The Company confirms that the terms of the 
Relationship Agreement have been fully 
complied with during the year.

The Board does not deem Grenville Turner to 
be independent given his historic relationship 
with Countrywide plc, a customer and previously 
a major shareholder in the Group. In April 2016, 
Grenville stepped down from his role as 
Non-Executive Chairman of Countrywide plc, 
having previously stepped down as its Chief 
Executive in September 2014. The Board 
intends to reassess his independence during 
the next financial year. 

Board operation
The Board met seven times last year to review 
the operational performance of the Company. 
At these meetings, the Board reviewed the 
Group’s long and short-term strategic direction 
and financial plans and monitored the Group’s 
performance against the agreed strategy 
and business plan. Due to the acquisition 
of Property Software Group, the Board met 
more often than the anticipated number of 
times for the year to make certain decisions 
relating to the transaction. At the end of a 
number of the Board meetings, the Chairman 
and the Non-Executive Directors met without 
the Executive Directors present to discuss the 
Executive Directors’ performance during the 
meetings and the quality of the papers and 
to air any concerns about the running of the 
business to ensure the ongoing effectiveness 
of the Board and its processes. 

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that 
the Directors receive accurate, timely and 
clear information. Prior to each scheduled 
Board meeting, a pack is circulated in respect 
of the corresponding financial period, which 
includes an update on key performance targets, 
investor relations and trading performance 
against budget as well as detailed financial 
data and analysis. 

It is the Board’s opinion that all the Non-Executive Directors, whether independent or not, 
constructively challenge and help develop proposals on strategy.

Board packs are distributed five working days 
prior to each meeting in accordance with the 
terms of reference to provide sufficient time 
for the Directors to review their papers in 
advance. If Directors are unable to attend 
a Board meeting for any reason, they 
nonetheless receive the relevant papers and 
are consulted prior to the meeting and their 
views are made known to the other Directors.

Conflicts of interest 
The duties to avoid potential conflicts and to 
disclose such situations for authorisation by 
the Board are the personal responsibility of 
each Director. All Directors are required to 
ensure that they keep these duties under 
review and to inform the Company Secretary 
on an ongoing basis of any change in their 
respective positions.

The Company’s conflict of interest procedures 
are reflected in its Articles of Association (“the 
Articles”). In line with the Companies Act 2006, 
the Articles allow the Directors to authorise 
conflicts and potential conflicts of interest, 
where appropriate. The decision to authorise 
a conflict can only be made by non-conflicted 
Directors. The Board considers conflicts or 
potential conflicts at each Board meeting.
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Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
The Articles require the Company to indemnify 
its officers, including officers of wholly owned 
subsidiaries, against liabilities arising from the 
conduct of the Group’s business, to the extent 
permitted by law. The Group has therefore 
purchased Directors’ and Officers’ liability 
insurance during the year. 

Board development
The Non-Executive Directors have all met key 
members of the Executive Management Team 
and advisers to the Company, many of whom 
have given presentations to the Board and 
Committee members during various Board and 
Committee meetings, in order to familiarise 
themselves with the Group. There was a 
scheduled timetable of presentations 
throughout the year, including an introduction 
to Property Software Group given by the 
Managing Director of the Property Services 
division which included various product 
demonstrations and a presentation on the 
strategy of the Company from the Group 
Strategy Director, and external regulatory 
lawyers provided a session to the Board 
on the Financial Conduct Authority’s 
compliance obligations. 

During the year, the Chairman reviewed and 
agreed with each Non-Executive Director 
their individual training and development 
needs. In addition, under the guidance of the 
Chairman, the Company Secretary established 
a formal induction training process for new 
Directors, who will receive an induction 
briefing from the Company Secretary on their 
duties and responsibilities as Directors of a 
publicly quoted company. For the induction 
of Andy Botha, he was provided with the 
constitutional documents of the Company, 
had one-on-one meetings with every member 
of the Executive Management Team and 
was also provided with key information 
on the business by various key employees. 
In addition to this, Andy also met with 
external advisers, investors and analysts. 

Board evaluation
In accordance with the provisions of the 
Governance Code, the Board carried out a 
formal and rigorous annual evaluation of its 
own performance and that of its Committees 
and individual Directors this year. The Board 
review was internally facilitated by the Chairman 
and involved numerous individual discussions 
with each of the Directors and the Company 
Secretary. The consensus view was that the 
Board and its Committees were operating 
effectively. The majority of the agreed actions 
from the previous year’s review had been 

completed, including the running of a well 
planned Strategy Day in March 2016, the 
regular update of succession and 
improvement in the flow of information.

The Governance Code provides that evaluation 
of the boards of FTSE 350 companies should 
be externally facilitated at least every three 
years. Therefore, the Chairman will be 
considering whether an equivalent review 
should be externally facilitated in the next 
financial year.

The SID, Duncan Tatton-Brown, together with 
the Independent Non-Executive Directors, 
evaluated the performance of the Chairman 
based upon input from other Board members.

Election of Directors
According to the Articles, the Board can 
appoint any person to be a Director, either to 
fill a vacancy or as an addition to the existing 
Board. Any Director so appointed by the 
Board shall hold office only until the next 
following AGM and shall then be eligible 
for election by the shareholders.

The Company’s next AGM will be held on 
2 February 2017. In accordance with the Articles, 
Andy Botha, who was appointed by the Board 
on 18 April 2016, and Kevin Beatty, who was 
appointed by Daily Mail & General Trust plc 
on 1 July 2016 to replace David Dutton, will 
be offering themselves for election at the 
forthcoming AGM. In addition, and in order 
to comply with the Governance Code, the 
remaining Directors will also be offering 
themselves for re-election. Full details are set 
out in the notice of meeting accompanying 
this Annual Report. 

As noted above, following the formal internal 
evaluation process of the effectiveness of the 
Board, the Board, including the Chairman, is 
satisfied that each Director remains competent 
to discharge his/her responsibilities as a 
member of the Board.

External appointments
At the time of his appointment as Chairman, 
the Board noted that Mike Evans was Chairman 
of Hargreaves Lansdown Plc, but the view 
was taken that this would not adversely 
impact his ability to carry out his role.

The Executive Directors may accept outside 
appointments provided that such appointments 
do not in any way prejudice their ability to 
perform their duties as Executive Directors 
of the Company.

Alex Chesterman is currently a Director of 
Devalink Limited, Hoopla Limited and Barcote 
Park Management Limited. These appointments 
are not deemed to adversely impact the 
Directors’ ability to carry out their roles. 

The Non-Executive Directors’ appointment 
letters anticipate a time commitment of 10 days 
per year, recognising that there is always the 
possibility of an additional time commitment 
and ad hoc matters arising from time to time, 
particularly when the Company is undergoing 
a period of increased activity. The average time 
commitment inevitably increases where a 
Non-Executive Director assumes additional 
responsibilities such as being appointed 
to a Board Committee.

Relations with shareholders
As part of its investor relations programme, 
the Executive Management Team maintained 
an active dialogue with its key stakeholders, 
including institutional investors, to discuss 
issues relating to the performance of the Group 
including strategy and new developments. 
The CEO and the CFO undertook an investors’ 
roadshow around the UK and the US in 
December 2015 and June 2016 and the 
Company held its first Capital Markets Day in 
September 2016 which was well attended and 
received overwhelmingly positive feedback. 
In this way, the Board was able to develop 
an understanding of the views of major 
shareholders about the Company. The 
Non-Executive Directors are always available 
to discuss any matter stakeholders might 
wish to raise.

Investor relations activity and a review of the 
share register form an active part of the Board’s 
agenda. The Chairman and the Non-Executive 
Directors have attended, and are available to 
attend, investor relations meetings and have 
the ability to request meetings with investors 
or analysts independent of the Group’s 
management, if required.

Tax strategy
The Group seeks to apply the spirit as well 
as the letter of the law with regards to UK tax 
legislation, believing that the Group should 
pay its fair share of tax on the profits arising 
from our success. Historically, the Group has 
always taken a conservative approach to tax 
planning and strategy. No effective tax rate 
target is set by the Board and the Group 
have no motive to enter into tax mitigation 
arrangements that could be considered as 
abusive in the current climate. One of our 
growth mechanisms is through acquisitions, 
meaning that ‘acquisition-based’ tax advice 
is of regular occurrence.
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Dear Shareholder
I am pleased to present the Audit Committee 
report for the year. 
There were no changes to the composition of the Audit Committee 
from last year and Stephen Daintith continues to attend each 
meeting as an observer. Each member is still considered to possess 
up-to-date and appropriate financial or accounting experience and 
continues to be independent for the purposes of the Governance 
Code. Biographies of the members of the Audit Committee are set 
out on pages 42 to 43.

The Audit Committee met three times at appropriate times in the 
reporting and auditing cycle this year. The attendance at each 
meeting is disclosed on page 46.

The Audit Committee plays a key role in ensuring the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal controls and risk management process. 
Under its terms of reference, which remain unchanged from last 
year, the Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its financial 
oversight and audit responsibilities by:

• monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements; 

• reviewing significant financial returns to regulators and any 
significant financial information contained in other documents; 

• considering annually whether there should be an internal audit 
function and making a recommendation to the Board;

• considering and making recommendations to the Board on the 
appointment, re-appointment, resignation or removal of the 
Group’s external auditor, to be put to shareholders for approval;

• overseeing the selection process for and relationship with 
external auditors; and

• reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal financial controls and internal control and risk 
management systems. 

We carried out an evaluation of the performance of the Audit 
Committee this year which concluded that it maintained its 
independence and created constructive challenges, and it 
adequately covered financial reporting and judgements, risk 
management and compliance requirements.

This report describes the key tasks undertaken by the Audit 
Committee, its major areas of activity and how it discharged its 
responsibilities during the 2016 financial year, with reference to 
the requirements of the Governance Code. It sets out how the 
Audit Committee assessed external audit effectiveness and 
safeguards in relation to the provision of non-audit services 
by the Company’s auditor and it states the significant issues 
that the Audit Committee considered in relation to the financial 
statements, and how these issues were addressed.

I look forward to meeting with you at the Annual General Meeting 
in February to answer any further questions you may have about 
the work of the Audit Committee.

Duncan Tatton-Brown
Chairman, Audit Committee

Audit Committee Chairman’s statement

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee plays 
a key role in ensuring the 
effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal controls 
and risk management process.
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Composition of the Audit Committee
There was no change to the composition 
of the Audit Committee during the year. 

The Audit Committee comprises four 
Independent Non-Executive Directors. 
It is chaired by Duncan Tatton-Brown, the 
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director, 
and its other members are Sherry Coutu, 
Vin Murria and Robin Klein. Stephen Daintith 
continues to attend the meetings of the 
Audit Committee as an observer appointed 
by Daily Mail & General Trust plc.

The Audit Committee complied with provision 
C.3.1 of the Governance Code throughout 
the year, which recommends that an audit 
committee should comprise of at least 
three independent non-executive directors. 
In addition to this, the provision requires at 
least one member of the Audit Committee to 
have recent and relevant financial experience. 
The Board considers that, by virtue of his current 
and former executive and non-executive roles, 
details of which are set out on page 42, 
Duncan Tatton-Brown possesses recent and 
relevant financial experience to comply with 
the requirements of the Governance Code. 
The Board also considers that the Audit 
Committee as a whole has competence 
relevant to the digital media, software, 
comparison and property sectors in which 
the Company operates.

The attendance of each member at the Audit 
Committee meetings is shown on page 46. 
The Chairman of the Company, the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer 
attend meetings of the Audit Committee by 
invitation, as do Deloitte LLP, the Company’s 
external auditor, and other members of 
Management or the Board as appropriate.

The Company considers that the attendance 
of an observer at the Audit Committee meetings 
will not prejudice the independence or proper 
functioning of the Audit Committee. 

Roles and responsibilities
The Audit Committee assists the Board in 
discharging its responsibilities with regard to 
financial reporting and monitors the integrity 
of the financial statements of the Company 
and any formal announcements relating to 
the Group’s financial performance, reviewing 
any significant financial reporting judgements 
contained in them.

It also reviews the Group’s internal financial 
controls and internal control and risk management 
systems and assists the Board in discharging 
its responsibilities with regard to internal 
audit (including considering annually whether 
there should be an internal audit function). 

The Audit Committee reviews and approves 
the annual audit plan and ensures that it 
is consistent with the scope of the audit 
engagement, reviewing and monitoring 
the extent of the non-audit work undertaken 
by the external auditor, advising on the 
appointment of the external auditor, overseeing 
the Group’s relationship with its external auditor 
and reviewing the effectiveness of the external 
audit process. It also reviews and monitors the 
external auditor’s independence and objectivity.

The ultimate responsibility for reviewing and 
approving the Annual Report and Accounts 
and the half-yearly reports remains with the 
Board. The Audit Committee will give due 
consideration to laws and regulations, the 
provisions of the Governance Code and the 
requirements of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee reviews the content of 
the Annual Report and Accounts and advises 
the Board on whether, taken as a whole, it is 
fair, balanced and understandable and provides 
the information necessary for shareholders 
to assess the Group’s performance, business 
model and strategy.

Full reports and updates are provided to the 
Board throughout the year on how the Audit 
Committee has discharged its responsibilities.

The full Audit Committee terms of reference 
are available on the Group’s corporate 
website at www.zpg.co.uk. 

Activities of the Audit Committee
At each Audit Committee meeting throughout 
the year, the Audit Committee received a risk 
update from the business to comply with the 
Governance Code. 

The Audit Committee met on 19 November 2015 
to discuss the full year results for 2015, a risk 
management and internal audit update, a 
review by the Company’s auditor and the 
viability statement to be included in the 
Annual Report. 

In May 2016, the Audit Committee reviewed 
the Group’s half-year results, the uSwitch 
earnout, a cyber-security and data protection 
review, the results of a uSwitch risk workshop 
and a regulatory update.

On 12 July 2016, the Audit Committee met 
to consider the auditor’s 2016 audit plan, 
the Audit Committee’s evaluation results, 
the integration plan of the Property Software 
Group business following the completion of the 
acquisition, a risk management and internal 
audit update and an Annual Report plan.

On 24 November 2016, the Audit Committee 
reviewed and approved for consideration by 

the Board the financial results for the financial 
year ended 30 September 2016. As part 
of that review process, the members of the 
Audit Committee reviewed the Annual Report, 
the adequacy of the disclosure with respect 
to reporting on a going concern basis and the 
viability statement, and whether the Annual 
Report taken as a whole was fair, balanced 
and understandable. The Audit Committee 
received advice from external advisers during 
the drafting process in order to assist the 
Board in determining that the report is fair, 
balanced and understandable at the time that 
it was approved. The Committee considered 
the appropriateness of preparing the accounts on 
a going concern basis, including consideration 
of forecast plans and supporting assumptions 
and concluded that the Company’s financial 
position was such that it continued to be 
appropriate for accounts to be prepared on a 
going concern basis. The Company’s viability 
statement can be found on page 29.

Significant issues considered in relation 
to the financial statements
The Committee, together with Management 
and the Group’s external auditor, considered 
the following significant matters in relation 
to the financial statements and how these 
were addressed.

Revenue recognition
The Group’s revenue recognition is limited in 
complexity; however, as the Group continues 
to expand its product offering the level of 
judgement will inherently increase. 

For the Property Services division the majority 
of revenue relates to recurring subscriptions 
which are predictable in nature and invoiced 
monthly. However, the division operates a 
large volume of agreements, with varying 
terms, which may include differences in the 
timing of the billing of subscription fees and 
the actual subscription period. The acquisition 
of Property Software Group has introduced 
additional revenue streams and judgement 
is required in determining the fair value of 
multiple contractual obligations, principally 
the allocation of revenue to be recognised 
on installation/set-up and that which relates 
to ongoing services. 

Revenue recognition for the Comparison 
Services division is recognised at the point 
at which a transaction on the Group’s website 
is completed. An element of Management 
judgement is required in calculating a revenue 
accrual, which estimates the number of 
successful switches in the period between 
the last date of billing and the latest provider 
data being made available.
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Significant issues considered in relation 
to the financial statements continued
Revenue recognition continued
For both divisions there is a risk that revenues 
may not be recorded in the correct accounting 
period. Management has discussed the 
composition and the recognition principles 
of each revenue stream and the controls 
thereon with the Committee during the year. 
The Committee is satisfied that no material 
issues have been identified or arisen. 

Furthermore, revenue recognition was an area 
of focus for the Group’s external auditor during 
the audit. The external auditor reported on their 
work auditing the Group’s revenue streams. 
This work included reviewing streams in the 
Property Services division on a month-by-month 
basis for anomalies and detailed testing over 
the revenue balance, including the impact 
of the Property Software Group. For revenue 
streams in the Comparison Services division, 
the auditor’s work was particularly focused 
on the judgemental year end revenue accrual 
where historical experience is used as a basis 
for estimating the likely value of switches 
to be confirmed by third parties.

The acquisition of Property Software Group
On 28 April 2016 the Group completed its 
acquisition of Property Software Group. 
The process of determining the fair value of 
assets and liabilities acquired is inherently 
judgemental and there is a risk that inappropriate 
methodologies or assumptions could lead to 
the valuation of acquired intangibles, goodwill 
or the fair value of other net assets acquired 
being misstated. 

The Committee has reviewed the disclosure 
in the financial statements in relation to the 
acquisition and has discussed the accounting 
for the transaction and the valuation of 
intangibles and other assets with both 
Management and the Group’s external auditor. 
The Committee notes that the Group engaged 
a third party valuations specialist to assist with 
the purchase price allocation exercise, however, 
certain inputs into the model, including forecast 
cash flows, are prepared by Management. 
The Committee is satisfied that the judgements 
and estimates made by Management are 
appropriate and that these assumptions have 
been subject to sufficient review by the 
Group’s external auditor.

Impairment of goodwill and intangibles
The Group holds a significant amount of 
goodwill and intangible assets on the Statement 
of financial position as a result of acquisitions. 
These assets are subject to an annual impairment 
review, which requires an estimation of the 
recoverable value. The Committee has reviewed 
the assumptions used by Management in its 
impairment assessment and the available 
headroom for each cash generating unit and 
is comfortable that these assets are not impaired.

Assessment of effectiveness 
of the external audit process
The Audit Committee oversees the relationship 
with the external auditor, Deloitte LLP. Deloitte 
attends meetings of the Audit Committee by 
invitation and remains in constant communication 
with members of the Audit Committee, as 
well as the Executive Directors and other 
members of the Board as appropriate. 

The Audit Committee also makes 
recommendations to the Board, for it to put to 
the shareholders for their approval at the AGM, 
in relation to the appointment of the external 
auditor and to approve the remuneration and 
terms of engagement of the external auditor. As 
part of this responsibility, the Audit Committee 
approved the audit plan for the year ended 
30 September 2016 and reviewed the auditor’s 
findings and Management representation letters. 
Prior to recommending the appointment of 
Deloitte at the forthcoming AGM to the Board, 
the Audit Committee reviewed the external 
audit process, the performance of the auditor 
and its ongoing independence, objectivity and 
effectiveness, taking into account input from 
Management, responses to questions from 
the Audit Committee and the audit findings 
reported to the Committee.

Based on this review, the Audit Committee 
concluded that the external audit process had 
been run efficiently and that Deloitte LLP has 
remained effective in its role as external auditor.

Approach to appointing the external 
auditor and how objectivity and 
independence are safeguarded 
The Group’s current auditor is Deloitte LLP. 
Deloitte LLP was appointed as the Group’s 
auditor in 2012. The Audit Committee notes 
that FTSE 250 companies should put the 
audit out to tender at least every 10 years. 
To avoid significant disruption, the Financial 
Reporting Council has provided details of 
transitional arrangements which would mean 
that as Deloitte became the auditor after 
2000, the Company would not need to 
undertake a tender review until 2023.

As stated in last year’s report, the Committee 
has adopted a policy covering the independence 
of the external auditor consistent with the 
ethical standards published by the Audit 
Practices Board and the engagement of the 
external auditor for the provision of non-audit 
services. This policy is available on the 
Group’s website.

The policies above highlight the Committee’s 
preference to engage with parties other than 
the external auditor, with regards to non-audit 
services, unless there is a considerable benefit 
to doing so and any activity is within the 
restrictions of all relevant legislation and 
ethical standards.

In accordance with proper standards, external 
auditors are required to adhere to a rotation 
policy whereby the audit engagement partner 
is rotated after five years. The previous audit 
engagement partner was appointed in 2012 but, 
due to his previous role as the audit engagement 
partner for certain of the Company’s significant 
operations, could serve as the audit engagement 
partner for only two years after the Group 
became listed. Therefore, in accordance with 
independence requirements, a new audit 
engagement partner was appointed for this 
financial year. The Chairman of the Audit 
Committee met with the new engagement 
partner on a regular basis throughout 
the year.

The Audit Committee has authority to take 
independent advice as it deems appropriate 
in order to resolve issues on auditor 
independence. No such advice has been 
required to date.

The external auditor is also required periodically 
to assess whether, in its professional opinion, 
it is independent and those views are shared 
with the Audit Committee. It was concluded 
that the external auditor assessed itself 
to be independent. 

The Committee confirms it is in compliance 
with the provisions of the Statutory Audit 
Services for Large Companies Market 
Investigation Order 2014.

Independence assessment 
by the Audit Committee
Based on the fact that the auditor and audit 
engagement partner rotation policy has been 
complied with, the Audit Committee is satisfied 
that the independence of the external auditor 
is not impaired. Furthermore, the level of fees 
paid for non-audit services does not jeopardise 
its independence. Audit and non-audit fees are 
set out in Note 5 to the financial statements.

The Audit Committee noted that the auditor 
has not provided any non-audit services, 
other than the interim financial review, during 
the period.

The Committee has assessed the performance 
and independence of the external auditor and 
recommended to the Board the re-appointment 
of Deloitte LLP as auditor until the conclusion 
of the AGM in 2018.

Internal audit
Provision C.3.6 of the Governance Code 
states that where there is no internal audit 
function within a company, the Audit 
Committee should consider annually whether 
there is a need for an internal audit function 
and make a recommendation to the Board, 
with the reasons for the absence of such a 
function to be explained. Last year, the Audit 
Committee recommended to the Board that 
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it was not necessary to appoint a permanent 
internal audit function but, rather, there should 
be a focus on specific areas supplemented 
with ad hoc reviews. This recommendation 
has not changed. During the year the Group 
has continued to perform ad hoc reviews and 
has worked with third parties to bring in 
independent specialist expertise to review a 
number of areas including revenue recognition, 
as a key accounting judgement particularly 
following a number of acquisitions, and 
cyber-security. It is expected that Management 
will continue to work with third parties, where 
appropriate, to both identify and mitigate risk.

The Audit Committee based its decision on 
several factors including a clear business model 
with a reasonably simple Group structure, 
single country focus, an open and accountable 
culture with clear authority limits and the 
assurance gained from Management reports, 
third parties and the external auditor. 

The Audit Committee will continue to work 
closely with the external auditor to review 
its internal audit processes and assess the 
need for a permanent internal audit function 
going forward.

Internal control and risk management
The Board is responsible for the overall system 
of internal controls for the Group and for 
reviewing its effectiveness. In accordance with 
the FRC Internal Control: Guidance to Directors 
publication, it carries out a review of its 
suitability and effectiveness at least annually, 
covering all material controls including financial, 
operational and compliance controls and risk 
management systems.

This year, the Group carried out a risk 
management workshop with key members of 
Management and the Leadership Team. This 
involved rigorous scrutiny over a list of risks 
to the Group and identifying the principal risks 
to the business. The relevant key individuals 
contributed to the discussions involving these 
risks and the extensive feedback collected 
from the workshop was provided to the Audit 
Committee for consideration and review. 
Further details of risk management frameworks 
and specific material risks and uncertainties 
facing the business can be found on 
pages 24 to 29. 

The system of internal controls is designed to 
manage and diminish rather than eliminate 
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives 
and can only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

The Group has operating policies and controls 
in place covering a range of issues including 
financial reporting, capital expenditure, business 
continuity and information technology and 
appropriate employee policies. These policies 

are designed to ensure the accuracy and 
reliability of financial reporting and govern 
the preparation of financial statements. The 
Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s 
system of internal controls and risk management 
and discharges its duties in this area by:

• holding regular Board meetings to consider 
the matters reserved for its consideration;

• receiving regular Management reports 
which provide an assessment of key risks 
and controls; 

• scheduling annual Board reviews of 
strategy including reviews of the material 
risks and uncertainties facing the business;

• ensuring there is a clear organisational 
structure with defined responsibilities 
and levels of authority;

• ensuring there are documented policies 
and procedures in place; and

• scheduling regular Board reviews of financial 
budgets, forecasts and covenants with 
performance reported to the Board monthly.

In reviewing the effectiveness of the system 
of internal controls, the Audit Committee 
carries out the following duties:

• review the risk register compiled and 
maintained by Management within 
the Group and question and challenge 
where necessary; 

• regularly review the system of financial 
and accounting controls; and

• report to the Board on the risk and control 
culture within the Group.

In respect of the Group’s financial reporting, 
the finance department is responsible for 
preparing the Group financial statements 
using a well established consolidation process 
and ensuring that accounting policies are 
in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. All financial information 
published by the Group is subject to 
recommendation by the Audit Committee 
to the Board for approval.

As part of the Property Software Group 
acquisition the Group has integrated the 
Property Software Group financial reporting 
process into the Group’s reporting process. 
This phase of integration was undertaken 
following completion of the Property Software 
Group acquisition and ensures that Group 
management accounts are generated in a 
timely manner. The integration of uSwitch’s 
financial reporting process into the Group’s 
reporting process following the acquisition 
last year has now completed. 

There have been no changes in the Group’s 
internal control during the financial year 
under review that have materially affected, 
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, 
the Group’s control over financial reporting.

The Board, with advice from the Audit 
Committee, is satisfied that an effective system 
of internal controls and risk management is 
in place which enables the Group to identify, 
evaluate and manage key risks and which 
accord with the guidance provided by the 
FRC Internal Control: Guidance to Directors. 
These processes have been in place since the 
start of the financial year and up to the date 
of approval of the accounts. 

Whistleblowing
The Group has in place a whistleblowing policy, 
the “Speak-Up Policy”, which encourages 
employees to report any malpractice or illegal 
acts or omissions or matters of similar concern 
by other employees or former employees, 
contractors, suppliers or advisers using a 
prescribed reporting procedure. The policy 
facilitates the reporting of any ethical 
wrongdoing or malpractice or suspicion 
which may constitute ethical wrongdoing 
or malpractice. 

Examples include bribery, corruption, fraud, 
dishonesty and illegal practices which may 
endanger employees or third parties. There 
have been no instances of whistleblowing 
during the year under review.

Control environment
The Board is committed to business 
integrity, high ethical and moral values 
and professionalism in all its activities. 
The Group has policies in place for:

• anti-bribery and corruption;

• working with third parties; 

• gifts and entertainment; and

• share dealing.

Accountability
The Board is required to present a fair, balanced 
and understandable assessment of the 
Company’s financial position and prospects. 
The responsibilities of the Directors and 
external auditor are set out on pages 75 and 
80. As set out in the Directors’ report, the 
Directors consider the Company’s business to 
be a going concern. The Company’s viability 
statement can be found on page 29.

Duncan Tatton-Brown
Chairman, Audit Committee
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Chairman’s introduction

NOMINATION COMMITTEE REPORT

Dear Shareholder
The Nomination Committee is 
responsible for leading the process 
of Board appointments and making 
recommendations to the Board. This 
year, amongst other activities, it was 
involved with finding a replacement 
Chief Financial Officer, which led 
to Andy Botha’s appointment.
The Nomination Committee has worked diligently 
to keep under review the balance of skills, knowledge 
and experience on the Board to ensure the orderly 
evolution of the membership of the Board and to make 
recommendations to the Board on composition and 
balance. The Nomination Committee has been proactive 
in discharging these responsibilities, cognisant of the 
importance of succession planning and the need to align 
Board and Executive leadership skills to the Group’s 
long-term strategy.

In this report, I explain how the Nomination Committee 
has discharged its responsibilities in greater detail. 

Under its terms of reference, the Nomination Committee 
is required to meet at least twice during each year at 
appropriate times in the reporting and auditing cycle. 
The Nomination Committee followed the terms and 
met four times during the year.

Mike Evans
Chairman, Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee 
has worked diligently to 
keep under review the 
balance of skills, knowledge 
and experience on 
the Board.
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Composition
The Nomination Committee is chaired 
by Mike Evans and its other members are 
Alex Chesterman, Sherry Coutu, Robin Klein 
and Duncan Tatton-Brown. David Dutton 
stepped down from the board of Daily Mail 
& General Trust plc in June 2016 and so no 
longer attends as an observer appointed by 
Daily Mail & General Trust plc. Daily Mail & 
General Trust plc nominated Kevin Beatty 
to be appointed to the Board of the Company 
as one of the two Daily Mail & General Trust 
plc nominated Directors with effect from 
1 July 2016 and Kevin is an observer on 
the Nomination Committee. 

Provision B.2.1 of the Governance Code 
recommends that a majority of the Nomination 
Committee be Non-Executive Directors, 
independent in character and judgement and 
free from any relationship or circumstance 
which may, could or would be likely to, or 
appear to, affect their judgement. As such, 
the Board considers that the Company 
complies with the Governance Code in this 
respect. The Company considers that the 
attendance of an observer at Committee 
meetings will not prejudice the independence 
or proper functioning of the Committee.

Roles and responsibilities
The Nomination Committee assists the Board 
in discharging its responsibilities relating to 
the composition and make-up of the Board 
and any Committees of the Board. It leads the 
process of Board appointments and makes 
recommendations to the Board. 

The Nomination Committee is responsible for 
evaluating the balance of skills, knowledge 
and experience and the size, structure and 
composition of the Board and Committees 
of the Board. It considers retirements and 
appointments of additional, and replacement, 
Directors and Committee members and makes 
appropriate recommendations to the Board 
on such matters. It also ensures that membership 
of the Company’s Committees is continually 
refreshed and that undue reliance is not 
placed on any particular individuals. It is 
also responsible for appropriate succession 
planning for both the Board and Senior 
Management. The Nomination Committee has 
evaluated each Director and has recommended 
to the Board that there is an appropriate 
balance of skills, knowledge and experience 
within the Board and that the size, structure 
and composition of the Board and its 
Committees are appropriate.

In accordance with provision B.2.3 of the 
Governance Code, all Non-Executive Directors 
are appointed for three year terms subject to 
re-election and to statutory provisions relating 
to the removal of a director. Details of each 
Director’s appointment are set out in the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 71. 

The full terms of reference of the Nomination 
Committee are available on the Group’s 
website at www.zpg.co.uk.

Activities of the Nomination Committee
During the year, Stephen Morana indicated 
his intention to step down from the Board 
and the Nomination Committee was tasked 
with appointing a new Chief Financial Officer. 
The Nomination Committee used Renaissance 
Leadership Ltd, an external independent search 
firm with no connection to the Company, 
to conduct a broad search and nominate 
appropriately qualified candidates to replace 
Stephen for the approval of the Board. 
The Nomination Committee prepared a 
description of the role and detailed the 
capabilities required for the role. The procedure 
was formal, rigorous and transparent and the 
appointment was made on merit, against 
objective criteria and with due regard for 
the benefits of diversity. This led to the 
appointment of Andy Botha as the new 
Chief Financial Officer of the Group with 
effect from 18 April 2016. 

Succession planning
The Group has developed a sophisticated 
approach to succession planning within 
the Executive Directors and the Executive 
Management Team using performance and 
potential matrices. This material was presented 
to and considered by the Nomination 
Committee over the course of the year. 

The Senior Management of the Group has 
been strengthened following the integration 
of uSwitch and Property Software Group, 
facilitating the appointment during the 
year of the Group Strategy Director and 
the Managing Director of the Property 
Services division. 

Diversity
Whilst the Group pursues diversity, including 
gender diversity, throughout the business, 
and the Board endorses the aspirations of 
the Davies Review on Women on Boards, 
the Board is not committing to any specific 
targets. The Board consists of two female 
Directors (20% of the Board). However, 
the Nomination Committee will give due 
consideration to Board balance and diversity 
when making new appointments to the Board 
and recognises that a broadening of diversity 
also broadens the talent pool available for 
Board appointments. 

The Board will engage executive search firms 
who have signed up to the voluntary code of 
conduct setting out the seven key principles 
of best practice to abide by throughout the 
recruitment process and will continue to 
follow a policy of appointing talented people 
at every level to deliver high performance. 
The Board will also ensure that its own 
development in this area is consistent with 
its strategic objectives and enhances Board 
effectiveness. For further information on 
diversity within the Group, see the Our People 
and Corporate Social Responsibility section 
on page 38.

Mike Evans
Chairman, Nomination Committee
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Chairman’s introduction

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT

Dear Shareholder
As the Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee, I am pleased to present the 
Directors’ remuneration report covering 
the Remuneration Policy (“the Policy”) 
and the Annual report on remuneration 
for the year ended 30 September 2016.
Throughout the year the Group has continued to grow 
and develop its offering for both its consumers and 
partners, highlighted in particular by the acquisition of 
Property Software Group in May 2016 and the excellent 
performance of the Comparison Services division since 
the acquisition of uSwitch in the prior year. 

The Group has seen revenue increase by 84% compared 
to the prior year and strong growth in Adjusted EBITDA, 
increasing by 58% from the prior year as summarised 
on pages 30 to 34. 

On 1 October 2015 our Value Creation Plan was launched, 
which aligns the remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer 
directly with the generation of shareholder value. Since 
the launch of the scheme to 30 September 2016 the 
Group has seen Total Shareholder Return (TSR) growth 
of 50% representing over £460 million of value generated 
for shareholders. The performance of the Value Creation 
Plan as at 30 September 2016 is set out on page 68.

This year also saw a change in leadership with the Group’s 
CFO, Stephen Morana, stepping down and being replaced 
by Andy Botha, previously of notonthehighstreet.com 
and Betfair Plc. We welcome Andy to the Group and the 
experience that he brings. The Remuneration Committee 
has reviewed and approved the remuneration package 
for Andy and is comfortable that it has been considered 
within the limits of the Group’s existing Policy and meets 
the Committee’s objective to reward and incentivise the 
right behaviours and help drive the strategic objectives, 
KPIs and long-term growth of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee continues to review the 
Policy on an ongoing basis and is comfortable that it 
remains appropriate and effective heading into the 
2017 financial year. 

The Remuneration 
Committee continues 
to review the Policy on 
an ongoing basis and is 
comfortable that it remains 
appropriate and effective 
heading into the 2017 
financial year. 
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Changes to our Remuneration 
Policy during the year
No changes to the Policy approved 
on 1 October 2015 are being proposed 
at the Group’s next AGM. 

Remuneration Committee decisions 
made in the 2016 financial year
During the year the Committee made 
the following decisions:

• Implementation of the Value Creation Plan 
for the CEO from 1 October 2015 as outlined 
in the Policy.

• Review of the remuneration package for 
2016 for the Group’s new CFO, Andy Botha, 
as set out below. All benefits for 2016 have 
been provided on a pro-rata basis from 
the date of employment and are in line 
with the existing Executive Director policy:

• salary of £250,000 pa;

• pension contributions of up to 15% 
of salary;

• bonus of up to 100% of salary; and

• award under the Long Term Incentive 
Plan for 2016 of 125% of salary.

• The Committee considered the base 
salaries for the Executive Directors.

• During the course of the year, the 
business continued to grow and develop, 
including the acquisition of the Property 
Software Group expanding our services 
to provide the UK property industry’s 
first end-to-end solution for property 
professionals. The Committee awarded 
a salary rise to Alex for 2017 comprising 
an increase as part of the annual review 
in line with the budgeted average increase 
for employees of 5% and an increase to 
reflect the enlarged scope and complexity 
of our business. Alex’s new salary 
will be £510,000 (from £480,000, 
a 6.25% increase).

• Andy Botha joined the Group in 
April 2016 as our new CFO. As a new 
incumbent in the role, his salary was 
set at a conservative level against our 
target policy of median for the role 
against the FTSE 250. 

• The Committee awarded a salary rise 
to Andy for 2017 comprising an increase 
as part of the annual review in line with 
the budgeted average increase for 
employees of 5% and an increase to 
reflect his continued growth in the role 

as CFO. Andy’s new salary will be 
£275,000 (from £250,000, a 10.0% 
increase). Andy’s salary progression 
has been made in line with our Policy 
for new recruits, which is to bring the 
salary level in line with target policy as 
they become established in the role. 

• The new salaries remain below the 
median levels for the FTSE 250.

• Adjustment to the Annual Bonus Plan and 
the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) in 2017 
for the CFO to more closely align with the 
CEO. This reflects the Group’s desire to 
ensure that Andy’s total remuneration 
package is competitive with the market. 
For 2017, the maximum bonus potential 
for the CFO will therefore increase from 
100% to 125% of salary with the payout for 
on-target performance reduced from 75% 
to 60%. The value of the LTIP will increase 
from 125% to 150% of salary. 

• The Group’s former CFO, Stephen Morana, 
was considered as a good leaver for the 
Group’s Long Term Incentive Plan and 
Annual Bonus Plan. Stephen helped to 
conclude the Property Software Group 
acquisition, hire his replacement and meet 
the needs of the Group prior to his departure 
and the Committee therefore considered 
him to be a good leaver. 

• The fee of the Chairman of the Company 
was increased to £183,750 for 2017 (a rise 
in line with the budgeted increase for all 
employees of 5% from £175,000). See 
page 63 for the details of the changes to 
Non-Executive Director fees made by the 
Board. The increase in fees was made as a 
market adjustment to reflect benchmarking 
against the FTSE 250 in line with the 
Remuneration Policy.

• 2016 annual bonuses of 147% of salary for 
the CEO and 98% for the CFO (pro-rated 
to reflect mid-year commencement), 
recognising the strong financial performance 
of the Group and the personal performance 
of the Executive Directors over the year.

• 2016 awards under the ZPG LTIP for 
the CFO and key senior executives. Grant 
levels and performance targets for the 
LTIP are consistent with the normal award 
policy – further details of the awards for 
the CFO are on page 62.

Further details on how our Remuneration 
Policy will be applied in practice for the 2017 
financial year are set out on pages 62 to 63.

Key activities of the Committee
The Committee’s key activities during 
the 2016 financial year were:

• reviewing the Company’s Remuneration 
Policy following the Property Software 
Group acquisition;

• reviewing Executive Director base 
salary levels;

• making awards under the Company’s 
LTIP for Executive Directors and 
Senior Management;

• launch of the Company’s Value Creation 
Plan for the CEO; 

• reviewing the Group’s TSR performance 
and the performance of the Value 
Creation Plan;

• determining the level of bonus payments 
in respect of this financial year; and

• drafting the Company’s Directors’ 
remuneration report.

During the year Stephen Daintith joined the 
Remuneration Committee as an observer, 
with David Dutton stepping down. We thank 
David for his contribution and welcome 
Stephen to the Committee.

I hope that you find the information in this 
report helpful and I look forward to your 
continued support at the Company’s AGM.

Sherry Coutu
Chairman, Remuneration Committee

Note
This report has been prepared in accordance with Schedule 8 
to The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups 
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 as amended in 
2013, the provisions of the September 2014 UK Corporate 
Governance Code (“the Governance Code”) and the 
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Short-form report

Introduction
In this section, we summarise the purpose of our Remuneration Policy (“the Policy”) and its linkage 
to our corporate strategic objectives and we highlight the performance and remuneration outcomes 
for 2016. More detail can be found in the Annual report on remuneration.

Our principles of remuneration
• There should be a strong link between an individual’s reward and the performance of the Group to align the interests of Senior Management 

with those of shareholders.

• Variable remuneration makes up a significant proportion of the remuneration package.

• Stretching performance conditions directly aligned with Group strategy. The Group’s strategy is laid out on pages 14 to 15. The Group’s mission 
is to be the most useful resource for consumers when finding, moving or managing their home and the most effective partner for related businesses.

Group performance and link to remuneration 
The following table sets out a number of the Group’s KPIs and other objectives and how their satisfaction is encouraged by the Group’s Policy:

Other objectives

KPIs
Long-term

value creation
(encouraged

Plan Purpose Eligibility Revenue
Adjusted 

EBITDA
Adjusted 

EPS TSR
through equity 

retention)
Share 

ownership

Annual Bonus Plan To incentivise and 
reward short-term 
performance plus 
retention through 
deferral.

Executive Directors and 
Senior Management 
with mandatory 
deferral in shares. 
Other employees 
without deferral.

   

LTIP To incentivise and 
reward long-term 
performance.

Executive Directors and 
selected members of 
the Senior Management.

   

Value Creation Plan To retain the services  
of our highly 
entrepreneurial 
and creative CEO, 
incentivising him to 
deliver the strategy 
of the Company and 
significantly enhance 
shareholder value.

CEO.   

Share Incentive Plan To broaden share 
ownership and share 
in corporate success 
over the medium term.

All employees.  

Remuneration Policy
The Committee determines the Policy for the Executive Directors, the Chairman and other Senior Management for current and future years and 
this is reviewed on an annual basis. The Policy is designed to support the strategic objectives of the Group and to allow the business to recruit, 
retain and incentivise the quality of Senior Management needed to shape and execute our strategy to deliver sustained shareholder value over 
the long term.

The Policy aims to align the interests of the Executive Directors, Senior Management and employees to the long-term interests of shareholders 
and aims to support a high performance culture with appropriate reward for superior performance, without creating incentives that will encourage 
excessive risk taking or unsustainable performance. The Committee considers that a successful policy needs to be sufficiently flexible to take 
account of future changes in the Group’s business environment and in remuneration practice.

The Committee is satisfied that its approach to the Executive Directors’ remuneration is designed to promote the long-term success of the Group.
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The Remuneration Committee will review annually the remuneration arrangements for the Executive Directors and key Senior Management 
drawing on trends and adjustments made to all employees across the Group and taking into consideration the:

• business strategy over the period; 

• overall corporate performance; 

• market conditions affecting the Group; 

• changing practice in the markets where the Group competes for talent; and

• changing views of institutional shareholders and their representative bodies.

Statement of conditions elsewhere in the Group 
The remuneration policy for all employees is determined in terms of best practice and ensuring that the Group is able to attract and retain 
the best people. This principle is followed in the development of our Policy. However, employee views are not specifically sought in determining 
this Policy. The Group does not currently use any remuneration comparison metrics.

Salary and benefit packages are linked to both individual and business performance. All employees participate in bonus plans which, together 
with salary reviews linked to business performance, enable all employees to share in the success of the Group. All employees are eligible 
to participate in the SIP.

Summary of Remuneration Policy and its operation
A summary of the Policy and changes to its operation from the prior year are outlined below. The full Policy, as approved by shareholders on 1 October 2015, 
is available on the Group’s website at www.zpg.co.uk/investors/general-meetings.

ELEMENT OPERATION OF ELEMENT CHANGES IN OPERATION FROM 2015

Salary

Benefits

Pension

The Company provides competitive levels in line with comparator 
companies in the FTSE 250.

When determining an appropriate level of salary, 
the Committee considers:

• remuneration practices within the Group;

• the performance of the individual Executive Director;

• the individual Executive Director’s experience 
and responsibilities;

• the general performance of the Group;

• salaries within the ranges paid by the companies in the 
comparator group used for remuneration benchmarking;

• pay and conditions throughout the Group; and

• the economic environment.

In general salary rises to Executive Directors will be in line  
with the rise to employees.

Pension contributions are provided up to 15% of gross salary. 
The types of benefits provided are set out in the Policy.

None.

Annual Bonus Plan 50% of the bonus earned with respect to performance in the 
financial year will be paid in cash and 50% of the bonus earned 
will be deferred into Company shares which vest after three years 
based on continued employment.

The maximum opportunity for the CFO has been 
increased from 100% of salary to 125%. The bonus 
which can be earned for “target” performance 
has been reduced from 75% to 60%.

The new maximum bonus potential aligns 
the remuneration of the CFO more closely with 
the CEO and focuses on setting and achieving 
stretch levels of performance. Through reducing 
the amount of bonus paid for target performance 
the same percentage of salary opportunity for 
achieving target performance is retained from 
the prior year.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Short-form report continued

Summary of Remuneration Policy and its operation continued

ELEMENT OPERATION OF ELEMENT CHANGES FROM 2015

Long Term Incentive 
Plan (LTIP)

LTIP maximum grant is 200% of salary p.a.

Awards will vest at the end of three years subject 
to the achievement of:

• stretching EPS conditions which provide alignment to our 
core strategic priorities of increasing revenues through 
brand awareness, property data, product portfolio and 
the development of additional revenue streams; and

• TSR performance of the Company compared to the FTSE 250 
(excluding real estate and equity investment trusts), which 
provides alignment to the success of our business in delivering 
value to our shareholders compared to companies of a similar 
size and scale to the Company.

The LTIP contains clawback and malus provisions.

The maximum opportunity for the CFO has 
increased from 125% to 150% of salary in line 
with the Committee’s intention to drive stretch 
performance, through providing a greater 
proportion of the total remuneration opportunity 
via long term incentive pay which is linked 
to value generated for shareholders.

When making the change the Committee 
also assessed the overall level of remuneration 
opportunity for the CFO. The current package is 
below the targeted market position of the median 
level of opportunity for FTSE 250 CFOs. 

Value Creation Plan 
(VCP)

The CEO has been granted a conditional award giving him the 
potential right to earn Ordinary Shares of the Company equal 
to 3% of the total value created for shareholders above a hurdle 
over the four year performance period.

A minimum return of 8% p.a. has to be maintained over the VCP 
period or accrued nil-cost options will lapse. Where the hurdle of 
8% p.a. return has been achieved over the VCP performance period:

• a number of nil-cost options with a fixed value of £5 million 
will be earned for achieving the 8% p.a. return; and

• nil-cost options equal to 3% of the return generated above 8% p.a. 
will be earned (additional nil-cost options will only accrue once 
£5 million has been exceeded).

The maximum number of shares which can be earned under 
the VCP is 7.5 million.

The starting share price for the beginning of the VCP performance 
period is £2.19, being the 30 day average prior to the date of 
approval of the VCP by shareholders on 1 October 2015.

The VCP contains clawback and malus provisions.

None.

Minimum  
shareholding  
requirement

The Remuneration Committee has adopted formal shareholding 
guidelines that will encourage the Executive Directors to build up, 
over a five year period, and then subsequently hold a shareholding 
equivalent to a percentage of base salary (400% for the CEO, 
100% for other Executive Directors). 

None.

Chairman 
and NED fees

The fees for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are set 
at broadly the median of the comparator group.

In general the level of fee increase for the Chairman and 
Non-Executive Directors will be set taking account of any 
change in responsibility and will take into account the general  
rise in salaries across the UK workforce.

The Company will pay reasonable expenses incurred by the 
Chairman and Non-Executive Directors and may settle any tax 
incurred in relation to these.

None.
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Illustrations of the application of the Remuneration Policy
The chart below illustrates the remuneration that could be paid to each of the Executive Directors, based on salaries at the start of financial year 
2017, under three different performance scenarios: (i) minimum; (ii) on target; and (iii) maximum. The elements of remuneration have been 
categorised into four components: (i) fixed; (ii) annual bonus (including deferred bonus); (iii) LTIP; and (iv) Value Creation Plan.

Element Description Minimum On target Maximum

Fixed Salary, benefits and pension Included Included Included

Annual Bonus Plan Annual bonus  
(including deferred shares)

0% 60% of the maximum bonus 1 100% of the maximum bonus

Long Term Incentive Plan Award under the  
LTIP for the CFO

0% 62.5% of the maximum award 100% of the maximum award

Value Creation Plan Award under the  
VCP for the CEO

0% 50% of the average annual IFRS 2
 value of award 2

100% of the average annual 
IFRS 2 value of award 2

1 150% of salary for the Chief Executive Officer, 125% for the Chief Financial Officer.

2 The VCP is a one-off award with a four year period. The maximum value represents 100% of the average annual IFRS 2 value of the award, which is intended to give an estimate 
of the value of the award on grant.

In accordance with the regulations share price growth has not been included. For the purposes of this disclosure, dividend equivalents have not 
been added to deferred bonus and LTIP share awards.

 

1  The VCP is a one-off award with a four year period. The maximum value represents 100% of the average annual IFRS2 cost of the award.

Consideration of shareholder views
The Committee takes the views of the shareholders seriously and these views are taken into account in shaping remuneration policy and 
practice. The Committee consulted with its principal shareholders on the VCP and the proposed changes to the Directors’ Remuneration Policy 
prior to finalising the new proposals. 

The following table sets out the recent shareholder votes on remuneration:

Date For1 Against Withheld

Annual report on remuneration for 2015 25 February 2016 356,059,985 97.38% 9,588,263 2.62% 4,664,319

Remuneration Policy 1 October 2015 324,285,344 84.27% 60,532,694 15.73% 1,116,923

VCP 1 October 2015 324,482,509 84.08% 61,452,168 15.92% 284

1 Votes “For” included those votes giving the Chairman discretion. Votes were received in respect of 92.04% of the Company’s issued share capital for the Remuneration Policy, 92.30% 
for the VCP and 87.49% for the Annual report on remuneration for 2015.

The Annual report on remuneration will be subject to an advisory vote at the AGM on 2 February 2017. 

Chief Executive Officer
(Alex Chesterman)

Chief Financial Officer
(Andy Botha)

£0

£500,000

£1,000,000

£1,500,000

£2,000,000

£2,500,000

£3,000,000
VCP1
LTIP

Bonus
Fixed elements

On target Maximum

36% 24%

28%

36%

30%

46%

£1,627,791

£2,512,082

£590,500

Minimum

100%

On target Maximum

41% 30%

26%

33%
32%

38%£784,313

£1,076,500

£320,250

Minimum

100%
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

How we have performed and what level of bonus has been achieved
The table below outlines the key metrics for the Group and our performance this year. Revenue, Adjusted EBITDA and personal objectives 
are all performance criteria in assessing achievement under the Annual Bonus Plan. See page 65 for details.

Group KPI 2016 % of maximum bonus potential achieved

Revenue (£ million) 197.7 100%

Adjusted EBITDA (£ million) 77.1 100%

Adjusted EPS (pence per share) 12.7

Group visits (million) 606

Profit for the year (£ million) 36.7

FTEs 735

Personal objectives — 90% CEO and 90% for both CFOs

KPI definitions can be found on pages 21 to 23.

Full details of the Annual Bonus Plan targets and their level of satisfaction can be found on page 65.

No LTIP award was eligible to vest in this financial year as the first grants were made in August 2014.

Single total figure of remuneration for Executive Directors for the 2016 financial year
The following chart shows the single figure for the 2016 financial year compared to 2015. Full details of the single figure can be found on page 64. 

 

1 Stephen Morana resigned as a Director of ZPG on 15 April 2016 and was replaced by Andy Botha as CFO on 18 April 2016.

Short-form report continued
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Statement of Directors’ shareholdings as at 30 September 2016
The following chart summarises the current shareholding position of the Executive Directors. Full details can be found on page 69.

Implementation of the Policy in the 2017 financial year

ELEMENT OPERATION OF ELEMENT IN 2017

Salary

Benefits 

Pension

The salary for the CEO has increased from £480,000 by 6.25% to £510,000 and the salary for the CFO has increased from 
£250,000 by 10% to £275,000. The increase for the CEO was made as part of the annual review in line with the budgeted 
average increase for employees of 5% and an increase to reflect the enlarged scope and complexity of the business 
following the Property Software Group acquisition. The increase for the CFO reflects an adjustment as part of the annual 
review in line with employees and an increase in line with our Policy for new recruits, which is to bring the salary level in 
line with target policy as they become established in the role. 

The increase for the CFO is measured from the annualised salary of £250,000 effective at the date of appointment 
on 18 April 2016. 

The new salaries remain below the median levels for the roles in the FTSE 250. 

There are no proposed changes to benefits and pensions from the financial year ending 30 September 2016.

Fees for the Non-Executive Directors have also been reviewed resulting in an increase in the Board fee from £47,500 
to £50,000 per annum.

The fee for the Chairman was also reviewed resulting in an increase of 5% from £175,000 to £183,750 per annum. 
Both increased broadly in line with the level of increase for our employees and in line with the Remuneration Policy.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Short-form report continued

Implementation of the Policy in the 2017 financial year continued

ELEMENT OPERATION OF ELEMENT IN 2017

Annual Bonus Plan The maximum opportunity for the CEO is unchanged at 150% of salary. The bonus which can be earned for “target” 
performance is 60% of the maximum bonus for the CEO.

The maximum bonus opportunity for the CFO has been increased from 100% to 125% of salary (as part of the structure 
implemented for the new CFO, details and rationale outlined on page 57) with the “target” performance reducing from 
75% to 60% to align with the CEO bonus programme.

Operation of the plan:

• 50% of any bonus earned will be paid in cash; and

• 50% of any bonus earned will be paid in shares which vest after a further three years subject to the Executive 
Director’s continued employment.

Performance conditions for the 2017 financial year and their weighting are as follows:

• EBITDA (50%);

• revenue (30%); and

• personal strategic objectives (20%).

The details of the targets applicable to the bonus for the coming year are considered by the Committee to be commercially 
sensitive as they are the key metrics that are critical to the operation of the Company, so they have not been disclosed 
as the Committee feels it would be detrimental to the interests of the Company to do so. 

The Committee will provide full retrospective disclosure of the performance targets for the financial measures to allow 
shareholders to judge the bonus earned in the context of the performance delivered. The Committee believes that some 
of the personal objectives may continue to remain commercially sensitive. The outcomes of the 2016 bonus are provided 
on page 65.

Long Term Incentive 
Plan (LTIP)

The CEO is not granted awards under the LTIP, since the introduction of the VCP (below) on 1 October 2015.

The maximum opportunity for the CFO has increased to 150% from 125% of salary (as part of the structure implemented 
for the new CFO, details and rationale outlined on page 58) which he will be granted in respect of this award cycle.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the EPS target range for LTIP awards to be granted in 2017. It is the 
Committee’s view that the threshold level of EPS growth at 10% compound average growth rate remains appropriate. 
However, it is expected that the EPS growth rate will naturally slow as a result of the increased scale of the business 
following the recent acquisitions (and the different earnings models within these businesses). In order to ensure alignment 
with the Company’s business plan the Committee feels that the stretch EPS range should be reduced from 25% to 18% 
compound average growth rate. This level remains materially in excess of analysts’ expectations over the period and is 
consistent with our performance focused remuneration policy. The vesting earned at threshold performance has been 
maintained at 25%. There are no changes to the TSR performance targets.

Value Creation Plan 
(VCP)

The VCP for the current CEO will enter its second year since approval by shareholders on 1 October 2015. An update on 
the performance of the VCP is provided on page 68.

Share Incentive Plan 
(SIP)

Matching Shares will continue to be granted on a monthly basis for each Partnership Share purchased 
by an eligible employee.
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Non-Executive fees
The proposed annual fees for Non-Executive Directors for 2017 are set out below:

Annual fees 
2017 

Chairman 183,750

Board fee 50,000

Chairman of Remuneration Committee 10,000

Chairman of Audit Committee 10,000

Senior Independent Director 5,000

The proposed Chairman’s and Non-Executive Directors’ fees for 2017 are therefore:

Name
Fees
2017 

Mike Evans (Chairman, Chairman of the Nomination Committee) 183,750

David Dutton1 —

Duncan Tatton-Brown (Chairman of Audit Committee, Senior Independent Director) 65,000

Grenville Turner 50,000

Kevin Beatty1 —

Robin Klein 50,000

Sherry Coutu (Chairman of Remuneration Committee) 60,000

Stephen Daintith —

Vin Murria 50,000

1 David Dutton resigned from the Board on 30 June 2016 and was replaced by Kevin Beatty effective from 1 July 2016.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Annual report on remuneration

Introduction
The following report outlines how the Policy was implemented in 2016. 
Information included in the Annual report on remuneration is audited only where indicated.

Single total figure of remuneration (audited)
Executive Directors (audited)
The table below sets out the single total figure of remuneration and breakdown for each Executive Director in respect of the 2016 financial year. 
Comparative figures for the 2015 financial year have also been provided. Figures provided have been calculated in accordance with the Large 
and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 (Schedule 8 to the Regulations).

Single total figure of remuneration for Executive Directors for the 2016 financial year (audited)
Annual bonus 2 

Name Period
Salary 
£000

Benefits 1

£000
Cash 

£000 
Deferred 

£000 
LTIP

£000
Pension 3

£000
SIP 

£000
Total 

£000

Alex Chesterman
(Founder & CEO)

2016 480 4 353 353 — 72 2 1,264

2015 450 4 273 273 — 68 2 1,070

Andy Botha4

(Group CFO)
2016 114 2 56 56 — 17 — 245

2015 — — — — — — — —

Stephen Morana5,6

(Former Group CFO)
2016 178 3 170 — — 27 5 383

2015 300 3 146 145 — 45 2 641

1 The types of benefits provided are set out in our Remuneration Policy found at www.zpg.co.uk/investors/general-meetings.

2 50% of the annual bonus amount is deferred into nil-cost options, which vest three years from the date of grant. These options are expected to be granted in December 2016.  
The options are not subject to further performance criteria.

3 Pension contributions represent 15% of the respective salaries. The normal retirement age for each Executive Director is 67.

4 Andy Botha joined the Group on 18 April 2016. His salary, benefits and other awards have been made pro-rata for the financial year.

5 Stephen Morana left the Group on 15 April 2016. His salary, benefits and other awards have been made pro-rata for the financial year. 

6 Stephen Morana was a Non-Executive Director of boohoo.com plc throughout the period. Stephen receives and retains fees of £40,000 and share awards of £10,000 per annum 
in respect of this role. This amount has not been included in the single remuneration figure presented in the table.

Non-Executive Directors (audited)
The table below sets out the single total figure of remuneration and breakdown for each Non-Executive Director for the year from the date 
of their appointment. 

2016 2015

Fees
£000

Taxable
benefits

£000
Total

£000
Fees

£000

Taxable
benefits

£000
Total

£000 Roles

Mike Evans (Chairman) 175.0 — 175.0 150 — 150 Chairman,  
Chairman of Nomination Committee

David Dutton1 — — — — — — Non-Executive Director

Duncan Tatton-Brown 62.5 — 62.5 50 — 50 Senior Independent Director,  
Chairman of Audit Committee

Grenville Turner 47.5 — 47.5 40 — 40 Non-Executive Director

Kevin Beatty1 — — — — — — Non-Executive Director

Robin Klein 47.5 — 47.5 40 — 40 Non-Executive Director

Sherry Coutu 57.5 — 57.5 50 — 50 Chairman of Remuneration Committee

Stephen Daintith — — — — — — Non-Executive Director

Vin Murria 47.5 — 47.5 10 — 10 Non-Executive Director

1 David Dutton resigned from the Board on 30 June 2016 and was replaced by Kevin Beatty effective from 1 July 2016.
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Annual fees
2016 

annual fee 
£000

2015 
annual fee

£000

Chairman 175.0 150.0

Board fee 47.5 40.0

Chairman of Remuneration Committee 10.0 10.0

Chairman of Audit Committee 10.0 10.0

Senior Independent Director 5.0 —

Additional information regarding single figure table (audited)
The Committee considers that performance conditions for all incentives are suitably demanding, having regard to the business strategy, 
shareholder expectations, cyclicality of the markets in which the Group operates and external advice. To the extent that any performance 
condition is not met, the relevant part of the award will lapse. There is no retesting of performance. 

Annual Bonus Plan (audited)
The bonus is assessed over a performance period aligned with the financial year using the criteria outlined in the Policy summarised on page 56. 
50% of the bonus achieved will be paid in cash. The remaining 50% will be deferred in nil-cost options over a minimal deferral period of three years.

Name Performance criteria Weighting

Actual 
performance 

against target

Annual bonus 
value achieved 

(% salary)

Annual bonus 
value achieved 

£000 

Alex Chesterman Revenue 30% 100%

Adjusted EBITDA 50% 100% 147% 705.6

Personal objectives 20% 90%

Andy Botha1 Revenue 30% 100%

Adjusted EBITDA 50% 100% 98% 112.3

Personal objectives 20% 90%

Stephen Morana1 Revenue 30% 100%

Adjusted EBITDA 50% 100% 98% 169.9

Personal objectives 20% 90%

1 Stephen Morana resigned as a Director of ZPG on 15 April 2016 and was replaced by Andy Botha as CFO on 18 April 2016. Both bonuses have been awarded on a prorata basis to/from 
the date of termination/appointment.

The Committee has not exercised any discretion in relation to the bonus outcomes. The acquisition of Property Software Group has not 
impacted the outcome of the bonus. The targets were set prior to the acquisition of Property Software Group and therefore the Committee 
considered performance against the bonus targets excluding the results of Property Software Group. Excluding those results the Group’s 
performance exceeded the maximum bonus thresholds.

Group performance against the performance conditions is set out below:

Performance criteria

Weighting as a % 
of maximum bonus 

opportunity
Threshold

£000
Target
£000

Maximum
£000

Actual
£000

Resulting bonus 
achieved as a % of 

maximum bonus 
opportunity

Revenue 30 162.5 171.0 179.6 197.7 100

Adjusted EBITDA 50 59.0 65.6 68.9 77.1 100

Personal objectives 20 See below 90

Total 100 98
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Annual report on remuneration continued

Annual bonus outcome: personal objectives
Personal objectives for the CEO and the CFO were as follows:

Alex Chesterman

OBJECTIVE AREA OBJECTIVES AND PERFORMANCE OUTCOME

Business and vision 
(40% weighting)

• A strategic vision for the Group was outlined during 
the year, incorporating the new products and service 
offerings brought about by uSwitch and the Property 
Software Group acquisitions.

• Strategic plans were developed during the year for 
respective business areas to continue their growth and 
development. Growth in the Group’s KPIs (revenue, 
inventory and traffic numbers) was seen during the 
financial year (with increases from 2015, outlined 
on page 21).

• The Committee believes ZPG’s strategic vision and plans 
will position the Group strongly as a champion in the 
home related digital platform space. The Committee 
viewed performance against this objective as strong 
scoring 8.5 out of 10.

Organisation 
and culture 
(20% weighting)

• A significant amount of work took place to successfully 
integrate uSwitch across various work streams covering 
strategy, operations and culture, including a successful 
office move in September 2016.

• The Committee views the integration of uSwitch a 
success and was achieved with minimal disruption 
to business activities. The Committee viewed that 
this objective was fully met.

People and talent 
(40% weighting)

• Continued investment, development and operation 
of an effective strategy around the Group’s talent 
was achieved during the year.

• Effectively leading, working and collaborating across 
key internal stakeholders (senior leadership team and 
the Board) to successfully deliver the FY16 budget.

• The Committee views the work of the CEO in successfully 
integrating the acquired companies and the future talent 
plans developed and put in place across the Group as 
central to the continued development of ZPG. The 
Committee viewed performance against this objective as 
strong scoring 9 out of 10.

The Remuneration Committee determined that overall performance against these objectives equated to 90% of the bonus for this element being achieved.

Andy Botha

OBJECTIVE AREA OBJECTIVES AND PERFORMANCE OUTCOME

Business and vision 
(40% weighting)

• Development of financial operating plans which 
successfully helped to deliver the 2016 budget.

• Continued development of investor relations, with the 
CFO taking an active role with the investor community 
since his appointment.

• The Committee views the successful development of the 
financial operating plans as a key element which supported 
the Company’s achievement of the 2016 budget. Continued 
development of investor relations was achieved during 
the year with the CFO establishing himself with the wider 
finance community and key shareholders. The Committee 
viewed performance against this objective as strong 
scoring 9.5 out of 10.

Organisation 
and culture 
(20% weighting)

• A significant amount of work has taken place to 
successfully integrate the uSwitch finance function 
during the year, including implementation of an internal 
financial control process across the Group.

• The Committee views the work of the CFO in successfully 
integrating the finance functions of the acquired companies 
and the future talent plans developed and put in place 
as central to the continued development of ZPG. The 
Committee viewed that this objective was fully met.

People and talent 
(40% weighting)

• Continued investment, development and operation 
of an effective strategy around the Group’s talent in 
the finance function was achieved during the year.

• Effectively leading, working and collaborating across 
key internal stakeholders (senior leadership team and 
the Board) to successfully deliver the 2016 budget.

• The Committee views the integration of uSwitch a success 
and was achieved with minimal disruption to business 
activities. The Committee viewed performance against 
this objective as strong scoring 8 out of 10.

The Remuneration Committee determined that overall performance against these objectives equated to 90% of the bonus for this element being achieved.
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Stephen Morana

OBJECTIVE AREA OBJECTIVES AND PERFORMANCE OUTCOME

Business and vision 
(40% weighting)

• Development of financial operating plans which 
successfully helped to deliver the 2016 budget.

• Deliver external reporting requirements and continue 
the effective management of investor relations. 

• The Committee views the successful development of 
the financial operating plans as a key element which 
supported the Company’s achievement of the 2016 
budget. The CFO continued to build on investor relations 
developed in prior years. The Committee viewed 
performance against this objective as strong scoring 
9 out of 10.

Organisation 
and culture 
(20% weighting)

• A significant amount of work has taken place to 
successfully integrate the uSwitch finance function 
during the year, including implementation of an internal 
financial control process put in across the Group

• The Committee views the integration of uSwitch a 
success and was achieved with minimal disruption 
to business activities. The Committee viewed that 
this objective was fully met.

People and talent 
(40% weighting)

• Continued investment, development and operation 
of an effective strategy around the Group’s talent in 
the finance function was achieved during the year.

• Effectively leading, working and collaborating across 
key internal stakeholders (Executive Management Team 
and the Board) to successfully deliver the 2016 budget.

• The Committee views the work of the CFO in successfully 
integrating the finance functions of the acquired companies 
and the future talent plans developed and put in place 
as central to the continued development of ZPG. The 
Committee viewed performance against this objective as 
strong scoring 8.5 out of 10.

The Remuneration Committee determined that overall performance against these objectives equated to 90% of the bonus for this element being achieved.

Long-term incentives awarded in 2016 (audited)
The table below sets out the details of the long-term incentive awards granted in the 2016 financial year where vesting will be determined 
according to the achievement of performance conditions that will be tested in future reporting periods. 

Name Award Type Date of grant Shares awarded
Face value

of award

Percentage of award
vesting at threshold

performance (%)

Maximum
percentage of 

face value that
could vest (%)

Performance
conditions

Andy Botha1 (CFO) LTIP 1 June 2016 44,070 £143,228 25 100 Relative
 TSR and

 EPS equally
 weighted

Stephen Morana2 
(former CFO)

LTIP 9 December 2015 171,306 £400,000 25 100 Relative
 TSR and

 EPS equally
 weighted

1 44,070 nil-cost options awarded on 1 June 2016, which represented 125% of salary adjusted prorata based on the date of appointment (18 April 2016) at a share price of £3.25 as at close 
on 31 May 2016. The award will vest in 2019 but will be subject to the same performance tests as the awards to other individuals made in December 2015.

2 171,306 nil-cost options awarded on 9 December 2015, which represented 125% of salary using the share price at close of £2.335 on 8 December 2015. On cessation of employment, 
the LTIP was adjusted prorata basis for time served – see page 68 for further details.

The performance conditions are set out on page 53 of the Group’s Annual Report 2015. The awards will vest subject to the Group’s adjusted 
basic earnings per share and relative TSR performance measured over the three year performance period ending in 2018.

The next grant under the Group’s LTIP will be made in December 2016 in respect of the 2017 financial year. In accordance with the implementation 
of the Policy for 2017, the CFO will be awarded a number of nil-cost options equal to 150% of salary measured using the closing share price on 
the working day prior to grant. Details of the share awards held by the Executive Directors are included on page 69. 
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Value Creation Plan (audited)
The VCP was approved by shareholders on 1 October 2015. The scheme aligns the remuneration of the Group’s CEO with value generated 
for shareholders. Since the launch of the scheme to 30 September 2016 the Group has seen Total Shareholder Return (TSR) growth of 
50% representing over £460 million of value generated for shareholders.

As at 30 September 2016, the growth of TSR equates to 3.6 million nil-cost options for Alex, with an indicative total value of £11.6 million. 
The indicative value represents 3% of the total value created for shareholders above a minimum return of 8% in line with the scheme rules. 
This value is a performance update as at the year end using a share price at 30 September 2016 of £3.25. The first measurement date where 
nil-cost options will formally accrue will be 30 days post the announcement of our 2016 results on the average closing share price for that 
30 day period. 

The final amount of the nil-cost options that accrue at the first measurement date will be fully disclosed in our Annual Report 2017. The accrued 
nil-cost options do not become exercisable until December 2018 at the earliest and are subject to lapse if a minimum return of 8% is not maintained 
over the VCP period.

HMRC Share Incentive Plan (audited)
The Share Incentive Plan (SIP) is available to all employees, including the Executive Directors. There are no performance conditions attached 
to the grants. The award of Free Shares made at IPO is subject to the Director’s continued employment for a period of three years from the 
grant date. Both Alex Chesterman and Stephen Morana received 1,137 Free Shares on 23 June 2014 with a face value of £2,500. The face value 
of the Free Shares was calculated using the IPO price of 220 pence. 

Throughout 2016 Alex Chesterman and Stephen Morana purchased Partnership Shares on a monthly basis. The Group continues to match 
Partnership Shares purchased on a one-to-one ratio. Shares granted each month are subject to the Director’s continued employment for a period 
of one year from the grant date. Alex Chesterman and Stephen Morana purchased 709 and 458 Partnership Shares respectively during the period. 
The Group has issued an equal number of Matching Shares to each Executive Director. Andy Botha was not part of the scheme during 2016.

Payments to past Directors/payments for loss of office (audited)
On 15 April 2016 Stephen Morana ceased to be a Director of ZPG. Details of Stephen Morana’s remuneration for the period are included 
in the single figure of remuneration table on page 64. No payments were made in respect of his resignation.

Stephen was considered a good leaver for the purposes of the Group’s LTIP and Annual Bonus Plan. Stephen helped to conclude the Property 
Software Group acquisition, hire his replacement and meet the needs of the Group prior to his departure and the Committee therefore considered 
him to be a good leaver. The 2015 and 2016 LTIP awards were subject to forfeiture on a prorata basis for time served. The unforfeited shares will 
continue to vest in line with their original vesting schedule. Deferred options granted as part of the 2015 Annual Bonus Plan will also continue 
to vest in line with the original vesting schedule. The bonus for 2016 will be paid prorata and settled in cash. The table below provides details 
of outstanding share options:

Options 
granted

Prorata for
time served

Options 
outstanding Comments

Annual Bonus Plan As a good leaver Stephen retains all of the deferred shares which will 
vest in accordance with their original vesting date in December 2018.9 December 2015 62,312 —  62,312 

62,312 —  62,312 

LTIP The proportion of shares which will vest remains dependent on the 
Group’s achievement of the performance conditions set out at grant 
and the options will vest over the performance periods ending on 
30 September 2017 and 30 September 2018 respectively subject 
to meeting the performance criteria.

1 August 2014  170,454 (78,499)  91,955 

9 December 2015  171,306 (152,272)  19,034 

 341,760 (230,771)  110,989 

Stephen Morana retained the value of his shares purchased and awarded under the SIP.

Annual report on remuneration continued
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Statement of Directors’ shareholdings (audited)
Shareholding requirements in operation at the Company are currently 400% of base salary for the CEO and 100% of base salary for the CFO. 
Executive Directors are required to build up their shareholdings over a reasonable amount of time, which would normally be five years. Andy Botha 
joined the Group on 18 April 2016 and is expected to build up the required shareholding over a reasonable period. The number of shares of the 
Company in which current Directors had a beneficial interest and details of long-term incentive interests as at 30 September 2016 are set out 
in the table below.

Shares held directly Other shares held Options

Director

Current 
shareholding 

(% salary)3
Beneficially 

owned1

Shares not
subject to 

performance
 conditions2,4

Total number 
of Ordinary and 
Deferred Shares

LTIP interests
 subject to 

performance 
conditions 4 Vested Unvested

Shareholding
requirement met

Alex Chesterman 5,773 8,517,786 118,682 8,636,468 119,318 — — Yes

Andy Botha — — — — 44,070 — — No

Stephen Morana5 n/a 1,008,082 63,907 1,071,989 341,760 — — n/a

1 No shares were held by any connected parties. Since 30 September 2016 Alex Chesterman has purchased 96 Partnership Shares through the Group’s SIP. These shares have been 
matched on a one-to-one ratio by the Group. There have been no other movements since 30 September 2016 to 29 November for Alex Chesterman or Andy Botha.

2 Includes Free Shares and Matching Shares still subject to forfeiture awarded under the Group’s SIP and nil-cost options granted under the Annual Bonus Plan.

3 The closing share price of 325.30 pence as at 30 September 2016 has been taken for the purpose of calculating the current shareholding as a percentage of salary. Unvested LTIP 
and Annual Bonus Plan shares and options do not count towards satisfaction of the shareholding guidelines. Matching Shares under the Share Incentive Plan which are still subject 
to forfeiture or lapse do not count towards the shareholding requirement.

4 Nil-cost options granted under the Group’s LTIP and Annual Bonus Plans exclude any dividend equivalents that may have accrued.

5 Stephen Morana left the business on 15 April 2016 and therefore shareholding as a percentage of salary has not been calculated and he is no longer subject to a shareholding requirement. 
Shares disclosed are as at 15 April 2016 immediately prior to his departure.

The Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors are not subject to a shareholding requirement. Details of their interests in shares are set out below:

Director 

Shares held at
30 September 

2016 1

Mike Evans (Chairman) 34,494

David Dutton —

Duncan Tatton-Brown 22,727

Grenville Turner —

Kevin Beatty —

Robin Klein 683,996

Sherry Coutu 588,790

Stephen Daintith —

Vin Murria —

1 Shares held include any shares held by connected parties. There has been no movement in the number of shares held between 30 September 2016 and 29 November 2016.

External Non-Executive Directorships
Executive Directors may hold positions in other companies as Non-Executive Directors and retain fees. Stephen Morana was a Non-Executive 
Director of boohoo.com plc throughout the period. Stephen receives and retains fees of £40,000 and share awards of £10,000 per annum in 
respect of this role.



70 | The consumer champion at the heart of the home

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Annual report on remuneration continued

Comparison of overall performance and pay (TSR graph)
The graph below shows the value of £100 invested in the Company’s shares since listing compared to the FTSE 250 Index. The graph shows 
the total shareholder return generated by both the movement in share value and the reinvestment over the same period of dividend income. 
The Committee considers that the FTSE 250 is the appropriate index because the Company has been a member of this since listing. This graph 
has been calculated in accordance with regulations. It should be noted that the Company listed on 23 June 2014.
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Chief Executive Officer historical remuneration
The table below sets out the total remuneration delivered to the Chief Executive Officer over the last three years valued using the methodology 
applied to the single total figure of remuneration. The Group has expanded quickly from a start-up company and the Committee does not believe 
that the remuneration payable in its earlier years bears any comparative value to that paid in its later years and therefore the Committee has 
chosen to disclose remuneration only for the three most recent financial years:

Chief Executive Officer 2016 2015 2014

Total single figure (£000) 1,264 1,070 499

Annual bonus payment level achieved (% of maximum opportunity) 98 97 100

It should be noted that the Company did not introduce an LTIP until it listed. Therefore, there were no awards capable of vesting in any 
of the periods presented. The first vesting date will be 1 October 2017.

Relative importance of the spend on pay
The table below sets out the relative importance of spend on pay in the 2016 financial year and the 2015 financial year compared with other 
disbursements. All figures provided are taken from the relevant Company accounts.

Disbursements 
from profit

in 2016
 financial year 

£ million

Disbursements 
from profit 

in 2015
 financial year 

£ million % change

Profit distributed by way of dividend 1 21.5 14.5 48

Overall spend on pay including Executive Directors 39.6 21.2 87

Total tax contributions2 53.2 29.5 80

1 Includes dividends paid and proposed in respect of the financial year.

2 Total tax contributions include tax for the period in respect of corporation tax, PAYE, National Insurance contributions and VAT.

The increase in overall spend on pay including Executive Directors reflects the increase in our employee numbers as a result of acquisitions 
across both financial years.
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Change in Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration compared with employees
The following table sets out the change in the remuneration paid to the Chief Executive Officer from 2015 to 2016 compared with the average 
percentage change for employees. 

% increase in remuneration in 2016  
compared with remuneration in 2015

CEO Employees

Salary 7 6

Annual bonus 18 33

Taxable benefits — —

Service agreements and letters of appointment

Name

Date of service
contract/letter of

appointment Nature of contract
Notice period

from Company
Notice period
from Director

Compensation
provisions for

early termination

Executive Directors

Alex Chesterman 22 April 2014 Rolling 12 months 12 months None

Andy Botha 18 April 2016 Rolling 12 months 12 months None

Non-Executive Directors

Mike Evans 1 May 2014 3 year contract 3 months 3 months None

Duncan Tatton-Brown 1 May 2014 3 year contract 1 month 1 month None

Grenville Turner 21 May 2014 3 year contract 1 month 1 month None

Kevin Beatty 1 July 2016 3 year contract None None None

Robin Klein 1 May 2014 3 year contract 1 month 1 month None

Sherry Coutu 1 May 2014 3 year contract 1 month 1 month None

Stephen Daintith 4 June 2014 3 year contract None None None

Vin Murria 1 July 2015 3 year contract 1 month 1 month None

The Committee’s policy for setting notice periods is that a 12 month period will apply for Executive Directors. The Committee may, in exceptional 
circumstances arising on recruitment, allow a longer period which would, in any event, reduce to 12 months following the first year of employment.

The Non-Executive Directors of the Company (including the Chairman) do not have service contracts and are appointed by letters of appointment. 
Each Independent Non-Executive Director’s term of office runs for a three year period.

The Company follows the UK Corporate Governance Code’s recommendation that all Directors be subject to annual re-appointment by shareholders.

Implementation of the Remuneration Policy in the 2017 financial year 
See pages 61 to 63 for details.

Advisers to the Remuneration Committee 
Following a review of advisers to the Committee, the Committee retained the services of PwC as independent remuneration adviser. 

During the financial year, PwC advised the Committee on all aspects of the Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors and members 
of the Executive Management Team. The Committee is satisfied that advice received from PwC during the year was objective and independent.

PwC is a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and the voluntary code of conduct of that body is designed to ensure objective and 
independent advice is given to remuneration committees. Fees of £36,250 (2015: £53,500) were provided to PwC during the year in respect 
of remuneration advice received. PwC has no other connection with the Group.

Sherry Coutu
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
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Introduction
This section of the Annual Report is the Group Directors’ report  
in accordance with section 415 of the Companies Act 2006.
Certain disclosure requirements for inclusion 
in this report have been incorporated by way 
of cross reference to the Strategic report and 
the Directors’ remuneration report, and should 
be read in conjunction with this report. 
The following also form part of this report:

• environment and greenhouse gas 
emissions, which can be found on page 39;

• employee disclosures, which can be found 
on pages 36 to 39 and 73; 

• the Corporate governance statement, set 
out on pages 44 to 47; and

• our strategy and objectives, set out on 
pages 14 to 15.

Information regarding the Company’s 
charitable donations can be found in the 
Our people and corporate responsibility 
report on pages 36 to 39. 

No political donations were made in 2016 
(2015: £nil).

The Company
Zoopla Property Group Plc (“the Company”) 
is a company incorporated and domiciled in 
the UK, with registration number 09005884. 
The Company does not have any branches 
outside of the UK.

Listing Rule disclosures
For the purposes of LR 9.8.4CR, the information required to be disclosed by LR 9.8.4R can 
be found in the following locations:

ITEM LOCATION

Interest capitalised None

Publication of unaudited financial information Not applicable

Detail of long-term incentive schemes Note 24 to the consolidated 
financial statements, 
Remuneration report

Waiver of emoluments by a Director None

Waiver of future emoluments by a Director None

Non-pre-emptive issues of equity for cash None

Non-pre-emptive issues of equity for cash in relation to major 
subsidiary undertakings

None

Parent participation in a placing by a listed subsidiary None

Contracts of significance in which a Director is interested None

Contracts of significance with a controlling shareholder None

Provision of services by a controlling shareholder None

Shareholder waiver of dividends None

Shareholder waiver of future dividends None

Agreements with controlling shareholder See page 46

Results and dividends
The Group’s results for the year are set out 
in the consolidated financial statements on 
pages 81 to 109.

The results of the Company are set out on 
pages 110 to 116.

The Directors have proposed a final dividend 
of 3.8 pence per share to be paid in respect of 
the year ended 30 September 2016. This will 
be paid on 9 February 2017 to all shareholders 
on the register on 16 December 2016.

Directors
The Directors of the Company who held 
office up to the date of signing the financial 
statements can be found on page 71. 

The Directors’ biographical details setting 
out their key strengths and experiences 
are laid out on pages 42 to 43. Following 
recommendations from the Nomination 
Committee, the Board considers that all 
Directors continue to be effective, committed 
to their roles and able to devote sufficient 
time to discharge their responsibilities. 

All of the Directors will seek re-election, 
and Andy Botha and Kevin Beatty will 
seek election, at the Company’s AGM on 
2 February 2017 in accordance with the 
Company’s Articles of Association, which 
require a newly appointed Director to 
stand for election at the next AGM.

Directors’ interests
Information about the Directors’ interests 
in the Ordinary Shares of the Company at 
30 September 2016, or date of appointment 
if later, is set out in the Directors’ remuneration 
report on page 69. 

Directors’ indemnities and insurance 
In accordance with the Companies Act 2006 
and the Company’s Articles, the Company 
has purchased and maintains Directors’ and 
officers’ liability insurance cover which remains 
in place as at the date of this report. A review 
will be carried out on an annual basis to ensure 
that the Board remains satisfied that an 
appropriate level of cover is in place. There 
are no indemnity provisions in force for the 
benefit of the Directors.
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Employees
As at 30 September 2016 the Company 
employed 735 (2015: 438) employees. The 
gender diversity table is set out on page 38.

Articles of Association
The Articles of Association of the Company 
can only be amended by special resolution 
at a general meeting of the shareholders. 
No amendments are proposed at the 2017 AGM. 

Annual General Meeting (AGM)
The Company’s next AGM will take place on 
2 February 2017 at the Company’s new head 
office at The Cooperage, 5 Copper Row, London 
SE1 2LH at 10.00am, and the Chairmen of each 
of the Board’s Committees will be present to 
answer questions put to them by shareholders. 
The Annual Report and Accounts and Notice 
of the AGM, including the resolutions to be 
proposed, will be sent to shareholders at 
least 20 working days prior to the date 
of the meeting.

To encourage shareholders to participate 
in the AGM process, the Company proposes 
to offer electronic proxy voting through the 
CREST service and all resolutions will be 
proposed and voted on at the meeting on 
an individual basis by shareholders or their 
proxies. Voting results will be announced 
through the Regulatory News Service and 
made available on the Company’s website. 

Share capital 
Details of the Company’s share capital are set 
out in Note 23 to the consolidated financial 
statements. The Company has one class of 
Ordinary Shares. As at 29 November 2016 
the Company had an issued share capital 
of 418,116,472 Ordinary Shares of £0.001, 
with 162,789 of those Ordinary Shares held in 
treasury. The rights and obligations attached 
to these shares are governed by UK law and 
the Company’s Articles of Association.

Holders of Ordinary Shares of the Company 
are entitled to receive notice and to attend 
and speak at general meetings. On a show 
of hands, every shareholder present in person 
or by proxy (or duly authorised corporate 
representatives) shall have one vote and, 
on a poll, every member who is present in 
person or by proxy shall have one vote 
for every share held. 

Other than the general provisions of the 
Articles of Association and prevailing legislation, 
there are no specific restrictions on the size 
of a holding or on the transfer of the 
Ordinary Shares. 

The Directors are not aware of any agreements 
between holders of the Company’s shares that 
may result in the restriction of the transfer of 
securities or on voting rights except for the 
lock-up of Alex Chesterman’s shares that will 
be released after the close of trading on the 
third anniversary of the Company’s admission 
to trading on the London Stock Exchange 
(23 June 2017). No shareholder holds securities 
carrying any special rights or control over the 
Company’s share capital. All employees are 
eligible to participate in the Company’s Share 
Incentive Plan (SIP) and have the right to 
exercise their rights in relation to any vested 
shares under the SIP.

Authority to purchase own shares
In February 2016, the Company announced 
its intention to purchase 188,340 Ordinary 
Shares in the capital of the Company with 
a nominal value of £0.001 each to satisfy 
the exercise of warrants. The purchase of 
the Ordinary Shares was conducted in 

accordance with the authorisation granted 
to the Company by shareholders at the 
AGM held on 12 February 2015. 

The remainder of the Ordinary Shares bought 
back by the Company are currently held 
in treasury and they will remain there until 
they are required to satisfy further warrant 
exercises. There are currently 162,789 shares 
held in treasury. 

At last year’s AGM of the Company on 
25 February 2016, the Company did not ask 
shareholders for authorisation to purchase 
its own issued share capital. 

Authority to allot shares
At last year’s AGM, the Company was granted 
a general authority by its shareholders to allot 
shares up to an aggregate nominal amount of 
£139,372.16 and in connection with a rights issue 
or other pre-emptive offer to allot shares up 
to an aggregate nominal amount of £278,744.31. 
As at the date of this Annual Report, no shares 
have been issued under these authorities. 
These authorities will expire at the conclusion 
of the 2017 AGM unless revoked, varied or 
renewed prior to that meeting. Resolutions 
will be proposed at the 2017 AGM to renew 
these authorities.

Major interests in shares
As at 30 September 2016 and 29 November 2016, the Company had been advised of the 
following notifiable interests in the Company’s voting rights:

Number of 
voting rights at 
30 September 

2016

% of voting 
rights at 

30 September 
2016

DMGZ Limited 130,953,293 31.33

Caledonia Investments, Australia 38,344,940 9.17

Lansdowne Partners 33,607,480 8.04

Capital Group 30,467,626 7.29

Aviva Investors 20,368,158 4.87

Jupiter Asset Management 16,508,036 3.95

Fidelity Management & Research 15,402,925 3.69
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Financial risk management
The Company’s objectives and policies 
on financial risk management, including 
information on credit, liquidity and market 
risks, can be found in Note 26 to the 
financial statements.

Going concern
The financial position of the Group shows 
a positive net and current asset position 
and a net debt to EBITDA ratio of 1.9. As a 
consequence, the Directors believe that the 
Group is well placed to manage its business 
and financial risks successfully. Further 
information on the Directors’ assessment can 
be found in the Company’s viability statement 
on page 29 and on page 85.

The Directors have a reasonable expectation 
that the Group has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting 
in preparing the historical financial information. 

Auditor and disclosure of information 
to auditor
Each of the Directors at the date of this 
report confirms that:

• so far as he or she is aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the 
Company’s auditor is unaware; and

• he/she has taken all the reasonable steps 
that he/she ought to have taken as a Director 
to make himself/herself aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that 
the Company’s auditor is aware 
of the information.

The confirmation is given and should be 
interpreted in accordance with the provisions 
of section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Deloitte LLP has expressed its willingness to 
continue in office as auditor and a resolution 
to re-appoint it as the Company’s auditor will 
be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

Subsequent events
On 28 November 2016 the Group entered 
into an agreement to purchase 100% of the 
issued share capital of Technicweb Limited 
for initial consideration of £1.5 million, 
deferred consideration of £250,000 due 
12 months from the date of completion 
and earn-out consideration based on 
performance over a 30 month period post 
completion. The acquisition is expected 
to complete on 30 November 2016.

There have been no other reportable 
subsequent events between 30 September 
2016 and the date of signing of this report.

This report has been approved by the Board of 
Directors and has been signed on its behalf by:

Ned Staple
Company Secretary
29 November 2016

Zoopla Property Group Plc
The Cooperage 
5 Copper Row 
London 
SE1 2LH

Company number: 09005884
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The Directors are responsible for preparing 
the Annual Report and the Group and parent 
company financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare 
Group and parent company financial statements 
for each financial year. 

Under that law they are required to prepare 
the Group financial statements in accordance 
with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union 
and applicable law and have elected to prepare 
the parent company financial statements 
on the same basis.

Under company law the Directors must not 
approve the financial statements unless they 
are satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Group and 
parent company and of their profit or loss 
for that period. 

In preparing each of the Group and parent 
company financial statements, the Directors 
are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and 
then apply them consistently; 

• make judgements and estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether they have been prepared 
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted 
by the European Union; and 

• prepare the financial statements on the 
going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 
to presume that the Group and the parent 
company will continue in business. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that are sufficient 
to show and explain the parent company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of 
the parent company and enable them to 
ensure that its financial statements comply 
with the Companies Act 2006. They have 
general responsibility for taking such steps 
as are reasonably open to them to safeguard 
the assets of the Group and to prevent and 
detect fraud and other irregularities. 

Under applicable law and regulations, the 
Directors are also responsible for preparing a 
Strategic report, Directors’ report, Directors’ 
remuneration report and Corporate governance 
statement that comply with that law and 
those regulations. 

The Directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the corporate 
and financial information included on the 
Company’s website. Legislation in the UK 
governing the preparation and dissemination 
of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Having taken advice from the Audit Committee, 
the Directors consider that the Annual Report, 
taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information 
necessary for shareholders to assess the 
Company’s performance, business model 
and strategy.

Directors’ statement pursuant to the 
Disclosure and Transparency Rules
Each of the Directors, whose names and 
functions are listed within the Corporate 
governance statement, confirm that, 
to the best of their knowledge:

• the Group financial statements, which 
have been prepared in accordance with 
IFRSs as adopted by the EU, give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and profit of the 
Group; and

• the Strategic report contained in the 
Annual Report includes a fair review of 
the development and performance of the 
business and the position of the Group, 
together with a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties that it faces.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the members of Zoopla Property Group Plc

Opinion on financial statements of Zoopla Property Group Plc
In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the 
group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 30 September 2016 
and of the group’s profit for the year then ended;

• the group and financial statements have been properly prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
as adopted by the European Union;

• the parent company financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European 
Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2006; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the 
group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

The financial statements comprise the Consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, Consolidated and company statement of 
financial position, Consolidated and company statement of cash flows, 
Consolidated and company statement of changes in equity, the related 
Notes 1 to 29 to the consolidated financial statements and Notes 1 to 15 
to the company financial statements. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements 
is applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by the European Union. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the 
parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with 
the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

Going concern and the directors’ assessment of the principal 
risks that would threaten the solvency or liquidity of the group
As required by the Listing Rules we have reviewed the directors’ 
statement regarding the appropriateness of the going concern basis 
of accounting contained within Note 1.4 to the financial statements 
and the directors’ statement on the longer-term viability of the group 
contained within the strategic report. 

We have nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation to:

• the directors’ confirmation on page 29 that they have carried 
out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing the group, 
including those that would threaten its business model, future 
performance, solvency or liquidity;

• the disclosures on pages 26 to 28 that describe those risks and 
explain how they are being managed or mitigated;

• the directors’ statement in note 1.4 to the financial statements 
about whether they considered it appropriate to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting in preparing them and their identification 
of any material uncertainties to the group’s ability to continue to 
do so over a period of at least twelve months from the date of 
approval of the financial statements;

• the directors’ explanation on page 29 as to how they have assessed 
the prospects of the group, over what period they have done so 
and why they consider that period to be appropriate, and their 
statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that 
the group will be able to continue in operation and meet its 
liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, 
including any related disclosures drawing attention to any 
necessary qualifications or assumptions.

We agreed with the directors’ adoption of the going concern basis 
of accounting and we did not identify any such material uncertainties. 
However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, 
this statement is not a guarantee as to the group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern.

Independence
We are required to comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors and we confirm that we are independent of the 
group and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with those standards. We also confirm we have not provided any of the 
prohibited non-audit services referred to in those standards.

Our assessment of risks of material misstatement
The assessed risks of material misstatement described below are 
those that had the greatest effect on our audit strategy, the allocation 
of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the engagement 
team in decreasing order of significance.
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Risk description How the scope of our audit responded to the risk

Acquisition of Property Software Group (“PSG”) –  
Valuation of acquired intangible assets 
This is a new risk for 2016 following the acquisition of Property 
Software Group in the period. On 28 April 2016, the Group completed 
its previously announced acquisition of Property Software Group on 
a cash-free, debt-free basis. 

The gross valuation of acquired intangible assets as part 
of the purchase price allocation (“PPA”) exercise is reliant 
on management judgement, and hence there is a risk that if 
management use inappropriate methodologies or assumptions 
within the PPA exercise, that the intangible assets will not be 
stated within an acceptable range of valuations. 

We have included the risk in our audit report due to the quantum 
of the balance, its highly judgemental nature, and the fact that it had 
a substantial impact on our overall audit strategy.

The purchase price was settled through consideration of £69.6 million, 
of which £22.2 million was paid in cash, £24.9 million was the repayment 
of external debt, and a further £22.5 million is deferred. An additional 
£5.7 million is payable to management shareholders as remuneration, 
contingent on them remaining in employment.

The excess of consideration over the fair value of net assets 
acquired has been recognised as intangible assets comprised 
of customer relationship intangibles of £20.5 million, brands 
of £2.2 million and goodwill of £47.2 million.

Refer to notes 1, 1.20 and 13 for the group accounting policy, 
management’s consideration of critical accounting judgements 
and disclosure note respectively.

Our procedures entailed:

i)  Auditing the acquired balance sheet prior to the purchase 
price allocation to gain assurance over the valuation of net 
assets acquired;

ii)  Engaging our internal experts to review the methodologies 
employed, and challenge assumptions utilised by management 
in their valuation of acquired intangible assets with reference to 
third party data for comparable transactions and asset types; 

iii)  obtaining the underlying cash flow forecast calculations and 
challenging their reasonableness; 

iv)  Confirming that the useful economic lives allocated to each class 
of asset are appropriate based on their nature and Group accounting 
policies; and

v)  Reviewing the associated disclosures within the financial 
statements to assess whether they are in accordance with IFRS 3.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED
To the members of Zoopla Property Group Plc

Our assessment of risks of material misstatement continued

Risk description How the scope of our audit responded to the risk

Revenue recognition in the Comparison Services division – 
Valuation of accrued income
Comparison services revenue is accrued each month based upon 
the number of switches provided to suppliers, net of an estimated 
drop-out. At the period end there is a proportion of switches that has 
not been confirmed as having been completed and accepted by the 
third party provider. There is therefore a risk in respect the valuation 
of accrued revenue balance at year-end.

During 2016, management implemented a new system which has enabled 
more accurate matching of confirmations back to original switches 
and hence has enabled more accurate recognition of accrued income.

Refer to notes 1, 1.20 and 2 for the group accounting policy, 
management’s consideration of critical accounting judgements 
and disclosure note respectively.

Our procedures entailed:

i)  Assessing management’s processes and the design and 
implementation of controls in respect of the appropriate 
recognition of revenue, in particular the valuation of switches 
in line with contractual terms and the subsequent confirmation 
of switches through third party customer confirmations;

ii)  Verifying that for a sample of customer contracts, that revenue 
had been appropriately recognised in line with the contractual 
terms and IAS 18;

iii)  Analysing revenue streams to understand the drivers of 
fluctuations and obtain support for any unusual movements; and

iv)  For a sample of suppliers for which there is accrued income at 
year end, obtaining post year-end confirmation of the balance 
from the relevant third party.

Revenue recognition in the Property Services division – 
Completeness of agency subscription arrangements 
Revenue in the property services division primarily consists of 
recurring subscription payments in return for property listings on 
the Group’s websites. Individual contracts exist with each customer 
with a range of different terms and conditions, and as a result there 
are a significant number of agreements. 

Consequently there is a risk that customer subscription agreements 
may not be appropriately captured and accounted for in line with 
underlying contractual terms and hence the revenue population 
may not be complete.

We have included the risk in our audit report due to the quantum 
of the balance and the fact that it had a substantial impact on our 
overall audit strategy.

Refer to notes 1, 1.20 and 2 for the group accounting policy, 
management’s consideration of critical accounting judgements 
and disclosure note respectively.

Our procedures entailed:

i)  Analysing revenue streams to understand the drivers of 
fluctuations including monthly partner numbers and the Average 
Revenue per Advertiser (“ARPA”) trend, and obtaining support 
for any unusual movements;

ii)  Assessing management’s processes and the design and 
implementation of controls in respect of the appropriate 
recognition of revenue, in particular the billing of customers 
in line with contractual terms;

iii)  Selecting a sample of estate agents, ascertaining whether they were 
a ZPG customer or not, and if so, obtaining the underlying contract to 
determine whether the information within the Customer Relationship 
Management system is accurate and hence the revenue population 
is complete; and

iv)  Verifying information for a sample of customer contracts (or equivalent 
agreements) selected from the Customer Relationship Management 
system to subscription details, and then in turn back to the ledger 
to determine whether revenue has been appropriately recognised.

Last year our report included one other risk which is not included in our report this year: Accounting for the acquisition of uSwitch, which was 
a one off event in the prior year.

The description of risks above should be read in conjunction with the significant issues considered by the Audit Committee discussed on 
pages 49 to 50.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Our application of materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial 
statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions of 
a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. 
We use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work and 
in evaluating the results of our work.

We determined materiality for the group to be £2.1 million (2015: 
£1.7 million), which is 4.5% (2015: 5.1%) of pre-tax profit, and below 
1.5% (2015: 1.5%) of equity. We consider that pre-tax profit is the 
most appropriate statutory measure for a listed business.

We agreed with the Audit Committee, following reassessing the 
level at which we would report misstatements to them, to report all 
audit differences in excess of £100,000 (2015: £35,000), as well as 
differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting 
on qualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit Committee on 
disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

An overview of the scope of our audit
Our group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the 
group and its environment, including group-wide controls, and 
assessing the risks of material misstatement at the group level. 

We have identified three components, namely Property Services 
excluding Property Software Group (“Property Portals”), Comparison 
Services and Property Software Group, which mirror the structure and 
locations of the Group. Of these components, Property Portals and 
Comparison Services are considered to be financially significant, 
whereas Property Software Group is not given that the acquisition 
was completed in H2 2016 and the contribution to the consolidated 
results is not significant.

We focused our group audit scope primarily on the audit work in 
respect of Zoopla PLC, ZPG Limited and the entities that make up the 
Comparison Services division, which were subject to a full scope audit, 
as was the case in the prior year. Property Software Group was subject 
to specified audit procedures where the extent of our testing was based 
on our assessment of the risks of material misstatement and of the 
materiality of the group’s operations at that location. The Property Portals 
and Comparison Services operations represent 96% of the group’s 
revenue (2015: 100%), 97% (2015: 100%) of the group’s profit before tax 
and 98% of the group’s net assets (2015: 100%). Our audit work for those 
components was executed at levels of materiality applicable to each 
individual entity which were lower than group materiality and ranged 
from £1.2 million to £1.5 million (2015: £0.8 million to £1.4 million).

There were no component audit teams, with the entire audit including 
the testing of the consolidation being conducted in ZPG’s London 
head office by one central audit team. 

Revenue

Profit 
before tax

Net assets

4%

96%

3%

97%

2%

98%

Specified audit proceduresFull audit scope

Audit Committee 
reporting threshold £0.1m

Component materiality 
range £1.5m to £1.2m

Group materiality 
£2.1m

Group materialityPBT

PBT
£46.2m
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Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:

• the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; and

• the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ 
Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records 
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, 
in our opinion:

• we have not received all the information and explanations we 
require for our audit; or

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent 
company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or

• the parent company financial statements are not in agreement 
with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our 
opinion certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration have not been 
made or the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited 
is not in agreement with the accounting records and returns. We have 
nothing to report arising from these matters.

Corporate Governance Statement
Under the Listing Rules we are also required to review part of 
the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the company’s 
compliance with certain provisions of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code. We have nothing to report arising from our review.

Our duty to read other information in the Annual Report
Under International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), we are 
required to report to you if, in our opinion, information in the annual 
report is:

• materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial 
statements; or

• apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent 
with, our knowledge of the group acquired in the course of 
performing our audit; or

• otherwise misleading.

In particular, we are required to consider whether we have identified 
any inconsistencies between our knowledge acquired during the audit 
and the directors’ statement that they consider the annual report is fair, 
balanced and understandable and whether the annual report appropriately 
discloses those matters that we communicated to the audit committee 
which we consider should have been disclosed. We confirm that we 
have not identified any such inconsistencies or misleading statements.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, 
the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). We also comply with International Standard 
on Quality Control 1 (UK and Ireland). Our audit methodology and tools 
aim to ensure that our quality control procedures are effective, understood 
and applied. Our quality controls and systems include our dedicated 
professional standards review team and independent partner reviews.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, 
in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
company’s members those matters we are required to state to them 
in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for 
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 
the group’s and the parent company’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the 
financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify 
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to 
identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based 
on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us 
in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any 
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider 
the implications for our report.

Kate J Houldsworth FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
London, UK
29 November 2016

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED
To the members of Zoopla Property Group Plc



Financial statements

Zoopla Property Group Plc Annual Report 2016 | 81

Notes
2016

£000
2015

£000

Revenue 197,728 107,556

Administrative expenses (148,053) (72,994)

Adjusted EBITDA 3 77,110 48,694

Share-based payments 24 (4,852) (1,873)

Depreciation and amortisation (11,179) (4,072)

Exceptional items 3 (11,404) (8,187)

Operating profit 4 49,675 34,562

Finance income 51 184

Finance costs (3,564) (1,163)

Profit before tax 46,162 33,583

Income tax expense 9 (9,484) (8,200)

Profit for the year being total comprehensive income 36,678 25,383

Attributable to

Owners of the parent 36,678 25,383

Earnings per share

Basic (pence) 11 8.9 6.2

Diluted (pence) 11 8.8 6.0

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 September 2016 from continuing operations
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 September 2016

Notes
2016

£000
2015

£000

Assets

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 14 322,621 253,674

Property, plant and equipment 15 6,413 1,930

Available for sale financial assets 16 724 —

Trade and other receivables 17 3,262 7,446

333,020 263,050

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 17 36,615 22,780

Cash and cash equivalents 3,367 19,199

39,982 41,979

Total assets 373,002 305,029

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 18 32,522 22,251

Current tax liabilities 6,146 4,990

Deferred and contingent consideration 19 28,143 35,393

Provisions 20 1,304 190

68,115 62,824

Non-current liabilities

Loans and borrowings 21 149,696 112,432

Deferred and contingent consideration 19 2,533 2,739

Provisions 20 1,410 609

Deferred tax liabilities 22 9,021 9,185

162,660 124,965

Total liabilities 230,775 187,789

Net assets 142,227 117,240

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Share capital 23 418 418

Share premium reserve 50 50

Other reserves 23 86,007 87,101

Retained earnings 55,752 29,671

Total equity 142,227 117,240

The consolidated financial statements of Zoopla Property Group Plc were approved by the Board of Directors and were signed on its behalf by:

A Chesterman A Botha
Director Director
29 November 2016 29 November 2016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 September 2016

2016
£000

2015
£000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 46,162 33,583

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,709 415

Amortisation of intangible assets 9,470 3,657

Finance income (51) (184)

Finance costs 3,564 1,163

Share-based payments 4,852 1,873

Transaction costs on acquisitions 1,256 5,130

Movement in contingent and deferred consideration 7,075 2,142

Operating cash flow before changes in working capital 74,037 47,779

Increase in trade and other receivables (4,991) (428)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 3,862 (46)

Increase in provisions 505 30

Cash generated from operating activities 73,413 47,335

Income tax paid (11,290) (8,224)

Net cash flows from operating activities 62,123 39,111

Cash flows (used in)/from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (48,381) (146,012)

Settlement of deferred and contingent consideration (37,042) —

Amounts paid into escrow in relation to deferred and contingent consideration (2,448) (7,436)

Acquisition of available for sale financial assets (979) —

Disposal of available for sale financial assets 255 —

Interest received 51 184

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (3,980) (111)

Acquisition and development of intangible assets (2,561) (709)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (95,085) (154,084)

Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities

Proceeds on issue of debt, net of issue costs 89,358 123,291

Repayment of debt (52,500) (11,000)

Interest paid (2,942) (780)

Treasury shares purchased (414) —

Shares released from trust 182 303

Dividends paid (16,554) (8,667)

Net cash flows from financing activities 17,130 103,147

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (15,832) (11,826)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 19,199 31,025

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 3,367 19,199
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 September 2016

Share 
premium 

reserve 
£000

 Other reserves

Notes

Share 
capital
£000

EBT share
 reserve 

£000

Merger 
reserve 

£000

Treasury 
shares 
£000

Retained
 earnings 

£000

Total 
equity 
£000

At 1 October 2015 418 50 (1,017) 88,118 — 29,671 117,240

Profit and total comprehensive 
income for the period — — — — — 36,678 36,678

Transactions with owners 
recorded directly in equity:

Share-based payments 24 — — — — — 3,990 3,990

Treasury shares purchased 23 — — — — (414) — (414)

Treasury shares released 23 — — — — 56 (56) —

Current tax on 
share-based payments 9 — — — — — 217 217

Deferred tax on 
share-based payments 9 — — — — — 888 888

Shares released from trust — — 249 — — (67) 182

Transfer between reserves1 — — — (985) — 985 —

Dividends paid 10 — — — — — (16,554) (16,554)

At 30 September 2016 418 50 (768) 87,133 (358) 55,752 142,227

Share 
premium 

reserve
£000

 Other reserves

Notes

Share 
capital
£000

EBT share
 reserve 

£000

Merger 
reserve 

£000

Treasury 
shares 
£000

Retained
 earnings 

£000

Total 
equity 
£000

At 1 October 2014 418 50 (1,566) 89,103 — 10,166 98,171

Profit and total comprehensive 
income for the period — — — — — 25,383 25,383

Transactions with owners 
recorded directly in equity:

Share-based payments 24 — — — — — 1,723 1,723

Current tax on 
share-based payments 9 — — — — — 565 565

Deferred tax on 
share-based payments 9 — — — — — (238) (238)

Shares released from trust — — 549 — — (246) 303

Transfer between reserves1 — — — (985) — 985 —

Dividends paid 10 — — — — — (8,667) (8,667)

At 30 September 2015 418 50 (1,017) 88,118 — 29,671 117,240

1 The transfer from merger reserve to retained earnings in 2016 and 2015 represents an equalisation adjustment in respect of the amortisation charge on intangibles which arose 

on acquisition of The Digital Property Group Limited on 31 May 2012. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Accounting policies
Zoopla Property Group Plc is a company domiciled and incorporated in the United Kingdom. The address of the registered office is The Cooperage, 
5 Copper Row, London SE1 2LH.

1.1 Basis of preparation
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below for the years ended 30 September 2016 
and 30 September 2015. The policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards 
and IFRIC Interpretations (collectively IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the European Union 
(“adopted IFRS”). They are prepared on the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with adopted IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
Management to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies. Note 1.20 gives further details relating to the Group’s critical 
accounting estimates.

At the date of approval, the following standards and interpretations which have not been applied in these financial statements were in issue 
but are only effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2016:

• IFRS 9 – financial instruments – classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

• Amendments to IFRS 11 – accounting for acquisition of interests in joint operations

• Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 – clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation

• IFRS 15 – revenue from contracts with customers

• Amendments to IAS 27 – equity method in separate financial statements

• Improvements 2014 – annual improvements to IFRSs: 2012–2014

• Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IFRS 28 – investment entities: Applying the consolidation exception

• Amendments to IAS 1 – Disclosure initiative

• IFRS 16 – leases

IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers is effective for the first time for the Group’s financial year commencing 1 October 2018. 
The Group is currently in the process of assessing the full impact of IFRS 15. It is not currently practical to quantify the impact of this standard. 

The impact of IFRS 16 – Leases is to require the Group to record its current head office building and fleet of motor vehicles on the statement 
of financial position. These items are currently treated as operating expenses. The change in recognition is expected to increase future 
depreciation charges and lead to a reduction in operating expenses.

All other standards identified above are not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements.

1.2 Adoption of new and revised standards
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the policies set out in the Group’s Annual Report for the year ended 
30 September 2015. No new or revised accounting standards were adopted in the period. 

1.3 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the accounts of Zoopla Property Group Plc (“the Company”) and entities controlled by the 
Company (“its subsidiaries”) (together “the Group”). Control exists when the Group has existing rights to give it the ability to direct the relevant 
activities of an entity and has the ability to affect the returns the Group will receive as a result of its involvement with the entity. The results of 
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date control commences until the date when control ceases.

On 28 April 2016 the Group acquired Property Software Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (together “Property Software Group”) from which 
date the results of Property Software Group have been consolidated. Therefore, consolidated results for 2016 include five months of performance 
of Property Software Group and are not a like for like comparison for 2015. Details of the acquisition are set out in Note 13.

On 1 June 2015 the Group acquired Ulysses Enterprises Limited and its subsidiaries (together “uSwitch”) from which date the results of uSwitch 
have been consolidated. Therefore, consolidated results for 2015 include only four months of performance within the Group’s Comparison Services 
division and are not a like for like comparative for 2016. Details of the acquisition are set out in the Group’s Annual Report 2015 and are 
summarised in Note 13.

1.4 Going concern
The financial position of the Group shows a positive net asset position and the Group continues to generate positive Adjusted EBITDA, positive 
net cash flows from operating activities and maintain its current dividend policy. As a consequence, the Directors believe that the Group is well 
placed to manage its business and financial risks successfully.

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future, thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the historical financial information.
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1. Accounting policies continued
1.5 Revenue
Revenue represents amounts due for services provided during the period, net of value added tax. The Group recognises revenue under two categories 
– Property Services and Comparison Services. 

Revenue from Property Services derives principally from subscription to the Group’s property websites and from the provision of property 
software to UK domestic estate agents (“UK Agency revenue”), home developers (“New Homes revenue”) and overseas and commercial estate 
agents. Subscription revenue is recognised over the period of the subscription. Software revenue includes subscription to Software as a Service 
(SaaS), desktop software licensing, support and installation fees. Installation fees are recorded at fair value when the installation is complete. 
Ongoing SaaS revenue, support and licensing fees are recognised over the service period. Revenue from other property services is recognised in 
the month in which the service is provided.

The main sources of Comparison Services revenue are fees received for gas and electricity comparison services (“Energy revenue”) and mobile, 
broadband, pay TV and home phone comparison services (“Communications revenue”). Revenue is recognised at the point at which the Group 
generates a lead to an energy or communications provider, based on the historical conversion of such leads into completed switches. Revenue 
from other comparison services (“Other Comparison Services revenue”) is recognised in the month in which the service is provided.

1.6 Leases 
During the period the Group entered into a new 15 year lease agreement for the Group’s head office at The Cooperage, London.

All of the Group’s current lease arrangements are recognised as operating leases as the material risks and rewards incidental to ownership remain 
with the lessor. Operating lease rentals are charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the 
period of the lease. Rent-free periods, lease arrangement fees and other direct costs are amortised through the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income over the term of the lease.

1.7 Finance income and costs
Finance income represents interest receivable on cash and deposit balances. Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective 
interest method.

Finance costs represent interest and certain fees charged on the Group’s revolving credit facility. Finance costs are recognised as they accrue 
using the effective interest method.

1.8 Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. This cost includes the purchase price, directly attributable costs and 
the estimated present value of any future unavoidable costs of dismantling and removing items. The corresponding liability is recognised within 
provisions. Items of property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and are not revalued.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their useful economic lives, using the straight-line 
method, as follows:

Fixtures and fittings – over 2 to 5 years

Computer equipment – over 2 to 5 years

Leasehold improvements – over the lease term

Freehold property  –  over 50 years

The Directors review the residual values and useful economic lives of assets on an annual basis. 

1.9 Business combinations
The acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses is accounted for using the acquisition method in accordance with IFRS 3. The consideration for 
each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the 
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, net of cash acquired. Acquisition related costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt 
or equity securities, are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value with the exception of deferred 
tax assets and liabilities, which are measured in accordance with IAS 12 – income taxes. Identifiable net assets include the recognition of any 
separately identifiable intangible assets. Further detail of the identifiable assets and liabilities recognised during the year on the acquisition of 
Property Software Group and on the 2015 acquisition of uSwitch is provided in Note 13.

Deferred and contingent consideration are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. Where the amounts payable are classified as a financial 
liability any subsequent change in the fair value is charged/credited to the Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Amounts 
classified as equity are not subsequently remeasured. Where consideration to management shareholders is contingent on their continued 
employment the amount is recognised as a remuneration expense in the statement of comprehensive income over the deferral period. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1. Accounting policies continued
1.10 Goodwill
Goodwill arising on a business combination represents the difference between the fair value of the consideration paid and the fair value of assets 
and liabilities acquired and is recorded as an intangible asset. Goodwill is not subsequently subject to amortisation but is tested for impairment 
annually and whenever the Directors have an indication that it may be impaired. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to 
the cash-generating units expected to benefit from the combination. Any impairment in carrying value is charged to the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income. 

1.11 Intangible assets
Purchased intangible assets with finite lives are initially recorded at cost. Intangibles arising on acquisition are recorded at fair value. All intangibles 
are subsequently stated at initial value less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is charged to the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the intangible assets as follows: 

Brand – 5–10 years 

Domain names – 5 years

Database – 3–10 years

Customer relationships – 5–10 years

Website development and Computer software – 3–5 years

1.12 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable 
amount. Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
to which the asset belongs is estimated. Any impairment loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate 
of its recoverable amount, but so that this increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income. 

1.13 Research and development
The Group incurs expenditure on research and development in order to develop new products and enhance the existing websites. Research 
expenditure is expensed in the period in which it is incurred. Development costs are expensed when incurred unless they meet certain criteria 
for capitalisation. Development costs whereby research findings are applied to creating a substantially enhanced website or new product are 
only capitalised once the technical feasibility and the commercial viability of the project has been demonstrated and they can be reliably 
measured. Capitalised development costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over their expected useful economic life.

Once the new website enhancement or product is available for use, subsequent expenditure to maintain the website or product, or on small 
enhancements to the website or product, is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.

Research and Development tax credit claims made are recognised as a credit to administrative expenses in the financial year relevant to the claim.

1.14 Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Full details of financial instruments are included in Note 26.

Investments in unlisted securities not meeting the definition of associates, joint ventures or subsidiaries are classified as available for sale 
financial assets and are initially recorded at fair value plus transaction costs. The investments are then remeasured at each subsequent reporting 
date to fair value. Changes in the fair value or impairments arising from the significant or prolonged decline in fair value of the unlisted securities 
are recognised in other comprehensive income. On disposal of the asset any gains and losses recorded within other comprehensive income are 
realised and are reclassified to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Trade and other receivables are designated as loans and receivables. They are recognised at amortised cost, which is net of any allowance for 
impairment in relation to irrecoverable amounts. This is deemed to be a reasonable approximation of their fair value. The provision is reviewed 
regularly in conjunction with a detailed analysis of historical payment profiles and past default experience. When a trade receivable is deemed 
uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account. The Group receives interest income on certain amounts held in escrow.

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Trade and other payables are not interest bearing and are designated as other financial liabilities. They are recognised at their carrying amount, 
which is deemed to be a reasonable approximation of their fair value. 

Loans and borrowings are measured at amortised cost, net of direct costs. Direct costs are released through the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income under the effective interest method, along with interest charged, over the life of the instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. The Company’s 
Ordinary Shares are classified as equity instruments and are recognised at the proceeds received, net of any direct issue costs. Repurchase of the 
Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, 
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial instruments are not used for speculative purposes.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents represent amounts held in the Group’s current accounts and overnight deposits that are immediately available.
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1. Accounting policies continued
1.15 Current tax
Current income tax comprises UK income tax and is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial position date. Current tax is recognised in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income except to the extent that it is required to be recognised directly in equity.

1.16 Deferred tax
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised where the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the consolidated statement of financial 
position differs from its tax base, except for differences arising on:

• the initial recognition of goodwill;

• the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction affects 
neither accounting or taxable profit; and

• investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the difference 
and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances where it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
the difference can be utilised. Deferred tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income except to the extent that 
it is required to be recognised directly in equity.

The amount of the asset or liability is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date 
and are expected to apply when the deferred tax assets are recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same 
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle balances on a net basis.

1.17 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event, it is probable that the 
Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are measured 
at Management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the statement of financial position date and are discounted 
to present value where the impact is material. The unwinding of any discount is recognised in finance costs.

Dilapidation provisions are recognised based on Management’s best estimate of costs to make good the Group’s leasehold properties at the end 
of the lease term.

Onerous lease provisions relate to contracts whereby the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations exceed the economic benefits expected 
to be received under it. The Group’s onerous lease provision relates to one of the Group’s previous office buildings which was vacated in 
September 2016.

1.18 Employee benefits: defined contribution benefit scheme
The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme which is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed 
contributions into a fund. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient 
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. Contributions payable to the fund are 
charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the period to which they relate. 

1.19 Share-based payments
The Group provides equity-settled share-based incentive plans whereby Zoopla Property Group Plc grants shares or nil-cost options over its 
shares to employees of its subsidiaries for their employment services. The Group also issues warrants over shares in Zoopla Property Group Plc 
to a number of the Group’s estate agent partners, allowing them to acquire shares in exchange for making their property listings available for 
inclusion on the Group’s property websites.

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and partners are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. 
The fair value is measured using a suitable valuation model, including the Black-Scholes and Monte-Carlo valuation models where appropriate, 
and is charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the vesting period. Non-market vesting conditions are taken into 
account by adjusting the number of equity instruments expected to vest at each statement of financial position date so that, ultimately, the 
cumulative amount recognised over the vesting period is based on the number of options that eventually vest. Market vesting conditions are 
factored into the fair value of the options granted. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to meet a market vesting condition. 
Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based payment transactions are set out in Note 24.



Financial statements

Zoopla Property Group Plc Annual Report 2016 | 89

1. Accounting policies continued
1.19 Share-based payments continued
Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in fair value of the options, measured immediately before 
and after the modification, is charged to the income statement over the remaining vesting period.

Within the company accounts of Zoopla Property Group Plc equity-settled share options granted directly to employees or estate agent partners 
of a subsidiary are treated as a capital contribution to the subsidiary. The capital contribution is measured by reference to the fair value of the 
share-based payments charge for the period and is recognised as an increase in the cost of investment with a corresponding credit to equity.

A number of shares are held in trust in order to settle future exercises of the Group’s share incentive schemes. Details of the trusts are included 
in Note 24. Shares held in trust are treated as a deduction from equity.

Employer’s National Insurance Contributions are accrued, where applicable, at a rate of 13.8%. The amount accrued is based on the market value 
of the shares at 30 September 2016 after deducting the exercise price of the share option. 

1.20 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
Management makes certain estimates and assumptions regarding the future. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated based on 
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the current circumstances. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within future periods are discussed below.

Acquisition of Property Software Group
On 28 April 2016 the Group completed its acquisition of Property Software Group. The process of determining the fair value of assets and 
liabilities acquired is inherently judgemental and there is a risk that inappropriate methodologies or assumptions could lead to the valuation 
of acquired intangibles, goodwill or the fair value of other net assets being misstated. The details of the assets and liabilities recognised are 
set out in Note 13. The Group engaged third party valuations experts to mitigate the risk associated with the valuation of assets and liabilities 
on acquisition; however, Management judgement remains in the preparation of forecasts and other assumptions which are included within 
the valuation model.

Impairment of goodwill and intangibles
The Group holds goodwill and intangibles on the statement of financial position in respect of business acquisitions made. During 2016 the 
Group has recognised intangible assets and goodwill of £75.9 million in respect of the acquisition of Property Software Group. In 2015 the Group 
recognised £181.4 million in respect of the uSwitch acquisition. Acquired intangibles include acquired brands, customer relationships, databases, 
websites and software. The Group is required to review these assets annually for impairment. Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets 
are impaired or whether a reversal of impairment of intangible assets should be recorded requires an estimation of the recoverable value of the 
relevant cash-generating unit, which represents the higher of fair value and value in use. The value in use calculation requires Management to 
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit, discounted using a suitable discount rate to determine if any 
impairment has occurred. A key area of judgement is deciding the long-term growth rate of the applicable businesses and the discount rate 
applied to those cash flows. Details of the assumptions used for 2016 are included in Note 14 to the financial statements.

Revenue and accrued income
Revenue generated by the Group’s Comparison Services division is recognised predominantly from online switching services. An element 
of Management judgement is required in calculating a revenue accrual which estimates the number of successful switches based on leads 
provided for each partner in the period between the last date of billing and the latest partner data being made available. The accrued income 
is estimated by considering the volume of leads that have passed from the Group’s websites to the partner, the historical conversion of such 
leads into completed switches and contracted revenue per switch. As at 30 September 2016 the Group holds £17.2 million of accrued income 
(2015: £10.7 million) on the statement of financial position.

Revenue from Property Services is predominantly subscription based and therefore there is a lower amount of estimation uncertainty 
and Management judgement involved in its recognition and measurement.

1.21 Non-GAAP performance measures
In the analysis of the Group’s financial performance certain information disclosed in the financial statements may be prepared on a non-GAAP 
basis or has been derived from amounts calculated in accordance with IFRS but is not itself an expressly permitted GAAP measure. These measures 
are reported in line with how financial information is analysed by Management. The Directors believe that these non-GAAP measures provide a 
more appropriate measure of the Group’s underlying business performance. The non-GAAP measures are designed to increase comparability of 
the Group’s financial performance year on year. However, these measures may not be comparable with non-GAAP measures adopted by other 
companies. The key non-GAAP measures presented by the Group are:

• Adjusted EBITDA – which is defined as operating profit after adding back depreciation and amortisation, share-based payments and exceptional 
items (Note 3); and

• Adjusted basic EPS – which is defined as profit for the year, excluding exceptional items and amortisation of intangible assets arising 
on acquisitions, adjusted for tax (adjusted profit for the year) and divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue for the 
year (Note 11).

Both of these measures are used in determining the remuneration of the Executive Directors and Management.
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2. Business segments
The Board of Directors has been identified as the Group’s chief operating decision maker. The monthly reporting pack provided to the Board 
to enable assessment of the performance of the business has been used as the basis for determining the Group’s operating segments.

Whilst the chief operating decision maker monitors the performance of the business at a revenue and Adjusted EBITDA level, depreciation and 
amortisation, share-based payments, exceptional items, finance income and costs and income tax are all monitored on a consolidated basis. 
As the Group continues to evolve we will assess the relevance of splitting out Adjusted EBITDA for the Property Services and Comparison 
Services divisions.

Assets and liabilities are also managed on a centralised basis and are not reported to the chief operating decision maker in a disaggregated format. 

The chief operating decision maker monitors six individual revenue streams as set out below. The six revenue streams are grouped under 
two headings: Property Services and Comparison Services. Adjusted EBITDA is monitored on an aggregated basis under these two headings. 
Revenue and costs shown under the UK Agency heading include trading for the five months from 28 April 2016 to 30 September 2016 of 
Property Software Group, being the period of consolidation. The consolidated results for 2015 include only four months of performance within 
the Group’s Comparison Services division and are therefore not a like for like comparative for 2016.

Property Services
• UK Agency revenue, which represents property advertising services and the provision of property software to UK estate agents and lettings agents;

• New Homes revenue, which represents property advertising services provided to new home developers; 

• Other Property Services revenue, which predominantly represents overseas and commercial property advertising services, display 
advertising and data services.

Comparison Services
• Energy revenue, which represents gas and electricity switching services;

• Communications revenue, which represents mobile, broadband, pay TV and home phone switching services; and

• Other Comparison Services revenue, which predominantly represents financial services switching, boiler cover, business energy and data 
insight services. 

All material revenues are generated in the UK.

The following table analyses the Group’s revenue streams as described above:

2016

Property 
Services

£000

Comparison
Services

£000

Total 
Group
£000

Revenue

UK Agency 64,2571 — 64,257 

New Homes  11,736  —  11,736

Other Property Services  10,757  —  10,757

Energy — 52,659 52,659 

Communications  —  44,137  44,137 

Other Comparison Services — 14,182 14,182 

Total revenue 86,750 110,978 197,728

Underlying costs (48,202) (72,416) (120,618)

Adjusted EBITDA 38,548 38,562 77,110

Share-based payments (4,852) 

Depreciation and amortisation  (11,179)

Exceptional items  (11,404)

Operating profit 49,675 

Finance income  51 

Finance costs (3,564) 

Profit before tax 46,162

Income tax expense (9,484)

Profit for the year being total comprehensive income 36,678

1 Includes revenue of £7.3 million contributed by Property Software Group during the year (2015: £Nil).
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2. Business segments continued
Comparison Services continued

2015

Property 
Services

£000

Comparison
 Services

£000

Total 
Group
£000

Revenue

UK Agency  58,269 — 58,269 

New Homes  10,965  — 10,965 

Other Property Services  10,663  —  10,663 

Energy  —  11,576  11,576 

Communications  —  13,322  13,322 

Other Comparison Services  —  2,761  2,761 

Total revenue 79,897 27,659 107,556

Underlying costs  (39,031)  (19,831) (58,862)

Adjusted EBITDA 40,866 7,828 48,694

Share-based payments (1,873)

Depreciation and amortisation (4,072)

Exceptional items  (8,187)

Operating profit 34,562

Finance income 184

Finance costs (1,163)

Profit before tax 33,583

Income tax expense  (8,200)

Profit for the year being total comprehensive income 25,383

3. Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA is used by Management as a key measure to monitor the Group’s business and the Directors believe it should be disclosed on 
the face of the statement of comprehensive income to assist in the understanding of the Group’s underlying financial performance. Furthermore, 
the terms of the Group’s revolving credit facility require Management to report on the Group’s net debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio. Adjusted EBITDA 
is therefore considered a key performance metric for Management, the providers of the Group’s external debt and other stakeholders.

The Group defines Adjusted EBITDA as operating profit after adding back depreciation and amortisation, share-based payments and exceptional 
items. Exceptional items include costs and income which Management believes to be exceptional in nature by virtue of their size or incidence. 
Such items would include costs associated with business combinations, one-off gains and losses on disposal, and similar items of a non-recurring 
nature together with reorganisation costs and similar charges. In 2016 exceptional items related to the acquisition of Property Software Group 
and the 2015 acquisition of uSwitch.

This is further adjusted for share-based payment expenses which are comprised of charges relating to: (i) warrants issued to certain of the Group’s 
partners; and (ii) employee incentive plans which are aimed at retaining staff and aligning employee objectives with those of the Group. The Directors 
consider that excluding share-based payments and other non-cash charges such as depreciation and amortisation in arriving at Adjusted EBITDA 
gives a more appropriate measure of the Group’s underlying financial performance and a closer approximation to the Group’s operating cash flows. 

The table below presents a reconciliation of profit for the period to Adjusted EBITDA for the periods shown:

2016
£000

2015
£000

Operating profit 49,675 34,562

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,709 415

Amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions 7,481 2,047

Amortisation of other intangible assets 1,989 1,610

Share-based payments (Note 24) 4,852 1,873

Exceptional items 11,404 8,187

Adjusted EBITDA 77,110 48,694
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3. Adjusted EBITDA continued
Exceptional items comprise:

2016
£000

2015
£000

Transaction costs incurred on acquisitions 1,256 5,130

Management deferred consideration conditional on continued employment 4,412 936

Management earnout consideration conditional on continued employment 2,663 1,206

Management deal related performance bonuses 3,073 915

Exceptional items 11,404 8,187

4. Operating profit
2016

£000
2015

£000

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,709 415

Amortisation of intangible assets arising on the acquisitions 7,481 2,047

Amortisation of other intangible assets 1,989 1,610

Research and Development tax credits (472) —

Operating lease rentals:

– Land and buildings 1,671 597

– Other 339 341

Share-based payments (Note 24) 4,852 1,873

The total gross value of research and development expenditure in the period was £4.3 million, of which £1.5 million was capitalised on the 
statement of financial position. Research and development expenditure relates to staff costs incurred in the development of new products 
and features.

5. Auditor’s remuneration
2016

£000
2015

£000

Fees payable to the Group’s auditor and its associates: 

– for the audit of Zoopla Property Group Plc and the consolidated financial statements 65 55

– for the audit of subsidiaries of Zoopla Property Group Plc 125 135

Total audit fees 190 190

Fees payable to the Group’s auditor and its associates for other services to the Group:

– Audit related assurance services 28 20

– Services related to acquisitions — 182

– Services related to corporate finance transactions — —

Total non-audit fees 28 202

6. Employee costs
2016

£000
2015

£000

Staff costs (including Directors) comprise:

Wages and salaries 30,454 17,121

Social security costs 4,839 1,966

Defined contribution pension costs 770 391

Share-based payments (Note 24) 3,584 1,757

39,647 21,235
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7. Remuneration of key Management personnel
2016

£000
2015

£000

Salary, benefits and bonus 2,959 1,949

Defined contribution pension cost 146 129

Share-based payments 1,772 448

4,877 2,526

Key Management personnel comprises the Chairman, the Directors and the Managing Directors of the Property Services and Comparison 
Services divisions.

Further information about the remuneration of the Directors is provided in the audited part of the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 64 to 71.

All of the key Management personnel excluding the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors are members of the Group’s defined contribution 
pension plans (2015: all).

8. Director and employee numbers
The average monthly number of Directors and employees in administration and Management during the period was:

2016
Number

2015
Number

Administration 580 285

Management 19 18

599 303

9. Income tax expense
2016

£000
2015

£000

Current tax

Current period 14,076 9,095

Adjustment in respect of prior periods (625) (145)

Total current tax 13,451 8,950

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (3,282) (765)

Adjustment in respect of prior periods 215 —

Effect of change in UK corporation tax rate (900) 15

Total deferred tax (3,967) (750)

Total income tax expense 9,484 8,200

Corporation tax is calculated at 20% (2015: 20.5%) of the taxable profit for the year.

On 15 September 2016 the Finance act 2016 confirmed a reduction in the rate of corporation tax to 19% from 1 April 2017 and 17% from 1 April 2020. 
The Finance Bill was substantively enacted at the year end date and therefore the one-off impact of remeasuring the UK deferred tax assets and 
liabilities for the rate change is recognised at 30 September 2016.
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9. Income tax expense continued
The charge for the period can be reconciled to the profit in the statement of comprehensive income as follows:

2016
£000

2015
£000

Profit before tax 46,162 33,583

Current corporation tax rate of 20% (2015: 20.5%) 9,232 6,885

Non-deductible expenses 1,562 1,390

Adjustments in respect of prior periods (410) (145)

Adjustment for the exercise of share options and warrants — 104

Enhanced relief for R&D expenditure — (14)

Effect of change in UK corporation tax rate (900) (20)

Total income tax expense 9,484 8,200

In addition to the amount charged to profit and loss, the following amounts relating to tax have been recognised directly in equity:

2016
£000

2015
£000

Current tax

Credit for current tax on share-based payments (217) (565)

Deferred tax

(Credit)/charge for deferred tax on share-based payments (888) 238

Total income tax recognised directly in equity (1,105) (327)

The Group’s effective tax rate for the year ended 30 September 2016 is 20.5% (2015: 24%). The effective tax is higher than the statutory rate 
due to non-deductible transaction costs, management deferred and contingent consideration incurred on acquisitions. In 2016 this has been offset 
by the revaluation of deferred tax assets and liabilities as a result of the reduction in the corporation tax rate to 19% from 1 April 2017 and 17% 
from 1 April 2020.

10. Dividends
2016 

£000
2015 1

£000

Interim dividend for 2016 of 1.5 pence per Ordinary Share paid on 24 June 2016 6,210 — 

Final dividend for 2015 of 2.5 pence per Ordinary Share paid on 3 March 2016 10,344 — 

Interim dividend for 2015 of 1.0 pence per Ordinary Share paid on 24 June 2015 — 4,131

Final dividend for 2014 of 1.1 pence per Ordinary Share paid on 23 February 2015 — 4,536

Total dividends paid in the year 16,554 8,667

During the year the Group paid £16.6 million in dividends to shareholders. Additionally, the Directors propose a final dividend for 2016 of 3.7 pence 
per share (2015: 2.5 pence per share) resulting in a final proposed dividend of £15.3 million (2015: £10.3 million). The dividend is subject to approval 
at the Group’s AGM on 2 February 2017. The final dividend proposed has not been included as a liability at the statement of financial position date.
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11. Earnings per share
2016

£000
2015

£000

Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share, being profit for the year 36,678 25,383

Exceptional items (Note 3) 11,404 8,187

Amortisation of intangible assets arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries 7,481 2,047

Adjustment for tax (3,170) (784)

Adjusted earnings for the year 52,393 34,833

Number of shares

Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares 413,262,135 412,509,761

Dilutive effect of share options and warrants 5,305,776 3,761,746

Dilutive effect of potentially issuable shares — 4,063,633

Dilutive earnings per share denominator 418,567,911 420,335,140

Basic and diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (pence) 8.9 6.2

Diluted earnings per share (pence) 8.8 6.0

Adjusted earnings per share

Adjusted basic earnings per share (pence) 12.7 8.4

Adjusted diluted earnings per share (pence) 12.5 8.3

Adjusted Earnings per Share figures for 2016 exclude the amortisation of intangible assets arising on the acquisitions of uSwitch and Property 
Software Group, which arise only on consolidation. Management believes that excluding the amortisation of these intangibles better reflects 
the underlying performance of the Group and increases comparability of performance year on year.

The dilutive effect of share options and warrants arises from the various share schemes operated by the Group as set out in note 24. The dilutive effect 
of potentially issuable shares of 4.1 million in 2015 related to the institutional deferred consideration on acquisition of uSwitch which could be settled in 
either cash or shares. This was fully settled in cash during 2016.
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12. Investment in subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s direct and indirect subsidiaries at 30 September 2016 are shown below. All of the subsidiaries listed are included in the 
consolidated accounts of Zoopla Property Group Plc, the ultimate parent company of the Group. The Ordinary Share capital of each subsidiary is owned 
entirely by the direct parent indicated. ZPG Limited, Ulysses Enterprises Limited and Property Software Holdings Limited are the only direct subsidiaries 
of Zoopla Property Group Plc. All subsidiaries are incorporated in the UK and registered at The Cooperage, 5 Copper Row, London SE1 2LH.

Name Direct parent Country of incorporation
Ownership of Ordinary Shares and voting interest

at 30 September 2016

Active

ZPG Limited Zoopla Property Group Plc United Kingdom 100%

Ulysses Enterprises Limited Zoopla Property Group Plc United Kingdom 100%

uSwitch Digital Limited Ulysses Enterprises Limited United Kingdom 100%

uSwitch Limited uSwitch Digital Limited United Kingdom 100%

uSwitch Communications Limited uSwitch Digital Limited United Kingdom 100%

Property Software Holdings Limited Zoopla Property Group Plc United Kingdom 100%

Jupix Limited Property Software Holdings Limited United Kingdom 100%

MoveIT Network Limited Jupix Limited United Kingdom 100%

Property Software Limited Property Software Holdings Limited United Kingdom 100%

Core Estates Limited Property Software Limited United Kingdom 100%

CFP Software Limited Property Software Limited United Kingdom 100%

Vebra Investments Limited Property Software Limited United Kingdom 100%

Vebra Limited Vebra Investments Limited United Kingdom 100%

Vebra Solutions Limited Vebra Limited United Kingdom 100%

Dormant

PSG Web Services Limited Vebra Limited United Kingdom 100%

Real Estate Technology Limited Vebra Limited United Kingdom 100%

The acquired entity Property Software Holdings Limited and its direct and indirect subsidiaries have a reporting period ended 31 March. 
The dormant subsidiaries have not taken an exemption from the preparation of individual accounts in respect of the year ended 31 March 2016 
by virtue of the s394A of Companies Act 2006. All other subsidiaries have a reporting period ending 30 September.

13. Acquisitions
Property Software Group
On 28 April 2016 Zoopla Property Group Plc completed its acquisition of Property Software Group through the purchase of 100% of the issued 
share capital of Property Software Holdings Limited for total consideration of £69.6 million as measured in accordance with IFRS 3.

Expenses incurred on the acquisition of £1.3 million are included within administration expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. 
These costs have been considered exceptional in arriving at Adjusted EBITDA for 2016 (Note 3).

Property Software Group was consolidated into the Group on 28 April 2016. In the period post acquisition, Property Software Group recorded 
revenue of £7.3 million and adjusted EBITDA of £1.7 million. On a like-for-like basis, assuming Property Software Group was consolidated 
from the commencement of the 2016 financial year, the combined Group would have recorded revenue of £207.4 million and adjusted EBITDA 
of £80.2 million.

The purchase has been accounted for as a business combination under the acquisition method in accordance with IFRS 3. In calculating the goodwill 
arising on acquisition the fair value of net assets acquired was assessed and no material adjustments from book value were made to existing 
assets and liabilities with the exception of “intangible assets – software” which has been recorded at a fair value of £5.9 million compared to 
a book value of £3.5 million. The Group has also recognised a number of separately identifiable intangibles as part of the acquisition, details 
of which are set out in Note 13.1. 
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13. Acquisitions continued
Property Software Group continued
The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired are as follows:

Fair value
£000

Property, plant and equipment 463

Intangible assets – software (Note 14) 5,904

Trade receivables 1,543

Prepayments and other receivables 669

Corporation tax asset 66

Trade payables (188)

Accruals and other payables (1,707)

Deferred income (2,385)

Provisions (35)

Total net assets acquired 4,330

Intangible assets recognised on acquisition:

– Brand (13.1) 2,222

– Customer relationships (13.1) 20,484

Deferred tax liability arising on intangibles (4,646)

Goodwill on acquisition (Note 13.2) 47,246

69,636

Satisfied by:

Cash consideration, net of cash acquired 22,263

Debt assumed and discharged (Note 13.3) 24,862

Deferred and contingent consideration (Note 13.4) 22,511

Total consideration 69,636

13.1 Intangible assets recognised on consolidation
Brand
£2.2 million has been recognised in respect of brand names operated by Property Software Group. The brands consist of desktop software 
products “Vebra”, “Core” and “CFP” and SaaS products “Alto” and “Jupix”. Property Software Group is an established software developer and 
supplier and the brands are considered to be highly recognisable in the UK real estate market. The brands have been valued using a relief from 
royalty approach. A brand royalty rate of 1.75% and a post-tax discount rate of 14.4% have been used to determine the net present value of 
avoided cash flows. Useful economic life of the brand assets are assessed as five years for desktop products and ten years for SaaS products. 

Customer relationships
£20.5 million has been recognised in respect of customer relationships held by Property Software Group. The customer relationships relate to 
existing customers with subscriptions and licences to Property Software Group’s desktop and SaaS products. The customer relationships have 
been valued using a multi-period excess earnings approach. A post-tax discount rate of 14.7% has been applied to forecast cash flows relating 
to the existing customers. Useful economic life of the customer relationships are assessed as five years for desktop products and ten years for 
SaaS products.

Software
£5.9 million has been recognised in respect of software assets developed by Property Software Group. Property Software Group has developed 
market leading desktop and SaaS software products. The software has been valued using a relief from royalty approach. A royalty rate for the 
software of 7% and a post-tax discount rate of 14.5% has been used to determine the net present value of avoided cash flows. Useful economic 
life of the software is assessed as three years for desktop products and five years for SaaS products.

13.2 Goodwill
The acquisition of Property Software Group provides a number of benefits to the Group. The goodwill recognised on acquisition represents the 
value arising from intangible assets that are not separately identifiable under IAS 38 including the skills and knowledge of Property Software 
Group’s workforce. 

The Board believes that the integration of Property Software Group into the Property Services division will result in an unrivalled UK property 
market proposition supporting professionals with their software and CRM solutions, digital marketing requirements and market insight tools 
along with providing them a range of new revenue opportunities through Property Software Group’s MoveIT platform. The Board believes this 
unique proposition will drive an increase in revenue from its partners.
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13. Acquisitions continued
13.3 Debt assumed and discharged
Immediately prior to acquisition Property Software Group had outstanding debt of £24.9 million. The outstanding debt was assumed and 
discharged by Zoopla Property Group Plc on acquisition. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flows:

2016
£000

Cash consideration, net of cash acquired on acquisition 22,263

Debt assumed and discharged 24,862

Cash expenses incurred on acquisition 1,256

Cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries 48,381

13.4 Deferred and contingent consideration
On acquisition the Group recognised deferred consideration of £22.5 million. A further £5.7 million is payable to Management shareholders and 
is conditional on the continued employment of Management up to and including the date of payment. In accordance with IFRS 3, this consideration 
will be recognised as a remuneration expense in the Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the deferral period of between 
12 months and 24 months from the date of acquisition. The Group is accruing the full £5.7 million over the deferral period, adjusted by an estimation 
of the number of leavers.

The movement in the value of deferred and contingent consideration between the date of acquisition and 30 September 2016 is set out in Note 19.

13.5 uSwitch
On 1 June 2015 Zoopla Property Group Plc completed its acquisition of uSwitch through the purchase of 100% of the issued share capital 
of Ulysses Enterprises Limited for total consideration of £177.6 million as measured in accordance with IFRS 3. Full details of the acquisition 
are included in the Annual Report 2015. On a like-for-like basis, assuming uSwitch was consolidated from the commencement of the 2015 
financial year, the combined Group would have recorded revenue of £160.1 million and adjusted EBITDA of £63.3 million.

The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired were as follows:

Fair value
£000

Property, plant and equipment 777

Intangible assets – computer software 86

Trade receivables 5,466

Accrued income 10,056

Prepayments and other receivables 953

Deferred tax assets 379

Trade payables (3,079)

Accruals and other payables (6,708)

Provisions (135)

Corporation tax payable (1,053)

Total net assets acquired 6,742

Intangible assets recognised

– Brand 48,770

– Website and technology platform 2,890

– Database 900

Deferred tax liability arising on intangibles (10,512)

Goodwill on acquisition 128,782

177,572

Satisfied by:

Cash consideration, net of cash acquired 61,907

Debt assumed and discharged 79,675

Deferred and contingent consideration 35,990

Total consideration 177,572
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13. Acquisitions continued
13.5 uSwitch continued
The following table provides a reconciliation of the amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flows:

2015
£000

Cash consideration, net of cash acquired on acquisition (61,907)

Debt assumed and discharged (79,675)

Cash expenses incurred on acquisition (4,430)

Cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries (146,012)

The earnout performance period for the uSwitch acquisition ended on 30 April 2016. As a result of the performance of the Comparison Services 
division during the performance period the full £30.0 million became due to the business’ previous shareholders. The full amount, less a reduction 
for any management shareholders which left the business prior to settlement, was paid in May 2016. Of the amount settled, £2.5 million is 
contingent on the continued employment for a further 24 months of Management shareholders and is currently held in escrow.

14. Intangible assets

Goodwill
£000

Brand
£000

Customer 
relationships

£000

Domain 
names
£000

Websites 
and computer 

software
£000

Database
£000

Total
£000

Cost

At 1 October 2015 199,575 48,770 6,091 1,451 3,847 1,129 260,863

On acquisition (Note 13) 47,246 2,222 20,484 — 5,904 — 75,856

Additions — — — — 2,561 — 2,561

At 30 September 2016 246,821 50,992 26,575 1,451 12,312 1,129 339,280

At 1 October 2014 70,793 — 6,091 1,451 162 229 78,726

On acquisition (Note 13) 128,782 48,770 — — 2,976 900 181,428

Additions — — — — 709 — 709

At 30 September 2015 199,575 48,770 6,091 1,451 3,847 1,129 260,863

Amortisation

At 1 October 2015 — 1,626 3,696 1,109 440 318 7,189

Charge for the year — 4,979 2,212 187 1,785 307 9,470

At 30 September 2016 — 6,605 5,908 1,296 2,225 625 16,659

At 1 October 2014 — — 2,478 847 — 207 3,532

Charge for the year — 1,626 1,218 262 440 111 3,657

At 30 September 2015 — 1,626 3,696 1,109 440 318 7,189

Net book value

At 30 September 2016 246,821 44,387 20,667 155 10,087 504 322,621

At 30 September 2015 199,575 47,144 2,395 342 3,407 811 253,674

Goodwill and intangibles are tested for impairment by comparing the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit (CGU) with its recoverable 
amount, which represents the higher of its estimated fair value and value in use. An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying value of 
the asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

The intangible assets relate to the three separate CGUs: Comparison Services, Property Services excluding Property Software Group and 
Property Software Group. Goodwill is allocated to each CGU per the below table.
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14. Intangible assets continued

2016
£000

Comparison Services 128,782

Property Services excluding Property Software Group 70,793

Property Software Group 47,246

At 30 September 2016 246,821 

The recoverable amounts of intangible assets and goodwill are based on the value in use, which is determined using cash flow projections 
derived from financial plans approved by the Board covering a three year period. They reflect Management’s expectations of revenue, EBITDA 
growth, capital expenditure, working capital and operating cash flows, based on past experience and future expectations of business 
performance. Cash flows beyond the three year period have been extrapolated using perpetuity growth rates.

A growth rate of 3% has been applied to extrapolate the cash flows into perpetuity. Growth has been capped at 3% across both business 
units so as not to exceed the long-term expected growth rate of the country and industry the Group operates in, in accordance with IAS 36. 
The pre-tax discount rate was used for each CGU was in the range 10.1% to 14.2%.

The analysis performed calculates that the recoverable amount of each CGU’s assets exceeds their carrying value, as such no impairment was 
identified. The Directors are comfortable that a reasonable change in the underlying assumptions would not indicate an impairment. Amending 
the analysis such that a growth rate into perpetuity of negative 3%, or a reasonable increase in discount rate, is applied across all CGUs whilst 
holding all other variables constant would still not give rise to an impairment.

15. Property, plant and equipment
Fixtures 

and fittings
£000

Freehold
property

£000

Computer 
equipment

£000

Leasehold 
improvements

£000
Total

£000

Cost

At 1 October 2015 340 — 983 1,240 2,563

Acquired on acquisitions 34 209 150 70 463

Additions 570 — 829 4,330 5,729

At 30 September 2016 944 209 1,962 5,640 8,755

At 1 October 2014 209 — 359 1,107 1,675

Acquired on acquisitions 123 — 521 133 777

Additions 8 — 103 — 111

At 30 September 2015 340 — 983 1,240 2,563

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 October 2015 120 — 310 203 633

Charge for the year 253 2 411 1,043 1,709

At 30 September 2016 373 2 721 1,246 2,342

At 1 October 2014 35 — 126 57 218

Charge for the year 85 — 184 146 415

At 30 September 2015 120 — 310 203 633

Net book value

At 30 September 2016 571 207 1,241 4,394 6,413

At 30 September 2015 220 — 673 1,037 1,930
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16. Available for sale financial assets
2016

£000

At 1 October 2015 —

Additions 974

Disposals (250)

At 30 September 2016 724

Available for sale financial assets represent the Group’s strategic partnerships with a number of UK Proptech and Fintech companies.

17. Trade and other receivables
2016

£000
2015

£000

Trade receivables 8,896 8,850

Accrued income 17,228 10,740

Prepayments 3,160 2,348

Amounts held in escrow 9,884 7,446

Other receivables 709 842

39,877 30,226

Non-current 3,262 7,446

Current 36,615 22,780

39,877 30,226

The Directors consider that the carrying value of trade and other receivables is approximate to their fair value. The carrying value also represents 
the maximum credit exposure.

£9.9 million is held in escrow for the settlement of deferred consideration payable in relation to the acquisition of uSwitch.

Details of the Group’s exposure to credit risk are given in Note 26.

18. Trade and other payables
2016

£000
2015

£000

Trade payables 7,618 5,507

Accruals 16,955 10,599

Other taxation and social security payments 5,865 5,512

Deferred income 1,813 380

Other payables 271 253

32,522 22,251

The Directors consider that the carrying value of trade and other payables is approximate to their fair value. Details of the Group’s exposure 
to liquidity risk are given in Note 26.
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19. Deferred and contingent consideration
The Group’s liabilities in respect of deferred and contingent consideration arising on the acquisition of Property Software Group on 28 April 2016 
and the acquisition of uSwitch on 1 June 2015 are set out below:

Deferred
 consideration

£000

Contingent
consideration – 

earnout
£000

Total
£000

At 1 October 2015 11,976 26,156 38,132

Recognised on acquisition of Property Software Group 22,511 — 22,511

Charge in the period for amounts conditional on the continued employment of Management 4,412 2,663 7,075

uSwitch settlement (10,040) (27,002) (37,042)

At 30 September 2016 28,859 1,817 30,676

Current 26,813 1,330 28,143

Non-current 2,046 487 2,533

At 1 October 2014 — — —

Recognised on acquisition of uSwitch 11,040 24,950 35,990

Charge in the period for amounts conditional on the continued employment of Management 936 1,206 2,142

At 30 September 2015 11,976 26,156 38,132

Current 10,000 25,393 35,393

Non-current 1,976 763 2,739

20. Provisions 
The movement in provisions can be analysed as follows:

Dilapidation 
provisions

£000

Onerous 
lease
£000

Total
£000

At 1 October 2015 799 — 799

Acquired on acquisition of Property Software Group 35 — 35

Recognised in the period 1,375 729 2,104

Utilised in the period (224) — (224)

At 30 September 2016 1,985 729 2,714

Current 575 729 1,304

Non-current 1,410 — 1,410

At 1 October 2014 634 — 634

Acquired on acquisition of uSwitch 135 — 135

Charged in the period 30 — 30

Utilised in the period — — — 

At 30 September 2015 799 — 799

Current 190 — 190

Non-current 609 — 609

The dilapidation provisions relate to Management’s best estimate of costs to make good the Group’s leasehold properties at the end of the lease 
term. The charge in the period represents expected exit costs on completion of the Group’s new property lease at the Cooperage, London. 
During the period the Group vacated a number of previous office buildings, utilising £0.2 million of the brought-forward provision.

The onerous lease provision relates to Management’s best estimate of the fair value of future lease payments falling due prior to the expected 
assignment of the lease of one of the Group’s previous office buildings which was vacated in September 2016. It is anticipated that the onerous 
lease provision shall be fully utilised in the 2017 financial year.
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21. Loans and borrowings
On 30 April 2015 the Group entered into an agreement for the provision of a five year, £150.0 million revolving credit facility. On 18 April 2016 
a £50.0 million extension to the revolving credit facility was agreed to finance the acquisition of Property Software Group.  The drawn portion of 
the facility incurs interest at UK Libor plus a margin. The margin is variable based on the Group’s net debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio. The 
effective interest rate for the period is set out in Note 26. 

Total
£000

Gross borrowings at 01 October 2015 114,000

Repayment of borrowings (46,500)

Drawdown of borrowings 84,000

Gross borrowings at 30 September 2016 151,500

Capitalised costs at 30 September 2016 (1,804)

Total loans and borrowings 149,696

Gross loans and borrowings at 01 October 2014 —

Initial draw down on acquisition of uSwitch 125,000

Repayment of borrowings (11,000)

Gross borrowings at 30 September 2015 114,000

Capitalised costs at 30 September 2015 (1,568)

Total loans and borrowings 112,432

The Group has no other loans or borrowings.

22. Deferred tax
Property, plant 
and equipment 

and computer 
software

£000

 
Intangible 

assets
£000

Share-based 
payments

£000
Other 
 £000

Total
£000

Deferred tax asset/(liability) at 1 October 2015 136 (10,623) 866 436 (9,185)

On acquisition of Property Software Group (45) (4,646) — — (4,691)

(Charge)/credit to profit or loss (103) 2,794 778 713 4,182

Charge to equity — — 888 — 888

Prior year adjustment 38 — — (253) (215)

Deferred tax asset/(liability) at 30 September 2016 26 (12,475) 2,532 896 (9,021)

Deferred tax asset/(liability) at 1 October 2014 326 (784) 895 — 437

On acquisition of uSwitch — (10,512) — 379 (10,133)

(Charge)/credit to profit or loss (190) 673 209 57 749

Charge to equity — — (238) — (238)

Deferred tax asset/(liability) at 30 September 2015 136 (10,623) 866 436 (9,185)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where the Group has a legally enforceable right to do so. Deferred tax assets have been recognised 
in respect of all temporary differences giving rise to income tax assets because it is probable that these assets will be recoverable.

The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial reporting purposes: 

2016
£000

2015
£000

Deferred tax liabilities (12,475) (10,623)

Deferred tax assets 3,454 1,438

(9,021) (9,185)
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23. Equity
Share capital

2016
£000

2015
£000

Shares classified as capital

Authorised

418,116,472 (2015: 418,116,472) shares of £0.001 (2015: £0.001) each 418 418

Called-up share capital – allotted and fully paid

418,116,472 (2015: 418,116,472) Ordinary Shares of £0.001 (2015: £0.001) each 418 418

Ordinary Shares
The Ordinary Shares carry one vote per share and rights to dividends, except when they are held as Treasury shares by the Company.

Other reserves – Merger reserve
The merger reserve was created in May 2012 from the premium on shares issued for the acquisition of The Digital Property Group Limited. 
In 2014 the merger reserve increased as a result of the Group’s reorganisation prior to the IPO.

Other reserves – EBT share reserve
The EBT share reserve represents shares in issue that are held by the Employee Benefit Trust for the purpose of settling the Group’s obligations 
under the Employee Share Option Scheme.

Other reserves – Treasury shares
Between 11 February 2016 and 17 February 2016 the Group acquired 188,340 of its own shares at a weighted average price of 220.0 pence in 
order to settle the exercise of outstanding warrants. As at 31 March 2016 25,551 of the shares had been released from treasury to satisfy warrant 
exercises leaving 162,789 shares in treasury with a weighted average price of 220.0 pence and a total value of £358,000 as at 30 September 2016.

24. Share-based payments
The Group operates a number of share-based incentive schemes for both its employees and certain estate agent partners. The Group 
recognised a total share-based payments charge of £4.9 million for 2016 (2015: £1.9 million) as set out below:

2016
£000

2015
£000

Employee Share Option Scheme (i) 486 600

Long Term Incentive Plan (ii) 881 600

Share Incentive Plan (iii) 276 231

Deferred Bonus Plan (iv) 427 175

Value Creation Plan (v) 1,156 —

Management deal related performance bonus (vi) 358 —

Warrant charges (vii) 406 117

National Insurance Contributions payable in respect of eligible share-based payment schemes (viii) 862 150

4,852 1,873
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24. Share-based payments continued
i) Employee Share Option Scheme
The Group operates an equity-settled share-based incentive scheme which was in place prior to the Group’s listing on the London Stock Exchange 
for all employees under an approved plan up to 31 May 2012 and an unapproved plan thereafter. The options vest in instalments over four years. 
Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the options vest. The Group recognised a charge of £0.5 million (2015: £0.6 million) 
in respect of options under this scheme.

The Employee Share Option Scheme will continue to operate until all shares vest or lapse, or the scheme is otherwise cancelled. There will be 
no future grants under this scheme.

Details of options under the scheme outstanding at 30 September 2016 are set out below:

2016 2015

Number
’000

Weighted average 
exercise price 

£
Number

’000

Weighted average 
exercise price 

£

Outstanding options at the beginning of the year 3,739 0.27 5,693 0.26

Exercised during the year (653) 0.28 (1,416) 0.21

Forfeited during the year (197) 0.34 (538) 0.32

Outstanding options at the end of the year 2,889 0.27 3,739 0.27

The options outstanding at 30 September 2016 had a weighted average exercise price of £0.27 (2015: £0.27) and a weighted average remaining 
contractual life of 6.7 years (2015: 8.6 years). The range of exercise prices for outstanding options is £0.06 to £0.35 (2015: £0.06 to £0.35).

The number of options exercisable as at 30 September 2016 was 2,100,000 (2015: 2,023,000).

ii) Long Term Incentive Plan 
The Group operates an equity-settled Long Term Incentive Plan that grants nil-cost options to eligible employees which vest at the end of a 
three year vesting period. The vesting of the options is subject to both Adjusted earnings per share (EPS) and Total Shareholder Return (TSR) 
performance criteria. The Group recognised a charge of £0.9 million (2015: £0.6 million) in respect of this scheme.

A total of 1,465,419 options have been granted in respect of the 2016 financial year. None of the options granted are exercisable as at 30 September 2016. 
The following information is relevant in the determination of the fair value of the LTIP options granted on 9 December 2015. There were no other 
material grants in 2016. The total outstanding number of LTIP options granted to date is 2,866,354.

9 December 2015 
grant

Valuation method – TSR Monte-Carlo

Valuation method – EPS Black-Scholes

Share price at grant date £2.32

Exercise price £nil

Expected volatility 32.9%

Expected life 3 years

Expected dividend yield n/a

Risk-free interest rate 0.9%

Fair value per share – TSR £1.41

Fair value per share – EPS £2.32

The volatility assumption, measured at the standard deviation of expected share price returns, has been calculated using historical daily data 
of six comparator companies over a term commensurate with the expected life of each option. Dividend equivalent payments will be made 
in respect of vested options in the form of additional shares.

iii) Share Incentive Plan (SIP)
The SIP is an all-employee share ownership plan which has been designed to meet the requirements of Schedule 2 of the Income Tax (Earnings 
and Pensions) Act 2003 so that shares can be provided to UK employees under the SIP in a tax-efficient manner. Under the scheme employees 
may be awarded Free Shares and/or offered the opportunity to purchase Partnership Shares with one Free Matching Share for each Partnership 
Share purchased. During the period the Group granted a total of 92,581 Matching Shares all of which are still subject to forfeiture should the 
employee leave within 12 months of the grant date. The Group recognised a charge of £0.3 million (2015: £0.2 million) in respect of shares under 
this scheme.



106 | The consumer champion at the heart of the home
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24. Share-based payments continued
iv) Deferred Bonus Plan
From 1 October 2014 the Group has operated a Deferred Bonus Plan (DBP) which defers a proportion of eligible employees’ annual bonuses 
into nil-cost options. The options vest over a period of between one and three years from the end of the performance period. The performance 
period for the 2016 DBP runs from 1 October 2015 until 30 September 2016. The Group recognised a charge of £0.4 million (2015: £0.2 million) 
in respect of this scheme. In December 2015 a total of 317,155 options were granted in respect of the 2015 financial year.

v) Value Creation Plan
On 1 October 2015 the Group launched the VCP. The VCP grants nil-cost options to the Group’s CEO based on Total Shareholder Return over 
a three and four year period. The fair value of the scheme is £4.3 million spread over the four year period. A charge of £1.2 million (2015: £Nil) 
was recognised in the 2016 financial year. The following information is relevant in the determination of the fair value:

1 October 2015
grant 

Valuation method Monte-Carlo

Share price at grant date £2.10

Initial measurement price £2.19

Exercise price £nil

Expected volatility 26.4%

Expected life 3.24/4.24 years

Expected dividend yield 0.8%

Risk-free interest rate 0.5%

vi) Management deal related performance bonus
On 1 May 2016 an amendment was made to the uSwitch deal related management performance bonus such that the employee can elect to 
receive the bonus in the form of shares in Zoopla Property Group Plc instead of a fixed cash element. The fair value of the employee’s option 
to elect to receive shares is £1.3 million to be spread over the 2.08 year remaining term of the bonus agreement. The Group recognised a charge 
of £0.4 million (2015: £Nil) in respect of this scheme. The following information is relevant in determination of the fair value:

1 May 2016
grant 

Valuation method Black-Scholes

Share price at grant date £2.94

Initial measurement price £2.71

Deemed exercise price £2.71

Expected volatility 32.9%

Expected life 2.08 years

Expected dividend yield 1.01%

Risk-free interest rate 0.97%

vii) Warrants
The Group has entered into agreements with a number of estate agent partners whereby the partners agree to pay annual fees for advertising 
on the Group’s property websites over a five year period in exchange for a fixed number of warrants over Ordinary Shares. The warrants are issued 
annually over the five year term of the agreements at an exercise price equal to the nominal value of each share (£0.001). Some or all of the 
warrants are forfeited if service agreements are terminated before the end of the term.

Between 11 February 2016 and 17 February 2016 Zoopla Property Group Plc purchased 188,340 of its own shares, which are held in treasury, 
to settle future warrant exercises. 162,789 shares remained in treasury at 30 September 2016.

The total charge recognised for the year ended 30 September 2016 in respect of warrants was £0.4 million (2015: £0.1 million). 
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24. Share-based payments continued
vii) Warrants continued

2016 2015

Number
’000

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
£

Number
’000

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
£

Outstanding warrants at the beginning of the year 114,009 0.001 — —

Issued during the year 142,861 0.001 137,779 0.001

Exercised during the year (25,551) 0.001 (23,770) 0.001

Outstanding warrants at the end of the year 231,319 0.001 114,009 0.001

The number of warrants outstanding at 30 September 2016 was 231,319 (2015: 114,009). The warrants had a weighted average exercise price 
of £0.001 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.9 years (2015: 4.4 years).

The number of warrants issuable over shares in Zoopla Property Group Plc under existing partner contracts is 1,055,000 (2015: 1,198,300). 
The warrants will be issued with an exercise price of £0.001 over the lives of the contracts.

viii) National Insurance Contributions (NIC)
National Insurance Contributions are payable in respect of certain share-based payment schemes. These contributions are treated as cash-settled 
transactions and are accrued at a rate of 13.8%. The total NIC charge relating to share-based payment schemes was £0.9 million (2015: £0.2 million).

ix) The Employee Benefit Trust and Share Incentive Plan Trust
Employee Benefit Trust (EBT)
The Group has established an Employee Benefit Trust which is constituted by a trust deed entered into between the Company and Appleby Trust 
(Jersey) Limited. The Trust held 3,838,636 Ordinary Shares in Zoopla Property Group Plc at 30 September 2016 (2015: 4,491,861). These shares 
are held to satisfy future exercises under the Group’s share-based payment schemes. Shares are allocated by the Trust when the awards are 
exercised. The Trust waives its right to any dividends. The market value of the shares held in the Trust at 30 September 2016 was £14.6 million 
(2015: £9.4 million). The cost of the shares has been deducted from equity.

Share Incentive Plan Trust (SIP Trust)
The Group has established a Share Incentive Plan Trust which is constituted by a trust deed which was entered into between Zoopla Property Group Plc 
and Yorkshire Building Society. The Trust held 602,817 Ordinary Shares in Zoopla Property Group Plc at 30 September 2016 (2015: 427,515). 
These shares are held to satisfy future Free Share and Partnership and Matching Share exercises. Shares are allocated by the Trust when the 
awards are exercised. Dividends paid on shares held in the Trust are passed to the employees when the shares are allocated. The market value 
of the shares held in the Trust at 30 September 2016 was £2.0 million (2015: £0.9 million). The cost of the shares has been deducted from equity.

25. Related party transactions
a) Key Management personnel
The Chairman and the Directors are considered to be the key Management personnel of the Group along with the Managing Directors 
of Property and Comparison Services. Details of remuneration for key Management personnel are shown in Note 7.

No share options were exercised by key Management personnel in the period.

Further information on the remuneration of the Chairman and the Directors can be found in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 54 to 71. 

b) Other Group companies
Details of transactions with subsidiaries are outlined in the Company’s financial statements. Transactions with other Group companies have been 
eliminated on consolidation.

c) Other related parties
Other related party transactions are as follows:

At 30 September 2016 Daily Mail & General Trust plc owned 31.3% of the share capital of Zoopla Property Group Plc through its subsidiary 
DMGZ Limited (2015: 31.3%).

A&N Media Finance Services Limited (ANMFS), a subsidiary of Daily Mail & General Trust plc supplied various shared services to ZPG Limited 
for which the fee was £38,000 (2015: £43,000) for the year. The balance outstanding at 30 September 2016 was £Nil (2015: £Nil).

There are no further related party transactions.
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26. Financial instruments
Carrying amount and fair value of financial assets and liabilities
All financial assets, including cash and cash equivalents, are designated as “Loans and receivables” and are held at amortised cost other than 
“Available for sale” financial assets which are held at fair value as disclosed in Note 16. All financial liabilities are classified as “Other liabilities” 
and are measured at amortised cost. The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised 
cost in the financial statements are approximate to their fair values. 

Financial risk management
The Group is exposed to the following risks from financial instruments:

• credit risk;

• market risk; and

• liquidity risk.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or bank (“counterparty”) fails to meet its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of each period was equal to the carrying amount of financial 
assets recorded in the financial statements. The exposure to credit risk is influenced by the individual characteristics of each counterparty. 

The potential for customer default varies between the Group’s two divisions. The customer base of the Property Services division is large, so 
there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Comparison Services division operates in a market with a small number of customers, which 
creates a concentration of debtor balances, and from time to time the amounts due from one or a number of suppliers may be material. However, 
customers within this market are often large energy and telecommunications organisations with high credit ratings and access to significant 
funds. The Group’s largest customer contributed to 18% (2015: 19%) of the Group’s trade receivables balance. 

The Group manages counterparty risk on its trade receivables through strict credit control quality measures and regular aged debt monitoring 
procedures. The Group reserves the right to charge interest on overdue receivables, although it does not hold collateral over any trade receivable 
balances. Overdue amounts are regularly reviewed and impairment provisions are created where necessary. This provision is reviewed regularly 
in conjunction with a detailed analysis of ageing profile, historical payment profiles and past default experience. The Group has long-standing 
relationships with its key customers and extremely low historical levels of customer credit defaults.

The ageing of trade receivables at the period end is as follows:

2016 2015

Gross
£000

Provision
£000

Gross
£000

Provision
£000

0–30 days 4,634 — 7,205 —

31–60 days 3,154 (104) 1,234 —

61–90 days 721 (151) 400 (38)

91+ days 767 (125) 680 (631)

Total 9,276 (380) 9,519 (669)

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date 
credit was granted up to the period end date.

Receivables written-off during the year to 30 September 2016 was £470,000 (2015: 333,000). As at 30 September 2016 receivables of 
£1,386,000 were past due but not impaired (2015: £1,314,000).

The credit risk associated with bank and deposit balances is mitigated by the use of banks with good credit ratings.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in foreign exchange and interest rates will affect the income and financial management of the Group. The Group 
is not exposed to any significant currency risk and there is a minimal interest rate risk on cash and bank balances. However, the Group has borrowings 
subject to an interest rate calculated with reference to Libor. Changes in interest rates therefore impact the financial results of the Group. The Directors 
actively monitor interest rate risk and note that interest rates remain at a historical low. The Directors believe that any reasonable increase in the 
Libor rate would not significantly impact the Group. Therefore, the Group does not hedge its interest rate risk at this time. At 30 September 2016 
borrowings of £151.5 million were subject to floating interest rates (2015: £114.0 million). 

At 30 September 2016 if Libor were to have increased by 1% throughout the year with all other variables held constant profit before tax would 
decrease by £1.2 million (2015: £0.4 million) as a result of additional interest incurred. Therefore, the Directors are comfortable that any sensitivity 
to fluctuations in interest or exchange rates would not have a material impact on the results of the Group.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk refers to the ability of the Group to meet the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled in cash as they 
fall due. Management regularly reviews performance against budgets and forecasts to ensure sufficient cash funds are available to meet its 
contractual obligations.

The Group’s activities are highly cash generative allowing it to effectively service working capital requirements. At 30 September 2016 the Group 
held total cash and cash equivalents of £3.4 million (2015: £19.2 million) and net debt of £146.3 million (2015: £93.2 million).
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26. Financial instruments continued
Liquidity risk continued
The Group has access to a £200.0 million revolving credit facility (RCF), of which £151.5 million was drawn-down at 30 September 2016. The remaining 
£48.5 million undrawn facility allows the Group to secure additional external financing should it be required. The total facility requires the Group 
to meet certain covenants based on the Group’s interest cover and net debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio. Exceeding the covenants would result in 
the Group being in breach of the facility, which may lead to the facility being withdrawn. Management regularly monitors and models covenant 
compliance and prepares detailed forecasts to ensure that sufficient headroom is available. The Directors are satisfied that there is reasonable 
headroom on each of the Group’s debt covenant ratios.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturities for undiscounted financial liabilities, including interest. The contractual 
maturity is based on the earliest date on which the Group may be required to settle. Where interest rates are variable the undiscounted amount 
is derived from interest rate curves at 30 September 2016.

Effective
interest rate

Within 1 year
£000

1 to 2 years 
£000

2 to 5 years 
£000

More than
5 years 

£000

Total
contractual

amount
£000

2016

Trade payables 7,618 — — — 7,618

Borrowings1 2.9% 4,096 4,535 158,927 — 167,558

Total 11,714 4,535 158,927 — 175,176

2015

Trade payables 5,507 — — — 5,507

Borrowings1 3.0% 2,920 3,222 123,513 — 129,655

Total 8,427 3,222 123,513 — 135,162

1 Interest on the Group’s borrowings assumes that the Group makes no further capital repayments until maturity of the RCF in 2020.

Treasury and capital risk management
The Group’s policy is to actively manage its cash and capital structure to ensure that it complies with its current debt covenant ratios, 
maintains its current dividend policy and minimises the Group’s interest payments by paying down its debt where possible. 

Management will consider the use of excess cash, including the payment of special dividends to shareholders and M&A activity, based 
on the risks and opportunities of the Group at that time. 

The Directors can manage the Group’s capital structure through the issue or redemption of either debt or equity instruments and by adjustment 
to the Group’s dividend paid to equity holders. The Directors believe that the current debt to equity ratio remains appropriate but continue to 
monitor the efficiency of the capital structure on an ongoing basis. 

27. Operating lease commitments
At the statement of financial position date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases, which fall due as follows:

2016
£000

2015
£000

Within one year 3,267 1,139

In the second to fifth year inclusive 13,067 3,565

After five years 27,214 2,306

43,548 7,010

All operating lease commitments are in respect of property leases held by the Group.

28. Subsequent events
On 28 November 2016 the Group entered into an agreement to purchase 100% of the issued share capital of Technicweb Limited for initial 
consideration of £1.5 million, deferred consideration of £250,000 due 12 months from the date of completion and earn-out consideration 
based on performance over a 30 month period post completion. The acquisition is expected to complete on 30 November 2016.

There have been no other reportable subsequent events between 30 September 2016 and the date of signing of this report.

29. Ultimate controlling party
The Directors are of the opinion that there was no ultimate controlling party in either period presented. 
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Notes
2016

£000
2015

£000

Assets

Non-current assets

Investment in subsidiaries 4 250,790 200,478

Intangible assets 128 —

Property, plant and equipment 5 5,315 —

Trade and other receivables 6 74,698 77,446

Deferred tax assets 600 183

331,531 278,107

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 6 9,092 164

Cash and cash equivalents 414 4,668

9,506 4,832

Total assets 341,037 282,939

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 7 27,732 21,905

Deferred and contingent consideration 8 28,143 35,393

Non-current liabilities

Loans and borrowings 9 149,696 112,432

Deferred and contingent consideration 8 2,533 2,739

Provisions 10 1,375 —

Total liabilities 209,479 172,469

Net assets 131,558 110,470

Equity

Share capital 11 418 418

Share premium reserve 50 50

Other reserves 11 90,137 90,495 

Retained earnings 40,953 19,507

Total equity 131,558 110,470

The financial statements of Zoopla Property Group Plc (company number 09005884) were approved and authorised for issue by the Board 
of Directors and were signed on its behalf by:

A Chesterman A Botha
Director Director
29 November 2016 29 November 2016

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 September 2016
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 September 2016

2016
£000

2015
£000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 33,649 26,119

Adjustments for:

Finance income (1,615) (618)

Finance costs 3,559 1,162

Dividend income received (47,000) (35,000)

Transaction costs on acquisition of Property Software Group 1,256 5,130

Movement in contingent and deferred consideration 7,075 2,142

Operating cash flow before changes in working capital (3,076) (1,065)

Decrease in trade and other receivables 21,093 9,669

Increase in trade and other payables 4,984 20,477

Net cash flows from operating activities 23,001 29,081

Cash flows (used in)/from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiaries (49,892) (155,540)

Settlement of deferred and contingent consideration (37,042) —

Amounts paid into escrow in relation to deferred and contingent consideration (2,448) (7,436)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,441) —

Interest income received 1,615 618

Dividend income received 47,000 35,000

Net cash flows used in investing activities (44,208) (127,358)

Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities

Proceeds on issue of debt, net of issue costs 89,358 123,291

Repayment of debt (52,500) (11,000)

Interest paid (2,937) (779)

Treasury shares purchased (414) —

Dividends paid (16,554) (8,667) 

Net cash flows from financing activities 16,953 102,845

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (4,254) 4,568

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 4,668 100

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 414 4,668
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Share 
capital 
£000

Share 
premium 

reserve 
£000

Treasury
shares
£000

Merger 
reserve 

£000

Retained 
earnings 

£000

Total 
equity 
£000

At 1 October 2015 418 50 — 90,495 19,507 110,470

Profit and total comprehensive income 
for the period — — — — 34,066 34,066

Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity: 

Share-based payments — — — — 3,990 3,990

Treasury shares purchased — — (414) — — (414)

Treasury shares released — — 56 — (56) —

Dividends paid — — — — (16,554) (16,554)

At 30 September 2016 418 50 (358) 90,495 40,953 131,558
 

Share 
capital 
£000

Share 
premium 

reserve 
£000

Treasury
shares
£000

Merger 
reserve 

£000

Retained 
earnings 

£000

Total 
equity 
£000

At 1 October 2014 418 50 — 90,495 151 91,114

Profit and total comprehensive income 
for the period — — — — 26,302 26,302

Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity: 

Dividends paid — — — — (8,667) (8,667)

Share-based payments — — — — 1,721 1,721

At 30 September 2015 418 50 — 90,495 19,507 110,470

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 September 2016
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Accounting policies and basis of accounting
The Directors have applied International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union.

The accounting policies and the financial risk management policies, where relevant to the Company, are consistent with those of the consolidated 
Group as set out in Notes 1 to 29 of the consolidated financial statements. 

Statement of comprehensive income
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption available under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not presented a statement 
of comprehensive income. The profit for the period ended 30 September 2016 was £34.1 million (2015: £26.3 million).

2. Auditor’s remuneration
The Company incurred a cost of £65,000 (2015: £55,000) for statutory audit services for the period ended 30 September 2016. The Company 
incurred a cost of £28,000 (2015: £Nil) in relation to non-audit fees provided by the statutory auditor.

3. Employee costs and Directors’ remuneration
The Company has no employees other than the Directors of the Company. Remuneration paid to the Directors was accounted for and paid by 
the Company’s subsidiary, ZPG Limited. Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 54 to 71. 

4. Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are valued at cost less any provision for impairment. The investment in subsidiaries balance of £250.8 million represents 
the Company’s 100% shareholding in ZPG Limited, Ulysses Enterprises Limited and Property Software Holdings Limited as set out in Note 13 to 
the consolidated financial statements. Property Software Holdings Limited was acquired on 28 April 2016 as detailed in Note 13 to the consolidated 
financial statements. Ulysses Enterprises Limited was acquired on 1 June 2015 as set out in the 2015 Annual Report. 

During the year the Company recognised an increase in the investment in ZPG Limited and Ulysses Enterprises Limited in respect of the Group’s 
employee share schemes. Consistent with the Group accounting policies outlined in Note 1.19 to the consolidated financial statements, equity-settled 
share options granted directly to a subsidiary’s employees are treated as a capital contribution to the subsidiary. The capital contribution is measured 
by reference to the consolidated share-based payments charge and is recognised as an increase in the cost of investment with a corresponding 
credit to retained earnings. 

ZPG 
Limited

£000

Ulysses
 Enterprises 

Limited
£000

Property
 Software
 Holdings 

Limited
£000

Total
£000

At 1 October 2015 93,053 107,425 — 200,478

Acquisition of Property Software Group — — 46,324 46,324

Share-based payment – Capital contribution 3,630 358 — 3,988

At 30 September 2016 96,683 107,783 46,324 250,790

At 1 October 2014 91,332 — — 91,332

Acquisition of Ulysses Enterprises Limited — 107,425 — 107,425

Share-based payment – Capital contribution 1,721 — — 1,721

At 30 September 2015 93,053 107,425 — 200,478
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5. Property, plant and equipment
Fixtures

and fittings
£000

Computer
equipment

£000

Leasehold
improvements

£000
Total

£000

Cost

At 1 October 2015 — — — —

Additions 545 440 4,330 5,315

At 30 September 2016 545 440 4,330 5,315

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 October 2015 — — — —

Charge for the year — — — —

At 30 September 2016 — — — —

Net book value

At 30 September 2016 545 440 4,330 5,315

At 30 September 2015 — — — —

6. Trade and other receivables
2016

£000
2015

£000

Amounts receivable from Group Companies 73,405 70,000

Prepayments 501 164

Amounts held in escrow 9,884 7,446

83,790 77,610

Current 9,092 164

Non-current 74,698 77,446

83,790 77,610

The Directors consider that the carrying value of trade and other receivables are approximate to their fair value. 

Amounts held in escrow are held for the settlement of deferred consideration due on the acquisition of uSwitch.

The Company has a receivable of £48.5 million due from Ulysses Enterprises Limited and £22.9 million from Property Software Holdings Limited. 
Both amounts are designated as unsecured, intercompany loans. The loans accrue interest at Libor + 2% and have no fixed repayment dates. 
A trading balance of £2.0 million is due from Ulysses Enterprises Limited. No interest is receivable on the balance. The Company is comfortable 
that these amounts are recoverable in full.

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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7. Trade and other payables
2016

£000
2015

£000

Trade payables 270 11

Accruals 5,964 1,894

Amounts payable to Group companies 21,498 20,000

27,732 21,905

At 30 September 2016 a trading balance of £21.5 million is due to ZPG Limited. No interest is payable on the balance.

The Directors consider that the carrying value of trade and other payables are approximate to their fair value. All trade and other payables 
are classified as current liabilities.

Details of the Group’s exposure to liquidity risk are given in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

8. Deferred and contingent consideration
Details of deferred and contingent consideration are given in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

9. Loans and borrowings
Details of loans and borrowings are given in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

10. Provisions 
The movement in provisions can be analysed as follows:

Dilapidation
provisions

£000

At 1 October 2015 —

Charged in the period 1,375

At 30 September 2016 1,375

The dilapidation provisions relate to Management’s best estimation of costs to make good the Company’s leasehold property at the end 
of the lease term. The charge in the period represents expected exit costs on completion of the Company’s property lease.
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11. Equity
Share capital
Details of the Company’s share capital are included in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other reserves – merger reserve
The merger reserve represents the difference between the investment recognised in ZPG Limited on restructuring in 2014 of £90.9 million 
and the value of the shares issued of £0.4 million.

Other reserves – treasury shares
Between 11 February 2016 and 17 February 2016 the Group acquired 188,340 of its own shares at a weighted average price of 220.0 pence in 
order to settle the exercise of outstanding warrants. As at 31 March 2016 25,551 of the shares had been released from treasury to satisfy warrant 
exercises, leaving 162,789 shares in treasury with a weighted average price of 220.0 pence and a carrying value of £358,000. The market value 
of treasury shares as at 30 September 2016 is £530,000. 

12. Financial instruments
The IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments disclosures, where relevant to the Company, are consistent with those of the Group as set out in Note 26
to the consolidated financial statements.

13. Related parties
a) Key Management personnel
There are no employees of the Company. The Directors are employed and/or remunerated by the Company’s subsidiary, ZPG Limited. There were
no transactions during the year between the Directors and the Company other than the issue of shares and share options as outlined in the
Directors’ remuneration report on pages 54 to 71.

b) Subsidiaries
Transactions with subsidiaries
On 28 April 2016 the Company acquired Property Software Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries as set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements. The transaction included Zoopla Property Group Plc assuming and discharging external debt of £24.9 million through
an intercompany loan with Property Software Holdings Limited. During the period to 30 September 2016 Property Software Holdings Limited
repaid £2.0 million of this balance to the Company.

During the year to 30 September 2016 Ulysses Enterprises Limited made a drawdown of £8.0 million and repaid £28.8 million in respect 
of the intercompany loan with the Company.

During the year ZPG Limited paid dividends of £33.0 million (2015: £35 million) to the Company.

During the year Ulysses Enterprises Limited paid dividends of £14.0 million (2015: £Nil) to the Company. 

The Company issues shares to employees and estate agent partners of its subsidiaries as part of the Group’s share-based payment and warrant 
schemes as set out in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements. 

There have been no other transactions with the Company’s subsidiaries during the year.

Year end balances with subsidiaries
At 30 September 2016 £48.5 million of the intercompany loan due from Ulysses Enterprises Limited was outstanding. Interest at Libor + 2% 
per annum is due on the outstanding balance. 

At 30 September 2016 £22.9 million of the intercompany loan due from Property Software Holdings Limited was outstanding. Interest at 
Libor + 2% per annum is due on the outstanding balance.

At 30 September 2016 a trading balance of £2.0 million is due from Ulysses Enterprises Limited. No interest is receivable on the balance.

At 30 September 2016 a trading balance of £21.5 million is due to ZPG Limited. This amount will be settled on receipt of any dividend 
from ZPG Limited. No interest is payable on the balance.

There were no other related party transactions in the period.

c) Other related parties
There were no transactions between the Company and any other related parties.

14. Subsequent events
On 28 November 2016 the Group entered into an agreement to purchase 100% of the issued share capital of Technicweb Limited for initial
consideration of £1.5 million, deferred consideration of £250,000 due 12 months from the date of completion and earn-out consideration
based on performance over a 30 month period post completion. The acquisition is expected to complete on 30 November 2016.

There have been no other reportable subsequent events between 30 September 2016 and the date of signing of this report.

15. Ultimate controlling party
The Directors are of the opinion that there was no ultimate controlling party in either period presented.

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED



 
Design Portfolio is committed to planting 
trees for every corporate communications 
project, in association with Trees for Cities.

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report includes statements related to our future business, financial 
performance and future events or developments that may constitute 
forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements can 
be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, including the 
terms “believes”, “estimates”, “anticipates”, “plans”, “projects”, “expects”, 
“intends”, “may”, “will” or “should” or, in each case, their negative, or 
other variations or comparable terminology. These forward-looking 
statements include matters that are not historical facts. They appear 
throughout this report and include statements relating to our beliefs, 
intentions or current expectations concerning a number of matters 
including our results of liquidity, the effect of our financial performance 
on our share price, financial condition, prospects, growth and expansion, 
strategies and the industry in which we operate. All forward-looking 
statements are based upon information available to us on the date of 
this Annual Report. While we believe that the forward-looking statements 
are reasonable, we caution that it is very difficult to predict the impact 
of known or unknown factors or to anticipate all factors that could 
affect our actual results. 

As such, forward-looking statements involve known and unknown 
risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause actual results, 
performance or developments to differ materially from those expressed 
or implied by such forward-looking statements. These factors include, 
but are not limited to: 

• a change in the competition within the industry in which we operate; 

• a change, due to various factors which may include the macroeconomic 
conditions in which we operate, in the level of transactions in the 
UK residential property market; 

• a change in technological developments;

• the loss of any of our important commercial relationships; and

• any increase in litigation or disputes.

We caution that the foregoing list of factors may not contain all of the 
material factors that are important to you and you should not place undue 
reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of 
the date of this Annual Report. We undertake no obligation, and are 
not under any obligation, to update or keep current the information 
contained in this Annual Report, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise.

Contacts 
Chief Executive Officer
Alex Chesterman

Chief Financial Officer
Andy Botha

Company Secretary
Ned Staple

Head of Communications
Lawrence Hall

Head of Investor relations
Rachael Malcolm

Website
www.zpg.co.uk

Registered office
Zoopla Property Group Plc 
The Cooperage  
5 Copper Row  
London SE1 2LH 

Corporate advisers
Auditor
Deloitte LLP

Remuneration adviser
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Brokers
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited

Jefferies International Limited

Solicitor
Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP

Registrar
Equiniti Limited

Financial calendar 2017 
2016 full year results 30 November 2016 

Ex-dividend date for final dividend 15 December 2016

Record date for final dividend 16 December 2016

Annual General Meeting 2 February 2017

Payment date for final dividend 9 February 2017

Half year results May 2017

Payment date for interim dividend June 2017

Shareholder enquiries
The Company’s registrar is Equiniti. They will be pleased to deal with any questions regarding 
your shareholding or dividends. Please notify them of your change of address or other 
personal information. Their address details are:

Equiniti
Aspect House 
Spencer Road 
Lancing 
West Sussex BN99 6DA

Equiniti is a trading name of Equiniti Limited.

Equiniti helpline: 0371 384 2030 (calls cost 8 pence per minute plus network extras) 

(Overseas: +44 121 415 7047)

Lines open 8.30am to 5.30pm, Monday to Friday (excluding public holidays).

Shareholders are able to manage their shareholding online and facilities including electronic 
communications, account enquiries, amendment of address and dividend mandate instructions.



Zoopla Property Group Plc
The Cooperage 
5 Copper Row 
London SE1 2LH

www.zpg.co.uk

Zoopla Property Group Plc’s commitment to environmental issues is reflected 
in this Annual Report which has been printed on Core silk which is an FSC® 
certified paper. This document was printed by Park Communications using 
their environmental print technology, which minimises the impact of printing 
on the environment. Vegetable based inks have been used and 99% of all 
dry waste associated with this production is diverted from landfill. 
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